
Overton Public School 24-0004 

P.O. Box 310 401 7th Street 

Overton, NE 68863-0310 

OVERTON EAGLES 

Mark A. Aten, Superintendent 

Brian Fleischman, Principal 

Jody Skallberg, Counselor 

Brian Fleischman, Activities Director 

Phone: (308) 987-2424 • Fax: (308) 987-2349 • www.overtoneagles.org 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 

OF OVERTON, NEBRASKA 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, that a meeting of the Overton Public 

School Board of Education, of Overton, Nebraska will be held at 

7:30 p.m. on Monday, June 9, 2025 at the Overton Public School 

LMC, which meeting is open to the public. An agenda for such 

meeting kept continuously current, is available for public 

inspection at the office of the Superintendent, in the Overton 

Public School Building, 401 7th Street, Overton, Nebraska. 

Jared Walahoski 

Secretary of the Board 

Board of Education 
Clayton Jeffries Logan Kizer Gordon Lassen Joel Meier Jacob Olmstead Jared Walahoski 



Overton Public School District 24-0004 
Overton Board of Education 
Board Meeting: June 9, 2025 
401 7th Street, Overton, NE 68863 
School LMC 

Mission Statement: The mission of Overton Public School is to provide opportunities for everyone to be Engaged, 
Enlightened, and Empowered. 

Thank you for attending the regular meeting of the board. (School Board meetings in Nebraska 
are meetings held in public, not public meetings). The public comment agenda item is the only 
opportunity for the public to address the board. 

BOARD OF EDUCATION AGENDA: 

7:30  A. Call meeting to order

7:35 B. Compliance Statement

7:40 C. With consent of the Board, receive reports from School Personnel, Patrons, or
Community Groups.

7:45 D. Read and consider communications

7:50 E. Approve agenda

7:55 F. Approve minutes

8:00 G. Act on bills for payment

H. Matters pending before the Board

8:05 

8:10 

8:15 

8:20 

1. Discuss, Consider and Take all Necessary Action to approve the 2026 graduation 
ceremony plan, date, and time.

2. Discuss, Consider and Take all Necessary Action to authorize the superintendent to 
sign the revised plat.

3. Discuss, Consider and Take all Necessary Action approve the bid with Hiland Dairy 
Foods.

4. Discuss, Consider and Take all Necessary Action to approve the annual fee to the 
Nebraska Association of School Boards (NASB).

I. Board Reports and Discussion

8:25 Board Reports 

a. Meetings Attended:
b. Upcoming Meetings:
c. Transportation Committee Report:
d. Interlocal Committee Report:
e. Facilities Committee Report:
f. Curriculum Committee Report:
g. Negotiations:

Discussion 

J. Administrative Reports

8:40 1. Principal’s Report

9:00 2. Superintendent’s Report



Next regularly scheduled meeting is July 14, 2025 



COMMENTS: 
E. 

1. The board will need to approve the 2026 graduation ceremony which is on Saturday, May 9, 2026. 
2. The board will consider authorizing the superintendent to sign the revised Plat when it becomes available from the 

County Surveyor. The revised Plat will contain the transfers of property and creation of the new street. 
3. The Food Director and superintendent recommend the board approve the bid with Hiland Dairy foods for the 2025-

2026 school year.  
4. The state requires that both the NASB and the NRCSA association fees are approved a board agenda item. 

 
DISCUSSION: 
F.  
1.  Board Reports and Discussion: 
a.     Meetings Attended:      
        Upcoming Meetings:   
        Transportation:  
        Interlocal:  
        Facilities:  
        Curriculum:  
        Negotiations:   2026-2027 Process will Begin in September 
 
2.         Discussion Topics:      a.  Summer Projects Update 
                 b. July Board Meeting is scheduled for July 14, 2025 
     c. Student Fee/Parent Involvement Hearings in July  

d. Review and Discuss KSB Updated Board Policies 
1. 1002 – Creation, Amendment and Distribution of 

Polices 
2. 2006 – Complaint Procedure 
3. 3003 – Bidding for Construction, Remodeling, 

Repair, or Site Improvement 
4. 3004.1- Fiscal Management for Purchasing and 

Procurement using Federal Funds 
5. 3023 -  Record Management and Retention 
6. 3026 - Handbooks 
7. 3036 – Purchasing (Credit) Card Program 
8. 3043 – Design-Build Contracts 
9. 3047 – Data Breach Response 
10. 3057 – Title IX 
11. 4051 – Staff and District Social Media Use 
12. 4057 – Superintendent Evaluation 
13. 4059 – Behavioral and Mental Health Training 
14. 5001 – Compulsory Attendance and Excessive  

Absenteeism – Traditional Approach 
15. 5015 – Protection of Pupil Rights and Policy  
16. 5018 – Parent Involvement in Education Practices 
17. 5016 – Student Records 
18. 5031 – Student Appearance 
19. 5034 – Left Blank 
20. 6025 – Student Cell Phone and Other Electronic Devices 
21. 6031 – Emergency Exclusion 
22. 6034 – Concussion Awareness 
23. 6044 – Participation and Assignment of Athletic Teams 
24. 6045 – Behavioral Intervention  

 
G.    Administrative Reports: 
 
Principal’s Report 
 

1. Enrollment Update 
2. Handbook Updates Will be Available at the July Board Meeting 

 
 
 



Superintendent’s Report 
 
Option Enrollment-  
 Out –     a.  
              b.  
 In -         a.   
               b.   
Change of status –        a.  
 
Board Meeting for July – Date and Time -- July 14, 2025 
Budget Review 
Financial Review 
Projects 
Food Program Review 
Other 
 



Overton Public Schools 
Overton Board of Education  

 
Minutes of the Regular Board of Education Meeting 
Overton Public School District 24-0004 
 
Board President or Presiding Officer: Meeting to Order and Roll Call. 
The June 9, 2025 regular monthly meeting of the Overton Public School Board of Education is 
called to order at 7:30 p.m. in the school LMC and is now in session. Roll call. 
 
    Present  Absent 

Jeffries   ____  ____    
Kizer   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Olmstead  ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____    

 
Excuse the absence of board member __________________________ 
 
    Yes  No 

Jeffries   ____  ____    
Kizer   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Olmstead  ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____         

         Vote _____________ 
 
Compliance Statement: To be in compliance with LB 898, the Nebraska Open Meetings Law, I 
would like to inform the public that a copy of the Open Meetings Law is posted near the LMC 
check-out counter. This meeting has been published in the June 5, 2025 edition of the The 
Beacon Observer, and also posted on the south doors of the school, Post Office, school’s web site 
and the Security First Bank. There are board packets provided for the public on the iPads found 
on the LMC counter. 
 
Public Comment: At this time, visitors may address the board. The board welcomes patrons, and 
we appreciate your attendance at this board meeting. Members of the public are encouraged to 
share their thoughts and ideas with the board during the agenda item labeled “Public Comment”. 
This is the only time during this meeting when the public may speak. Comments or questions 
from the audience at any other time during the meeting will be declared out of order. Any person 
wishing to speak must abide by and adhere to board policies. Everyone wishing to speak must 
complete a speaker card (cards are located at the table near the entrance of the room). The board 
will receive public comments in order as printed on the speaker cards received. Everyone who 
comes forward must state your name, address, the name of any organization being represented, 
and the topic you are interested in before you begin. The total time allotted for public comments 
will not exceed thirty minutes and each member of the public will be allotted not more than five 
minutes to address the Board. If a group wishes to speak on the same topic, please designate one 
spokesperson for the group. The board will not respond to comments or questions. The board will 
not take action on the comments presented by the speakers but will direct the comments to 
appropriate staff members. If any person is considered unruly, abusive, or otherwise disruptive, 



the Board President may prohibit the person from speaking further or have the person removed 
from the meeting. The board will now receive public comments printed on the speaker cards 
received. 
 
Guests Present: See Attached Document A. 
 
The following presented reports to the Board: 
 
1.  ______________________     - Topic - _______________________ 
 
2.  ______________________   - Topic - _______________________ 
3.  _______________________________   - Topic - _______________________ 
 
 
The following communications were read or presented to the Board: 
 
1.  _______________________________   - Topic - _______________________ 
 
2.  _______________________________   - Topic - _______________________ 
 
3.  _______________________________   - Topic - _______________________ 
 
 
 
A Motion made by __________________ and seconded by _____________________ 
 
to approve the agenda of the June 9, 2025 meeting. 
Discussion:  
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Jeffries   ____  ____    
Kizer   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Olmstead  ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____    
 
       Vote_____________ 

 
A Motion made by __________________ and seconded by _____________________ 
 
to approve the minutes of the May 12, 2025 regular board meeting as presented. 
Discussion:  
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Jeffries   ____  ____    
Kizer   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Olmstead  ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____    



  
       Vote_____________ 

 
 
A motion by ___________________ and seconded by __________________  
 
to approve the June bill roster in the amount of $139,265.11 and June payroll salary and 
benefits in the amount of $323,894.86. 
 
Discussion:  
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Jeffries   ____  ____    
Kizer   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Olmstead  ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____  
       Vote_____________ 
 
 



 
MINUTES OF THE OVERTON PUBLIC SCHOOL BOARD OF EDUCATION 

REGULAR MEETING 
May 12, 2025 

7:30 p.m.  
 

Mission Statement: The mission of Overton Public School is to provide opportunities for everyone to be Engaged, 
Enlightened, and Empowered. 
 
Board President called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. Members Present: 
 
Jeffries 
Kizer 
Lassen 
Meier 
Olmstead 
Walahoski 
 
Notification:  The May 12, 2025 meeting of the Overton Public School Board of Education was posted at 
the Overton Public School, on the Overton Public School website, Beacon Observer, Overton Post Office, 
and the Security First Bank. 
 
Open Meetings Information: To be in compliance with LB 898, The Nebraska Open Meetings Act, Board 
President informed the public that a copy of the Open Meetings Law is posted near the LMC check-out 
counter. 
 
Administration Present: Mark Aten, Superintendent and Brian Fleischman, Principal. 
 
Guests Present: Parker Walahoski, Toby Orvis, and Juliana Loudon. 
 
Public Comments: No Public Comments. 
 
Reports: Overton High School students Parker Walahoski and Toby Orvis reported on their success at 
State FFA competition and the projects and presentations that qualified the team for the National FFA 
competition in Indianapolis, Indiana. This is the first state FFA team championship in school history. The 
FFA sponsor Mrs. Juliana Loudon also commented on the success of the individuals and program. The 
board recognized both students and the program for their success. 
 
Communications: None 
 
Other:  None 
 
Action Items: 

 
1. Agenda: Moved by Lassen, seconded by Meier to approve the agenda of the May 12, 2025 regular 

monthly board meeting as presented. Discussion: Discussion was limited as there were no changes 
made to the agenda.  Motion carried 6-0. Voting Yes (6): Jeffries, Kizer, Lassen, Meier, Olmstead, 
and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent (0): None 

 
2. Minutes: Moved by Jeffries, seconded by Kizer to approve the minutes of the April 14, 2025 

regular board meeting as presented. Discussion: Discussion was limited as there were no 
corrections made to the minutes.  Motion carried 6-0. Voting Yes (6): Jeffries, Kizer, Lassen, 
Meier, Olmstead, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent (0). 
 

3. Claims: Moved by Lassen, seconded by Olmstead to pay the May General Fund bill roster in the 
amount $75,926.54 and the May payroll salary and benefits in the amount of $319,301.60.  



Discussion: Superintendent provide additional information on the bill roster.  Motion carried 6-0. 
Voting Yes (6): Jeffries, Kizer, Lassen, Meier, Olmstead, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent 
(0). 
 

4. Moved by Walahoski, seconded by Jeffries to approve C&S Truck and Salvage and Shively 
Repair to complete Rule 92 Mechanics Inspections. Discussion: Both businesses are completing 
and will continue to the vehicle inspections. Motion carried 6-0. Voting Yes (6): Jeffries, Kizer, 
Lassen, Meier, Olmstead, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent (0). 
 

5. Moved by Kizer, seconded by Walahoski to approve ESU 10 Network Services Agreement, Off-
Site Back up Storage Agreement for the 2025-2026 school year. Discussion. Administration 
recommended the board approve the contract. Motion carried 6-0. Voting Yes (6): Jeffries, Kizer, 
Lassen, Meier, Olmstead, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent (0). 

 
6. Moved by Jeffries, seconded by Kizer to adjourn the meeting at 9:03 p.m. Discussion. Very little 

discussion as the board determined it was time to adjourn. Motion carried 6-0. Voting Yes (6): 
Jeffries, Kizer, Lassen, Meier, Olmstead, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent (0). 

 
Board Reports and Discussion Topics: 
 

1. Board Reports:  
a. Transportation: No Report 
b. Curriculum: No Report 
c. Facilities: No Report 
d. Negotiations: No Report 
e. Interlocal Committee: Scheduled meeting Tuesday, April 15, 2025 
f. Committee on American Civics: No Report 

     
2. Discussion Topics: 

a. June Board Meeting Date and Time: Monday, June 9, 2025 beginning at 7:30 p.m. in the 
LMC 

b. Family Center Repair Update 
 
Administrative Reports: 
 

Principal’s Report: 
a. Calendar Events 
b. 2024-2025 School Hours Report 
c. Outside Groups Usage Report 

 
Superintendent’s Report: 

1. Enrollment Option Report 
 

2. Option Enrollment -   
Out:   a.    

           
In:     a.    

  b.    
  c.     
                                   

Change of Status:  a. None   
  

3. Financial Information & Update 
4. Summer Food Program Application Approval 
5. Financial Update 
6. ALICAP Insurance Review 



7. Staffing Update 



 Overton Public School District
 Bill Roster
Month: June
Status: Offical

6/9/2025 Total: 139,265.11$                                                                                                     

Vendor Total Amount New Code Description

Airgas 296.18$                                                               Reg. Instruct. Ind. Tech. Supplies

Amazon Business 67.80$                                                                 Counselor Supplies - Supplies

Amazon Business 1,512.58$                                                            Reg. Instruct. P.E. Supplies

Amazon Business 843.90$                                                               Reg. Instruct. - FCS Supplies

Amazon Business 22.30$                                                                 Administrative Office Supplies

Amazon Business 43.97$                                                                 Administrative Office Supplies

Amazon Business 80.21$                                                                 Reg. Instruct.- Custodial Supplies

Amazon Business 1,384.24$                                                            Reg. Instruct. - K-4 Supplies

Amazon Business 2,935.36$                                                            Reg. Instruct. - Prek Supplies

Amazon Business 247.01$                                                               Reg. Instruct. - Grade K Supplies

Amazon Business 247.90$                                                               Reg. Instruct. - Science Supplies

Amazon Business 953.75$                                                               Reg. Instruct. - Elementary  Supplies

Amazon Business 2,893.72$                                                            Reg. Instruct. - Voc. Bus. Supplies

Amazon Business 99.92$                                                                 Reg. Instruct. - Math Supplies

Amazon Business 704.01$                                                               Reg. Instruct. - SPED Supplies

Amazon Business 127.37$                                                               Reg. Instruct. - LA Supplies 

Amazon Business 173.63$                                                               Reg. Instruct. - Third Grade Supplies

Amazon Business 243.32$                                                               Reg. Instruct. - Instrumental Music Supplies

Amplify Education 1,650.00$                                                            Reg. Instruct. - Science Resources

Apple Inc 9,441.50$                                                            Reg. Instruct. Technology Supplies

ATC Communications 162.67$                                                               Fiscal Services - Phone Service

B&H Photo-Video 3,843.96$                                                            Reg. Instruct. - Vo. Business Supplies

Black Hills Energy 434.86$                                                               Operations of Buildings - Natural Gas 

BSN Sports 72.37$                                                                 Reg. Instruct. - K-4 Supplies

BSN Sports 33.32$                                                                 Reg. Instruct. - K-4 Supplies

CDW-G 2,011.66$                                                            Executive Administration Supplies - Computer

CDW-G 6,034.98$                                                            Reg. Instruct. Principal Office - Computers

CEI Security and Sound 2,967.25$                                                            Security Repairs & Maintenance - Camera Network

CenturyLink 62.91$                                                                 Operation of Buildings Communications - Long Distance Phone

Converse Flooring 39,507.30$                                                          Building Improvements Construction Services

Dan's Sanitation 318.25$                                                               Operation of Buildings Cleaning Services - Trash Removal

Demco 363.27$                                                               Regular Instruct. - LMC Supplies

Divas at Kearney Floral Co. 277.00$                                                               School Board Expenditures - Graduation Expenses

Ecolab 219.10$                                                               Operation of Buildings Pest Control

ESU 10 500.00$                                                               SPED Mental Health Services

ESU 10 500.00$                                                               SPED Mental Health Services

ESU 10 - SPED Services 349.44$                                                               SPED Speech Path. & Audiology Ages Birth-2

ESU 10 - SPED Services 5,120.66$                                                            SPED Speech Path. & Audiology - Elementary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 3,050.38$                                                            SPED Speech Path. & Audiology - Age 3-4

ESU 10 - SPED Services 426.83$                                                               SPED P.T. Services - Elementary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 197.55$                                                               SPED Supervision - Birth - 2

ESU 10 - SPED Services 197.56$                                                               SPED Supervision - Ages 3-4

ESU 10 - SPED Services 426.83$                                                               SPED P.T. Services - Secondary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 877.53$                                                               SPED O.T. Services - Elementary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 877.53$                                                               SPED O.T. Services - Secondary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 750.07$                                                               SPED Supervision - Elementary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 219.39$                                                               SPED O.T. Services - Ages 3-4

ESU 10 - SPED Services 219.39$                                                               SPED O.T. Services - Birth - 2

ESU 10 - SPED Services 106.71$                                                               SPED P.T. Services - Ages 3-4

ESU 10 - SPED Services 106.71$                                                               SPED P.T. Services - Birth - 2

ESU 10 - SPED Services 750.07$                                                               SPED Supervision - Secondary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 87.78$                                                                 SPED Supervision - Vocational Secondary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 1,851.33$                                                            SPED Psychological Services - Secondary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 1,851.33$                                                            SPED Psychological Services - Elementary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 462.84$                                                               SPED Psychological Services - Ages 3-4

ESU 10 - SPED Services 462.84$                                                               SPED Psychological Services - Birth - 2

ESU 10 - SPED Services 722.51$                                                               SPED Speech Path. & Audiology - Secondary

Flinn Scientific 1,240.28$                                                            Reg. Instruct. Science Supplies - Supplies

Flinn Scientific 19.50$                                                                 Reg. Instruct. Science Supplies - Supplies

Foster Lumber, LLC 168.84$                                                               Reg. Instruction - Custodial Supplies

GML Construction 2,500.00$                                                            Operation of Buildings - Insurance Deductible on Storm Damage

Gopher Performance 1,773.84$                                                            Reg. Instruct. P.E. Supplies

GraceNotes 45.00$                                                                 Reg. Instruct. - Vocal Music Supplies

Great Plains Communication 101.95$                                                               Internet Connection - Family Center

HD Supply (Home Depot Pro) 869.73$                                                               Reg. Instruct. -Industrial Technology Supplies

HireRight Solutions 77.10$                                                                 Vehicle Servicing and Maintenance - DOT Drug Testing

IXL 412.50$                                                               Reg. Instruct. - ELA Licenses

IXL Learning 3,750.00$                                                            Reg. Instruct. Math and ELA Licenses

IXL Learning 1,706.25$                                                            Reg. Instruct. Math and ELA Licenses

John Baylor Enterprises (OnToCollege) 1,980.00$                                                            Reg. Instruct. Supplies - John Baylor Test Prep

KSB School Law 1,500.00$                                                            District Legal Services - Legal Servcies

LessonPix, Inc 36.00$                                                                 SPED Supplies

Matheson 65.10$                                                                 Reg. Instruct. Ind. Tech. Supplies

Midwest Floor Specialists 1,650.00$                                                            Maintenance - Refinish South Gym Floor

NAEA 275.00$                                                               Reg. Instruction - Agriculture Professional Fees

NCSA 260.00$                                                               Principal Association Dues



1 
 

 
Matters Pending Before the Board: 

 
Motion____________________  Second ____________________ 

 
1. Action Item: Discuss, Consider, and Take All Necessary Action to approve the 2026 graduation 

ceremony plan, date, and time. 
 
Motion: To approve the 2026 graduation ceremony plan, date, and time. 
Discussion: 
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Jeffries   ____  ____    
Kizer   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Olmstead  ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____    
  
       Vote____________ 
 
Motion____________________  Second ____________________ 
 

 
2. Action Item: Discuss, Consider, and Take All Necessary Action to authorize the superintendent to sign 
the revised plat. 
 
Motion: To authorize the superintendent to sign the revised plat. 
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Jeffries   ____  ____    
Kizer   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Olmstead  ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____    
  
       Vote____________ 

 
Motion____________________  Second ____________________ 

 
3. Action Item: Discuss, Consider, and Take All Necessary Action to approve the bid with Hiland Dairy 
Foods for the 2025-2026 school year. 
 
Motion: To approve the bid with Hiland Dairy Foods for the 2025-2026 school year. 
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Jeffries   ____  ____    
Kizer   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Olmstead  ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____    
  
       Vote____________ 
 



2 
 

Motion____________________  Second ____________________ 
 
4. Action Item: Discuss, Consider, and Take All Necessary Action to approve the Nebraska Association of 
School Boards (NASB) annual fees. 
 
Motion: To approve the Nebraska Association of School Board (NASB) annual fees. 
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Jeffries   ____  ____    
Kizer   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Olmstead  ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____    
  
       Vote____________ 
 
Motion____________________  Second ____________________ 

 
5. Action Item: Consider adjourning the meeting. 
 
Motion: To approve adjourning the meeting at _____: _____ p.m. 
Discussion: 
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Jeffries   ____  ____    
Kizer   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Olmstead  ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____   
       Vote____________ 

 



May 7, 2025 

Overton Public Schools 

401 7th St 

Overton, NE 68863 

2901 Cuming Street 

Omaha, NE 68131 

(402) 344-4321 phone

(402) 346-0277 fax

www.HilandDairy.com

Per your request, we are pleased to submit the following bid on dairy products for the 2025-2026 school year. 

Unit Product Esc[De-Esc Pricing 

½ pint 1% White Carton $0.4560 

½ pint Skim Chocolate Carton $0.4640 

½ pint Skim Strawberry Carton $0.4640 

Gallon 2% White Milk $5.8900 

5Lbs. Lowfat Cottage Cheese $10.750 

5Lbs. Sour Cream $9.7500 

4 oz. Orange Juice $0.3263 

4 oz. Apple Juice $0.2900 

5Ibs. Yogurt $7.9582 

This bid is for Escalating/De-escalating. Please see attached clause for monthly cost adjustment factors for Esc/De-Esc 

pricing. You can view nutritional information for all Hiland school products at 

https:/ /www.hilanddairy.com/products/school-milk. 

The bid is (choose one) □awarded to Hiland Dairy or □ declined and awarded to __________ _ 

Name and Title--------------------------------

Contact Phone ____________ Email ________________ _ 

Date ________________ First Delivery Date ____________ _ 

Please complete and scan this bid along with all competing bidder's information to: dbiere@hilanddairy.com. 

David Biere, Branch Manager 

Western Nebraska 

Phone: (308)520-4182 

dbiere@hilanddairy.com 



Milk Escalator/ De-Escalator Pricing Clause (DFA Supplied) 

The pricing quoted is based on May's 2025 Federal Milk Marketing Order for Class I Skim 
and Class I Butterfat. This pricing is subject to change as the cost of raw milk changes each month 
according to the USDA Federal Milk Market Price Announcements and Dai1y Farmers of America. 

The cost of milk fluctuates up and down each month based on the cost changes in raw milk. Changes 
of a minimum of $.10 per CWT(up or down) will move the cost of a half pint$ .00054. 

Prices will also be adjusted up or down based on cost changes in packaging, ingredients, labor, fuel, 
juice concentrate, re-sale products (ex. Tropicana, Sport Shake), etc. Supporting documentation will 
be supplied upon request. 

All price changes will become effective on the 1st day of the month following the price announcement. 



GOOD MANUFACTURING PRACTICES 

Hiland Dairy Foods Company makes eve,y effort to ensure good quality and the safety or our products to 

our customers ,md consumers. 

vVe have, therefore, insliLuted Code or Good Manufacturing Pracliees (GMP) Compliance for all 

employees. Below is an outline or that program. 

I. Definitions: Explains whom and what is covered under the compliance code.

II. Disease Control: Defines tr.msmillable diseases per Pasteurized Milk Ordinance (PMO). (PMO

Seclion 13).

III. Employee Grooming/Personal Hygiene Practices: All employees must maintain a high degree or

personal cleanliness Lo prevent product contamination.

IV. Handling Sanit..1.lion: Good saniLalion praclices must be maintained Lo assure product integrity.

V. lng,cdienL, Process and Product Integrity: Finished products and raw ingredients must be handled

and maintained in a manner lo prevent exposure Lo extraneous maLLcr.

VI. Maintenance Related: Building areas and equipment must be maintained in a sanitary condition.

VII. Receiving & Shipping: ProducLc; must be handled with care Lo prevent damage and exposure lo

adverse conditions.

VIII. Coding: Product codes must be checked to ensure correct code and monitored Lo ensure proper

rotalion.

IX. Qua.lily Control: Quality control Lech.nici,ms monitor and audi! the plant opcralions.

X. Record Keeping: Proper records of" product and ing,cdients coming into, while in, and leaving our

possession, must be monitored and main!.aine<l per the lime periods defined by regulatory.

an1c: Catie F:wlor Title: Quality Assurance Manager Date: 1/01/2025 



Hiland Dairy Foods Company, LLC 

2901 Cuming St. 

Omaha, NE 68131 

Juice and Milk Products Food Safety Program 

Hiland Dairy Foods is making every effort to ensure the safety of our products to our customers and 

consumers. 

We have, therefore, instituted a comprehensive program, our Juice HACCP program and Milk 

Preventive Control program, in combination with supporting prerequisite programs, to form our Food 

Safety Systems Pyramid. 

I. Hazard Analysis of Critical Control Points (HACCP) is a food safety system designed to ensure the

manufacture of safe food products, and to prove the product was made safely. HA (Hazard

Analysis) is the where and how part of the HACCP program and CCP is the proof that the control

of the process and conditions set are being followed.

II. We have a Food Safety team comprised of employees, from varied disciplines in the plant, and

management. The team describes the food (each product type manufactured) and its

distribution, identifies the intended use and consumer of the product, and provides on-site

verification of flow diagrams for each product type manufactured. (Ex: white milk, chocolate

milk, sour cream, etc).

Ill. During the developmental stages of the HAACP and Preventive Control program, the team 

conducted a hazard analysis (determining whether a biological, chemical, or physical threat was 

posed), identified the critical control point {CCP) in the product flow (pasteurization, time and 

temperature), showed what prerequisite programs were in place, if it was not a CCP, and 

established critical limits for each stage. In addition, monitoring procedures (ex: temperature 

recording devices, charts, etc.), corrective action and verification & validation procedures were 

established. Any changes made in a product types' flow diagram are reviewed in a timely 

manner and all systems validated annually. 

A more detailed review of our program can be made, on site, with adequate notification and 

authorization from all acceptable parties. 

Name: _Catie Faylor__ Title: _QA Manager __ Date: __ 1/01/2025 ___ _ 



REVISION OF POLICY 1002: CREATION, AMENDMENT AND 
DISTRIBUTION OF POLICIES 

As the list of required policies, reviews, reapprovals, and hearings grows, we 
eliminated the list from this policy so it did not need to change so often. 
Instead, we will continue to update and provide subscribers with the Annual 
Notices, Hearings, Reviews, and Trainings document that is released with the 
policy updates each year. There is no requirement to list these obligations 
inside of a policy. 

This change is required, unless you want to continue maintaining the 
list of requirements in this policy. 

REVISION OF POLICY 2006: COMPLAINT PROCEDURE 

We made just a couple of tweaks to this policy to remove references to the 
Biden Administration Title IX rules, which are no longer in effect. 

This change is required. 

REVISION OF POLICY 3003: BIDDING FOR CONSTRUCTION, 
REMODELING, REPAIR, or SITE IMPROVEMENT 

School districts are generally prohibited from engaging "in the construction 
of any public works involving architecture or engineering unless the plans, 
specifications, and estimates have been prepared and the construction has 
been observed by" a licensed Nebraska architect or professional engineer. 
However, the law provides an exception to this requirement when the 
"contemplated expenditures for the complete project" are below a certain 
dollar amount. In July 2024, the Nebraska Board of Engineers and 

2 



Architects increased this exemption from $119,000 to $144,000. Our 
recommended changes to Policy 3003 reflect this higher dollar amount for 
the projects that are exempt from the mandate to engage a licensed 
Nebraska architect or professional engineer. 

This change is required. 

REVISION OF POLICY 3004.1: FISCAL MANAGEMENT FOR 
PURCHASING AND PROCUREMENT USING FEDERAL FUNDS 

During our regular review of policies, we noticed a citation was partially 
removed from Section G Allowability of Costs. This citation has been 
corrected. 

This change is required. 

REVISION OF POLICY 3023: RECORD MANAGEMENT AND RETENTION 

During some federal fund audits, the auditors recommended adding a 
provision to this policy to address the retention of federal award records. 
We have added such a provision to the policy. 

This change is required. 

REVISION OF POLICY 3026: HANDBOOKS 

We have updated this policy to reflect how changes to the handbooks 
operate. We've included the one sentence that was in policy 5034, and 5034 
has now been eliminated. We made a few other tweaks that hopefully will 
clarify the handbook updating process, especially as new legal 
interpretations and guidance seem to be coming out daily. 

Administration is permitted to make changes without board approval unless 
it is required by law or conflicts with a policy. Administration is also 
permitted to make changes (whether or not requiring board approval) and 
provide notice to affected individuals by just sharing the amendment and not 
resharing the full handbook, unless required by law. For example, if you add 
a new student conduct rule to the handbooks and intend for that to be used 
for discipline, under the Student Discipline Act the "board" would have to 

3 



approve that rule, and both students and parents must be provided notice 
prior to it being implemented. However, you wouldn't have to reprint or 
reshare the entire handbook. You could just provide the amended section or 
provision. 

This change is required. 

REVISION OF POLICY 3036: PURCHASING (CREDIT) CARD PROGRAM 

This policy change eliminates an inappropriate reference to a nonexistent 
reimbursement. 

This change is required. 

REVISION OF POLICY 3043: DESIGN-BUILD CONTRACTS 

One of the legal requirements for school districts using the design-build 
project delivery system for school construction projects is for the school 
district to hire a performance-criteria developer (PCD), a licensed Nebraska 
architect or professional engineer. For projects with a cost of $896,000 or 
below, the timeframe and procedures for selecting and hiring the PCD can be 
shortened and simplified. The proposed revisions to this policy reflect that 
alternative. While updating this policy, we have also included changes in the 
organization of the policy and reformatting. 

This change is required. 

REVISION OF POLICY 3047: DATA BREACH RESPONSE 

We have amended this policy in light of the PowerSchool data breach this 
past year. The amendment provides that the district's data directory will 
include a list of approved vendors and contractors to ensure that information 
exists in a consolidated format. Additionally, as part of the incident response 
plan, this policy change encourages contacting an insurance provider as part 
of a school district's response. 

Note that the first section of this policy requires you ( or your tech 
coordinator) to keep an updated list of computing devices, software, vendors 
with access to personally identifiable information and staff members' 

4 



usernames and passwords for any district software. The PowerSchool data 
breach is also a good reminder to be sure that this information is updated 
and that you know where to find it in the event of a breach. 

This change is highly recommended. 

REVISION OF POLICY 3057: TITLE IX 

Death, taxes, and Title IX policy updates. These are the constants in life. 

As many of you are aware, the Biden administration issued regulations in 
2024 that necessitated updates to this policy. The updates also allowed for 
more streamlined investigations but expanded definitions of sex 
discrimination. However, a federal court vacated the 2024 updates in their 
entirety. The new White House has stated its belief that the regulations from 
2020 are still in effect. 

As a result of these changes, KSB is once again recommending a policy 
change. 

Option 1 is a significantly pared-down version of the 2020 policy, which 
maintains the required substance in a simplified version. We have also 
improved this policy based on our five years of experience addressing Title 
IX complaints under the framework instituted by the previous Trump 
administration. We believe this policy would satisfy any requirements 
required by a Trump-led Office of Civil Rights. 

Option 2 is a more aggressive option. This version is based on a close 
reading of the court decision that struck down the 2024 regulations, part of 
which rested on a rationale that vacating the 2024 rule would "'cause a 
return to the status quo' that existed for more than SO years prior to its 
effective date." KSB believes the basis for this recent decision suggests that 
the 2020 regulations contain similar flaws. Thus, this policy focuses on the 
clear mandate laid out in federal statute and court decisions that require 
public school districts to respond to allegations of sexual harassment in their 
education programs and activities promptly and in a way that is not 
deliberately indifferent. This option is no less rigorous in requiring schools to 
be responsive, but it is less detailed and proscriptive in the granular 
procedures dictating how schools respond. This option allows for maximum 
flexibility in investigations, in exchange for undertaking some risk that the 

5 



procedures that the school district employees may not strictly comply with a 
hyper-technical reading of the 2020 regulations. 

We will have additional Title IX guidance and forms available on the portal 
based on the option your board elects to assist your Title IX team comply 
with your board's choice. 

One of these policies is required. Please note that your handbooks 
must include the version of this policy that your board selects (and 
our handbook redlines will have a prompt for adding the policy 
option your board chose as you update them). 

REVISION OF POLICY 4051: 
STAFF AND DISTRICT SOCIAL MEDIA USE 

The last time we reviewed this policy, X was called Twitter. In light of the 
changes in the social media landscape and recent court cases addressing 
official government accounts, it's time for some updates. 

We have proposed a host of relatively small and simple tweaks, but they are 
important. For example, we have added more detail, differentiating between 
personal and school-owned accounts. We've clarified staff use of social 
media for instructional purposes. We address "tagging," where the school 
accounts are tagged or mentioned in outside posts to increase traffic to the 
post. 

We have also updated the relevant rules for deleting comments, blocking 
posts and users, and banning outside users on school-owned accounts. It's 
important to note that this policy has always prohibited school-owned 
accounts from having comments "on" unless approved by the 
superintendent. When you enable comments, you take the bitter with the 
sweet. If you have not been following that part of the policy, now is a good 
time to review your practices and expectations for staff administering these 
accounts. If your practices differ from the policy, you should either change 
those or work with us to change the policy. There has been a lot of recent 
court action on the First Amendment rights of users interacting with 
individual school official accounts, like board members, and school-owned 
accounts operated by school employees. 

These changes are required. 

6 



REVISION OF POLICY 4057: SUPERINTENDENT EVALUATION 

We have amended this policy to eliminate the provision that required the 
superintendent evaluation to occur at a board meeting. You may still 
evaluate the superintendent at a board meeting if you wish, but now you 
may also conduct the evaluation with the board president and 
superintendent, with a committee of the board and superintendent, or any 
other way you deem appropriate. 

Note that if your board decides to conduct the evaluation outside of a board 
meeting, you should review your superintendent contract, as well. 

This change is highly recommended. 

REVISION OF POLICY 4059: 
BEHAVIORAL AND MENTAL HEALTH TRAINING 

We have revised this policy to remove the requirement that the training be 

at least one hour. Now, the length of the training is "a reasonable amount 
as determined by the school board." We have also added the statutory list of 
topics that may be covered in the training. 

This change is required. 

REVISION OF POLICY 5001: COMPULSORY ATTENDANCE AND 
EXCESSIVE ABSENTEEISM - TRADITIONAL APPROACH 

This policy has been revised to provide clearer procedures for the 
Attendance Officer to follow in responding to excessive absenteeism. The 
policy previously referred to external procedures that were inconsistently 
developed and adopted. 

This change is required. 

7 



REVISION OF POLICY 5015: PROTECTION OF PUPIL RIGHTS AND 
POLICY 5018: PARENT INVOLVEMENT IN EDUCATION PRACTICES 

During the 2024 session, the Unicameral amended sections 79-530 through 
79-533 through LB 71 to give parents, guardians, and educational
decisionmakers greater access to information about and involvement in
educational practices. Those changes are reflected in this policy.
Additionally, the current Unicameral again amended section 79-532 through
LB 428 to add various requirements related to surveys administered by the
school. These changes include allowing parents to obtain copies of the
surveys through various methods as well as the ability to exempt their
children from participating in the surveys.

This policy must be adopted by July 1, 2025. The policy must be developed 
with parental input from parents, guardians, and educational 
decisionmakers. It must be the subject of a public hearing before the school 
board before adoption by the board. As previously required, the policy must 
be reviewed annually and either altered and adopted as altered or reaffirmed 
by the board following a public hearing. Any public hearing must include a 

reasonable opportunity for public comments. 

The school district must make the policy accessible on the school district's 
website by August 1, 2025. The policy must be accessible by a "prominently 
displayed" link on the website. If the policy is altered, the new version of 
the policy shall be made accessible within a reasonable time thereafter. 

Finally, the school district must continue to comply with the PPRA survey 
requirements. This means schools must comply with Policy 5015 (federal 
law requirements) and Policy 5018 (state law requirements) when 
administering surveys. 

This change is required. 

REVISION OF POLICY 5016: STUDENT RECORDS 

The introductory paragraph of this policy clarifies that "student records" 
generally do not include transitory communications such as emails, text 
messages, handwritten notes between school and home, and similar items. 
These types of communications are not typically maintained by the district. 

8 



Following that introduction, the policy presents three different options for the 
board to consider regarding what types of records the district will officially 
"maintain." Recently, we have seen a noticeable increase in requests from 
parents asking for complete copies of their children's student records. At the 
same time, the rise in digital communication has complicated decisions 
about whether emails and text messages should be included in those 
records. 

To address this, we have added a consistent reminder in each of the three 
options regarding what it means for the district to "maintain" a record. This 
serves as a clarification for both parents and school officials that, regardless 
of which option the board selects, the general rule excluding most emails 
and texts from the definition of "student records" still applies. 

This change is highly recommended. 

REVISION OF POLICY 5031: STUDENT APPEARANCE 

Section 79-2,158 requires each school district to adopt a written dress code 
and grooming policy to be implemented at the start of the 2025-26 school 
year that is consistent with the model policy developed by the State 
Department of Education. We've revised our policy to be consistent with the 
Department's model policy (don't shoot the messengers), though hopefully a 
bit more concise. 

This change is required. 

ELIMINATION OF POLICY 5034: HANDBOOKS 
NOW "INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK" 

The policy has been combined into policy 3026 and is now eliminated. 

This change is required. 

9 



REVIEW OF POLICY 6025: STUDENT CELL PHONE AND OTHER 

ELECTRONIC DEVICES 

LB 140 requires schools to have policies prohibiting the use of cell phones 
and other electronic devices while at school or attending a "school 
instructional function." Of course, that term is not defined. We assume they 
are talking about field trips and other off-site curricular activities, not 
extracurricular activities. 

However, the bill also allows boards and administrators to permit use of cell 
phones when "determined appropriate." So you "shall" have a ban but may 
deem any use appropriate. Consequently, we have not proposed any 
changes to policy 6025, because all of those options remain lawful. 

As a result, we believe some schools will keep their current policy in place 
heading into 25-26. Here's the issue. LB 140 says, "The development of the 
policy shall include stakeholder participation to ensure that such policies are 
responsive to the unique needs and desires of students, parents, and 
educators in each community." It's unclear what that means if you already 

have a policy in place that was approved at a public meeting. The law does 
not require the formation of a committee or that you prospectively seek 
input now. It ties that input to the "development" of a policy, not any future 
amendment. 

Here's our opinion on your options. If you solicited stakeholder feedback 
when developing your policy initially, or if staff, students, and parents 
provided input voluntarily at that time, we believe it would be lawful to 
simply move forward without seeking additional feedback or even 
reapproving the policy you have in place. For example, we know some 
schools conducted a stakeholder survey or invited stakeholders to board 
meetings if they had input when creating the policy. We believe that is 
sufficient to meet the requirements of LB 140. 

If you did not receive stakeholder feedback initially, you have two choices. 
First, you could intentionally reach out for feedback in some way now, such 
as via survey, ad hoc working group, or to specific individuals whose input 
you think would be helpful. After obtaining that feedback, you could then 
reapprove the policy as it exists or with any amendments you see fit. We're 
happy to help with those. Second, you could take the slightly more 
aggressive approach that, because the policy was approved at a duly noticed 

10 



public board meeting with the policy on the agenda, stakeholders had an 
opportunity for feedback at that time. In our view, this is as much a political 
question as a legal one. 

The bill also has 5 listed exceptions that schools must make to any 
restrictions on cell phone and device use. They are not required to be in the 
policy. Some of the exceptions we already include in our 4 policy options, 
such as use by a student when deemed necessary because of a disability 
accommodation, like a student with diabetes who uses a phone to monitor 
their levels. 

One particular exception that could prove tricky permits students to use cell 
phones regardless of the strength of the school's ban in cases of 
"emergencies and perceived threats of danger." Of course, those terms are 
not defined, nor is it clear who decides what constitutes an emergency or 
threat. We have elected not to bring attention to this exception for fear that 
every student and parent will argue that the exception applies to them. You 
may see other policies throughout the state that list all of these exceptions, 
so we wanted to let you know it does exist and explain our rationale for not 
suggesting changes to our current policy options. 

No changes required, but you must consider whether you met the 
requirement to obtain stakeholder input when your policy was 
developed. 

REVISION OF POLICY 6031: EMERGENCY EXCLUSION 

The policy had a discrepancy in the hearing request section. We aligned 
those timelines, which are already shortened to comply with the expedited 
hearing obligations under the emergency exclusion statute. 

This change is required. 

REVISION OF POLICY 6034: CONCUSSION AWARENESS 

The policy requires updating to remove specific references to guidances and 
training that have since been updated. Review the approved trainings from 
DHHS and the NDE Brain Injury Support page for all updated materials. 

This change is required. 

11 



NEW POLICY 6044: PARTICIPATION AND ASSIGNMENT OF ATHLETIC 

TEAMS 

LB 89 establishes the Stand with Women Act. Originally, the bill would have 
required schools to designate locker rooms, bathrooms, and athletic teams 
based on sex as male, female, or coed. As the bill progressed, it was 
amended to include only requirements for designating athletic teams and 
limiting participation in athletics based on sex. The law defines sex in terms 
of reproductive organs and functions. The law also requires every school to 
have a policy implementing the new requirements. 

There are a few other items to note. While the bill eliminated explicit 
provisions for bathrooms and locker rooms, it does require the policy to 
address the "conduct of visitors and the public." We are not sure what that 

means, because there is no explanation in the bill. We assume that is a nod 
of deference to existing policies and practices as it relates to things like 
restrooms that patrons and visitors can use when on school grounds. For 
that reason, we have simply said all visitors and members of the public shall 

comply with existing policies and law. 

This policy is required if LB 89 becomes law. 

NEW POLICY 6045: BEHAVIORAL INTERVENTION 

Section 79-262.01 requires school districts to develop and adopt a policy 
consistent with or comparable to the model policy developed by the State 
Department of Education. We went with "comparable to" and tried to draft a 
policy that won't be too onerous compared to common and best practices 
we've seen prevalent across the state. 

This policy is required. 

12 



Form Changes 

Public Participation Rules for Public Comment 

We've updated these rules slightly in light of some recent court decisions 
regarding public comment at school board meetings. However, the changes 
are not major. Recently, the Nebraska Attorney General's office 
representatives have shared informally that they believe public comment at 
board meetings can be limited to items on the board's agenda. We do have 
some concerns about that informal guidance in light of published decisions 
that say the opposite, but if your board is interested in exploring that 
limitation, give one of us a call to talk through that option. 

Application for Employment 

We reviewed LB 144 and determined that no changes to the employment 
application form are required. LB 144 revised the definition of spouse of a 
veteran and added language regarding the preference eligibility for the 
spouse of a service member. As such, we recommend reviewing the 
statutory standard and definition if you receive an application indicating 
veteran preference. 

Title IX 

For schools selection Option 1 for their Title IX policy, we will have updated 
forms and refresher training available this summer. In the meantime, if you 
receive a Title IX complaint prior to the start of next school year, give us a 
call to talk through your response options regardless of the policy you chose. 

Other Issues To Consider 

LB 306 

Apparently, this bill has 9 lives. On May 21, it appeared dead. On May 22, it 
was revived. We will continue to monitor it along with any amendments. 
When AM1440 was discussed on May 21, only the LB 550 (religious 
instruction) section seemed to implicate a policy change. Even then, it said 
a school "may" adopt a policy. We simply don't yet know if this bill and any 
others amended into it will pass, or if the wording will remain the same. The 

13 



sections on funding 3 weeks of FMLA leave and restrictions on 
superintendent employment, for example, would not require policy changes 
but would require schools to consider their responses to those new 
provisions. 

LB 390: Parent Right to Access School Library Materials 

LB 390 (approved by the Governor on April 14, 2025) requires each school 
board of a public school district to adopt a policy relating to access by a 
parent, guardian, or educational decisionmaker to certain school library 
information. The new policy will provide parents, guardians, and educational 
decisionmakers the right to access a catalog of all books in the school 
district's library and the right to receive certain notifications when their 
student checks out a library book. 

The deadline for adopting this policy is "for implementation at the beginning 
of the 2026-27 school year." We will provide you our recommended policy 
that complies with LB 390 with our 2026 annual updates. 

LB 457: ANAPHYLAXIS POLICIES 

LB 457 directs the Department of Health and Human Services, in 
consultation with the State Department of Education, to develop model 
anaphylaxis policies available for use in school districts and licensed child 
care programs setting forth guidelines and procedures to be followed for the 
prevention of anaphylaxis and during a medical emergency resulting from 
a na phylaxis. 

On or before July 1, 2026, each school district must adopt a written policy to 
address incidents of anaphylaxis involving students at school. A school 

board may use the model policy mentioned above as a guide. The policy 
must not conflict with or hinder the implementation of an individualized 
anaphylaxis plan of a student and must be consistent with section 79-224 
relating to self-management by a student. 

Next year, we will review the policy developed by NDHHS and NDE and 
determine if we will revise Policy 5053 - Self-Management of Diabetes or 
Asthma/ Anaphylaxis. 

14 



FAIR Leave Act (Modifying FMLA) 

Under the FMLA, if both spouses work for the same employer, they are 
required to split the (up to) 12 weeks FMLA leave for things like bonding 
time with a newborn or adopted child or to care for a family member with a 
serious health condition. The "FAIR Leave Act" introduced in the House 
would eliminate this restriction. For example, if you employ two teachers 
who have a newborn, both would be permitted to take up to 12 weeks for 
bonding time. This bill is separate from what's happening with paid leave in 
the Unicameral. We will monitor the bill and provide updates, including an 
updated policy, if it advances. 

Children's Online Privacy Protection Rule (COPPA) 2.0 

The Federal Trade Commission's 2025 proposed amendments to the 
Children's Online Privacy Protection Rule (COPPA), AKA "COPPA 2.0," aim to 
modernize protections for children under 13 based on the changes in the 
tech world which have occurred since the last amendments to COPPA in 
2013. The amendments take effect June 23, 2025. To note. while these 
amendments do not directly apply to schools, they may impact how schools 
interact with EdTech companies who provide classroom technologies. 
resources. and apps. 

In the 2024 Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, the FTC proposed codifying a 
school authorization exception to parental consent and also new definitions 
of "school" and "school-authorized education purpose." However, in the Final 
Rule, the FTC chose not to finalize these EdTech-specific amendments which 
would impact schools. With the possibility of amendments to FERPA in the 
future, the Commission decided to wait to change any language regarding 
EdTech and schools within COPPA 2.0. For our schools, this means that the 
existing interpretation, where schools may consent on behalf of parents for 
the use of EdTech tools, so long as the information is used exclusively for 
educational purposes and not for commercial gain, remains in effect. 
Schools will also see enhanced notices from EdTech companies regarding 
how data is collected and utilized by these companies. We encourage you to 
review the notices received. 

Because schools utilize technology and software that record a child's voice 
(e.g., speech to text), one of the new exceptions to parental consent 
requirements found in COPPA 2.0 is helpful. It allows operators to collect 
audio files containing a child's voice and no other personal information solely 
to respond to a child's specific request, provided the file is not used for any 
other purpose, is not disclosed, and is deleted immediately. Other finalized 

15 



revisions include reinforced data minimization standards, which limit the use 
of persistent identifiers and restrict data collection. The definition of 
"personal information" has been expanded to include biometric identifiers 
such as facial recognition data, voiceprints, and fingerprints. Once the law is 
finalized, we will blog about any specific guidance the FTC may release 
regarding EdTech and parental consent. If you would like light reading 
materials to lull you to sleep, the proposed commentary and rule is available 

here. 

KSB Superintendent Evaluation Platform 

We are also pleased to announce that the KSB Superintendent Evaluation 
Platform is now live and available for use. This platform was designed 
specifically to align with Nebraska law and best practices, offering boards a 
streamlined, legally sound, and customizable way to conduct superintendent 
evaluations. Subscribers will be able to access the platform through the KSB 
portal. We have a summary of the platform's features and a short video 
about it available here. If you have questions about getting started or would 
like more information, please don't hesitate to reach out. 

CONCLUSION 

It is all too easy to adopt policies that look good but that do not actually 
reflect how the school operates or assist the school in accomplishing its 
goals. Every year we stress that it is very important to us to give you a 
working, useful set of policies and a continuing policy service. For our 
Complete Service subscribers, there is no additional charge for revisions to 
our policies or consultation about them. Please don't hesitate to contact any 
of us with questions about the updates or other policies. Our group e-mail 
address is ksb@ksbschoollaw.com. 

16 



 
1002 

Creation, Amendment and Distribution of Policies 
 
Each of these policies shall become the official policy of the school 
district when the board has approved it by majority vote of the members 
present at any lawfully convened meeting of the board. 
 
It shall generally be the practice of the board to adopt or amend any 
policy after a single reading at any regular or special board meeting.  
However, the board may, in its discretion, review policies at multiple 
meetings prior to taking action.   
 
The superintendent shall maintain an official copy of the board’s policies, 
which may be in paper copy in the central office or on the district’s 
website or electronic board meeting site.  For any policies with specific 
review, hearing, or posting requirements, the superintendent will ensure 
those obligations are completed.  The superintendent will also ensure all 
board members have access to a copy of the district’s policies. 
  
 
 
Adopted on: _________________ 
Revised on: _________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________ 



2006 
Complaint Procedure 

 
Good communication helps to resolve many misunderstandings and 
disagreements.  This complaint procedure applies to complaints unless 
the complaint is subject to a different procedure required by law, policy 
or contract.  Individuals who have a complaint should discuss their 
concerns with appropriate school personnel in an effort to resolve 
problems at the lowest level of the chain of command. When those 
efforts do not resolve matters satisfactorily, including matters involving 
discrimination or harassment on the basis of race, color, national origin, 
sex, marital status, disability, or age, a complainant should follow the 
procedures set forth in any specific policy addressing those areas or the 
procedures set forth below.  Allegations of sex discrimination covered 
by Title IX will be addressed through the board’s Title IX policy.   
 
References to “coordinator” in this policy refer to the board-designated 
coordinator for the applicable area, such as the Section 504 Coordinator 
for allegations of disability-based discrimination. 

 
Under this policy, factual conclusions will be based on a preponderance 
of the evidence. 
 
Complaint and Appeal Process. 

 
1. The first step is for the complainant to speak directly to the 

person(s) with whom the complainant has a concern. For example, 
a parent who is unhappy with a classroom teacher should initially 
discuss the matter with the teacher. However, the complainant 
should skip the first step if complainant reasonably believes 
speaking directly to the person would subject complainant or 
complainant’s student to discrimination or harassment.   

 
2. The second step is for the complainant to speak to the building 

principal, coordinator, superintendent, or president of the board 
of education, as set forth below.  Anyone with questions about the 
appropriate person to speak with may request clarification from 
the superintendent. 

 
a) Complaints about the operation, decisions, or personnel 

within a building should be submitted to the principal of the 
building. 

 



b) Complaints about the operations of the school district or a 
building principal should be submitted in writing to the 
superintendent of schools. 

 
c) Complaints about the superintendent of schools should be 

submitted in writing to the president of the board of 
education. 

 
d) Complaints involving discrimination or harassment on the 

basis of race, color, national origin, sex, marital status, 
disability, or age may be submitted to the applicable 
coordinator. Complaints involving discrimination or 
harassment may also be submitted at any time to the Office 
for Civil Rights, U.S. Department of Education: by email at 
OCR.KansasCity@ed.gov; by telephone at (816) 268-0550; 
or by fax at (816) 268-0599.  

 
3. When a complainant submits a complaint to an administrator or 

coordinator, the administrator or coordinator shall first determine 
whether another applicable procedure is required by policy or law 
and if so, direct the complaint to the appropriate person to follow 
that procedure.  If not, the administrator or coordinator will 
promptly and thoroughly investigate the complaint, and shall: 

 
a) Determine whether the complainant has discussed the 

matter with the respondent. 
 
1) If the complainant has not, urge the complainant to 

discuss the matter directly with the respondent, if 
appropriate. 

 
2) If the complainant refuses to discuss the matter with 

the respondent, the administrator or coordinator 
shall, in his or her sole discretion, determine whether 
the complaint should or must be pursued further.   

 
b) Strongly encourage the complainant to reduce his or her 

concerns to writing.   
 
c) Interview the complainant and, if necessary, the respondent 

against whom the complaint is filed, to determine:  
 
1) All relevant details of the complaint; 
 



2) All witnesses and documents which the complainant 
believes support the complaint; 

 
3) The action or solution which the complainant seeks. 
 

d) Respond to the complainant. If the complaint involves 
discrimination or harassment, the response shall be in 
writing and shall be submitted within 180 calendar days 
after the administrator or coordinator receives the 
complaint.  

 
4. If either the complainant or the respondent is not satisfied with 

the decision, he or she may appeal the decision to the 
superintendent.  The superintendent may assign a qualified 
designee to hear any appeal.   

 
a) The appeal must be in writing. 

 
b) This appeal must be received by the superintendent no later 

than three (3) calendar days from the date of the decision. 
 

c) For complaints addressed through other applicable 
procedures that do not include a separate investigatory 
process, the superintendent will investigate as he or she 
deems appropriate.  

 
d) The superintendent will prepare a written decision and 

provide it to the complainant and any other person entitled 
by law to receive the appeal decision. For complaints 
involving discrimination or harassment, the superintendent 
shall submit the decision within 180 calendar days after the 
superintendent received complainant’s written appeal. 
Appeals to the superintendent from complaints involving 
discrimination or harassment are final once the 
superintendent delivers the written decision, as are all other 
appeals/complaints to the superintendent unless the 
complaint can be appealed on the limited grounds to appeal 
to the board below. 

 
5. The board’s role is to set policy, establish and implement a budget, 

and evaluate the superintendent.  The board does not manage the 
daily operations of the school district entrusted to its 
administration unless required by law or policy.  Because of the 
board’s statutory roles, it does not hear complaints or appeals that 



may involve oversight or discipline of students, staff, or others, 
unless those involve allegations against the superintendent as 
discussed below.  The board does not hear complaints or appeals 
based on allegations of discrimination or harassment unless 
otherwise required by law.  The board will hear appeals only in the 
following circumstances: 
 
a) When the complaint is about a board policy, not 

implementation of the policy; 
b) When the complaint involves the budget or school 

expenditures that have been or must be approved by the 
board; or 

c) When the board is required by law, policy, or contract to 
hear a complaint or appeal.    

 
If a complaint involves those limited grounds and a party is not 
satisfied with the superintendent’s decision regarding the 
complaint or appeal, he or she may appeal the decision to the 
board. 

 
d) This appeal must be in writing. 

 
e) This appeal must be received by the board president no later 

than ten (10) calendar days from the date the 
superintendent communicated the decision to the 
complainant. 

 
f) This policy allows, but does not require the board to receive 

statements from interested parties and witnesses relevant 
to the complaint or appeal. However, all matters involving 
discrimination or harassment allegations against the 
superintendent shall be promptly and thoroughly 
investigated by the board president or a designee.  

 
g) The board president will notify the complainant and any 

other person legally required to receive the decision in 
writing of the decision. If the complaint involves 
discrimination or harassment allegations against the 
Superintendent, the board president shall submit the 
decision within 180 calendar days after receiving the written 
appeal.  

 
h) There is no appeal from any decision of the board unless 

authorized by law. 



 
6. Formal complaints about the superintendent shall be filed with the 

president of the board.  However, complaints about the 
superintendent do not include disagreement with the 
superintendent’s decision on appeal based on a complaint of 
discrimination, harassment, or action of any other employee who 
is not the superintendent.  Upon receipt of a complaint, the board 
president or his or her designee shall promptly and thoroughly 
investigate the complaint, and shall: 
 
a) Coordinate with school district staff, other than the 

superintendent, to determine if another procedure in policy 
or law requires the complaint against the superintendent to 
follow another procedure.  If so, the board president will 
coordinate handling the complaint through that procedure.  
If another procedure applies, such as in the case of 
allegations of sex discrimination against the superintendent, 
the board president or, at his or her discretion, the full board 
will serve only to hear any appeal by a party to the 
complaint. 
 

b) Determine whether the complainant has discussed the 
matter with the superintendent.   

 
1) If the complainant has not, the board president or 

designee will urge or require the complainant to 
discuss the matter directly with the superintendent, if 
appropriate or required.   

 
2) If the complainant refuses to discuss the matter with 

the superintendent, the board president shall, in his 
or her sole discretion, determine whether the 
complaint should or must be pursued further.   

 
c) Determine, in his or her sole discretion, whether to place 

the matter on the board agenda for consideration at a 
regular or special meeting by the full board.   

 
d) Respond to the complainant or appeal. If the complaint or 

appeal involves discrimination or harassment, the response 
shall be in writing and shall be submitted within 180 
calendar days after the president received the complaint.  

 



e) Appoint or contract with other individuals qualified to assist 
the board through this process or any other applicable 
procedure used to address allegations against the 
superintendent. 

 
No Retaliation. The school district prohibits retaliation against any 
person for filing a complaint or for participating in the complaint 
procedure in good faith.  
 
Special Rules Regarding Educational Services and Related 
Services to Students with Disabilities.  Students with disabilities and 
their families have specific rights outlined in state and federal law, 
including administrative processes by which they may challenge the 
educational services being provided by the school district.  Therefore, 
the appeal process contained in this policy may not be used to challenge 
decisions made by a student’s individualized education plan (IEP) team 
or 504 team.    
 
Complaints about the educational services provided a student with a 
disability, including but not limited to services provided to a student with 
an IEP, access to curricular and extracurricular activities, and 
educational placement must be submitted to the school district’s 
Director of Special Education.  The Director of Special Education will 
address the complaint in a manner that he/she deems appropriate and 
will provide the complainant with a copy of the Notice of IDEA Parental 
Rights promulgated by the Nebraska Department of Education.   
 
Complaints about the educational services provided a student with a 
disability pursuant to a Section 504 plan must be submitted to the school 
district’s 504 Coordinator.  The 504 Coordinator will address the 
complaint in a manner that he/she deems appropriate and will provide 
the complainant with a copy of the Notice of Section 504 Parental Rights 
adopted by the board of education.   
 
Complaints about the educational services provided to a student who is 
suspected of having a disability must be submitted in writing to the 
school district’s Director of Special Education or to the district’s 504 
Coordinator.  The Director of Special Education or 504 Coordinator will 
either refer the student for possible verification as a student with a 
disability or will provide prior written notice of the district’s refusal to do 
so.      
 
Bad Faith or Serial Filings.  The purpose of the complaint procedure 
is to resolve complaints at the lowest level possible within the chain of 



command.  Individuals who file complaints (a) without a good faith 
intention to attempt to resolve the issues raised; (b) for the purpose of 
adding administrative burden; (c) at a volume unreasonable to expect 
satisfactory resolution; or (d) for purposes inconsistent with the efficient 
operations of the district may be dismissed by the superintendent or 
board president without providing final resolution other than noting the 
dismissal.  There is no appeal from dismissals made pursuant to this 
section. 
 
Adopted on: _______________ 
Revised on: _______________ 
Reviewed on: ______________ 



Page 1 of 3 
 
 

2008 
Meetings 

 
The formation of policy is public business and will be conducted openly in 
accordance with the Nebraska Open Meetings Act. 
 
1. Types of Meetings 
 

a. The board shall hold its regular meetings on or before the third 
Monday of each month. 

 
b. Special and emergency meetings may be called as provided by 

law. 
 
c. The board may schedule work sessions and retreats in order to 

provide board members and administrators with the opportunity 
to plan, research, and engage in discussion.  
 

2. Notice  
 
The board shall give reasonable advance publicized notice of the time and 
place of each of its meetings, which generally will be 48 hours or more in 
advance of the meeting.  Such notice shall be transmitted to all members of 
the board and to the public.   
 
Publication Procedure if the Newspaper Will Be Finalized for Printing 
Prior to the Time and Date of the Meeting.  Notice of regular and special 
meetings shall be (1) published in a newspaper of general circulation within 
the district that is finalized for printing prior to the time and date of the 
meeting, (2) posting on the newspaper's website, if available, and (3) posting 
on a statewide website established and maintained as a repository for such 
notices by a majority of Nebraska newspapers.   
 
Publication Procedure if the Newspaper Will Not Be Finalized for 
Printing Prior to the Time and Date of the Meeting.  Notice of regular 
and special meetings shall be (1) posting on the newspaper's website, if 
available, and (2) posting on a statewide website established and maintained 
as a repository for such notices by a majority of Nebraska newspapers if no 
edition of a newspaper of general circulation within the school district’s 
jurisdiction is to be finalized for printing prior to the time and date of the 
meeting. 
 
Newspapers of general circulation in the district include the 
_______________.  Such notice shall contain a statement that the agenda 



Page 2 of 3 
 
 

shall be readily available for public inspection at the administration office of 
the school during the normal business hours. In addition, the superintendent 
is authorized, but not required, to publish the notice of any meeting on the 
school district’s website, posting in three prominent places within the school 
district, or by any other appropriate method designated by the board.   
 
In case of refusal, neglect, or inability of the newspaper to timely publish the 
notice, the school district will (1) post the notice on its website, if available, 
(2) submit a post on a statewide website established and maintained as a 
repository for such notices by a majority of Nebraska newspapers, and (3) 
post the notice in a conspicuous public place in the school district’s jurisdiction.  
The school district will keep a written record of the posting. 
 
When it is necessary to hold an emergency meeting without reasonable 
advance public notice, the nature of the emergency shall be stated in the 
minutes of the meeting, and any formal action taken in such meeting shall 
pertain only to the emergency.  Complete minutes of such emergency 
meetings specifying the nature of the emergency and any formal action taken 
at the meeting shall be made available to the public no later than the end of 
the next regular business day. 
 
3. Weather Delays 
 
In the event of inclement weather which makes it dangerous or unreasonable 
for board members or members of the public to attend a meeting for which 
notice has already been given, such meeting may be postponed by the board 
president.  The board will communicate the delay to members of the public by 
posting it on the district’s website and by following the same communication 
protocol that the district follows when student attendance at school is called 
off due to inclement weather.  When possible, the board president and 
superintendent will attempt to communicate the information to local media 
members and business owners to assist in notifying the public of the delay.  
Notice of the date, time, and location of the postponed meeting will be 
advertised as required in the “Notice” section above. 

 
4. Minutes 
 

a. The board shall keep minutes of all meetings showing the time, 
place, members present and absent, the method(s) and date(s) 
of the meeting notice, and the substance of all matters discussed.   

 
b. Any action taken on any question or motion duly moved and 

seconded shall be by roll call vote of the board in open session, 



Page 3 of 3 
 
 

and the record shall state how each member voted, or if the 
member was absent or not voting. 

 
c. The minutes of all meetings and evidence and documentation 

received or disclosed in open session shall be public record and 
shall be published on the school district's website within ten 
working days of the last meeting or prior to the next convened 
meeting, whichever occurs earlier. The minutes shall be available 
on the website for at least six months. 

 
 
 
Adopted on: _______________ 
Revised on: _______________ 
Reviewed on: ______________ 
 
 



 3003 
Bidding for Construction, Remodeling, Repair, or Site Improvement 

 
I. Applicability of this policy.  

 
Construction and contracts undertaken with federal funds, whether 
those funds are derived directly from the federal government (e.g. 
award of a federal grant) or are derived by pass-through awards from 
the Nebraska Department of Education (e.g. special education funds, 
school lunch funds, Title I funds) are subject to the policy on 
Construction with Federal Funds, which is found elsewhere in this 
section.   
 
This policy applies to all other purchases and contracts made by the 
school district for construction, remodeling, repair and other site 
improvements.   
  

II. Projects with an Estimated Cost of Less than $109,000 
 

A. The school district will solicit quotes and/or estimates for all projects 
with an estimated cost of less than $109,000.   

B. Prior to solicitation of the quotes and/or estimates, the 
superintendent will determine whether the district will accept oral 
submissions.  

C. Quotes and/or estimates may be solicited by the superintendent or 
his/her designee without board action. 

D. The terms of any construction project undertaken pursuant to this 
policy will be memorialized in a written contract which has been  
reviewed by the district’s legal counsel and approved by the board. 

E. The district may use a Nebraska state-wide cooperative purchasing 
program in lieu of obtaining quotes or bids under this policy to the 
extent such a bid or quote is not otherwise independently required 
by law. 

F. Nothing in this subsection prohibits or requires the use of the formal 
bidding procedures.  If the district is going to solicit formal bids for 
projects of less than $109,000 they must follow the formal 
procedures outlined in this policy. 

 
III. Formal Bidding for Major Purchases and Construction 
 

A. Pursuant to section 73-106 of the Nebraska statutes, the board will 
advertise for bids when the contemplated expenditure of the project 
exceeds $109,000 for the construction, remodeling or repair of a 
school-owned building or for site improvement.  



 
B. In projects that involve professional engineering or architecture, the 

board will have a registered professional engineer or architect 
prepare the plans, specifications, and estimates when the anticipated 
cost of the project exceeds $144,000.   

 
C. Advertising for Bids 

 
1. The superintendent or designee will arrange to advertise for 

bids under this section by publishing notice in any newspaper 
of general circulation within the school district at least 7 
calendar days prior to the date on which bids are due. 

 
2. Nothing in this policy shall prevent the superintendent or 

designee from advertising in additional media outlets or for a 
longer period of time. 

 
D. Bid Documents 
 

1. The bid documents shall identify the day upon which the bids 
shall be returned, received or opened and shall identify the 
hour at which the bids will close or be received or opened.  
 

2. The invitation for bids will be sufficiently certain and specific, 
will include any specifications and pertinent attachments, and 
will define the items or services in order to allow the bidder to 
properly respond. 

 
3. The bid documents shall also provide that such bids shall be 

opened simultaneously in the presence of the bidders or their 
representatives.   

 
4. Bids received after the date and time specified in the bid 

documents shall be returned to the bidder unopened. 
 

5. If bids are being opened on more than one contract, the board, 
in its discretion, may award each contract as the bids are 
opened. 

 
6. Sealed bids will be opened in a place and at the specific time 

stated in the bid form.  Bidders shall be notified of the opening 
and invited to be present.   

 
7. The board shall have discretion in determining which bidders 



are responsible and responsive and shall award the contract 
to the lowest, responsible, and responsive bidder whose bid 
meets the bid specifications. 

 
E. Any or all bids may be rejected if there is a sound documented reason  

 
F. The terms of any construction project undertaken pursuant to this 

policy will be memorialized in a written contract which has been  
reviewed by the district’s legal counsel and approved by the board. 

 
 

 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 
 



Page 1 of 16 

3004.1 
Fiscal Management for Purchasing and Procurement Using Federal 

Funds 
 

I. Applicability of Policy 
 
This policy applies only to non-construction related purchases undertaken with 
federal funds which are subject to the federal Uniform Grant Guidance (UGG) 
and other applicable federal law, including but not limited to the Education 
Department and General Administration Regulations (EDGAR) and the United 
States Department of Agriculture (USDA) regulations governing school food 
service programs.  In the event this policy conflicts or is otherwise inconsistent 
with mandatory provisions of the UGG, EDGAR or other applicable federal law, 
the mandatory provisions of the laws shall control. 
 
All other non-construction purchases will be governed by the Board’s general 
purchasing policy, which can be found earlier in this subsection.  In the event 
of a conflict between state and federal law, the more stringent requirement 
shall apply. 
 
This procurement policy shall govern all purchasing activities that relate to 
any aspect of the National School Lunch and Breakfast Programs.  The 
district’s goal is to fully implement all required procurement rules, regulations 
and policies set forth in 2 CFR 200, 7 CFR parts 210, 3016 and 3019, and by 
the Nebraska Department of Education. 
 
II.   Procurement System  
 
The District maintains the following purchasing procedures. 
 

A. Responsibility for Purchasing 
 
The authority to make purchases shall be governed by the District’s 
purchasing policy, which can be found elsewhere in this section. Except as 
otherwise provided in the District’s purchasing policy, the acquisition of 
services, equipment, and supplies shall be centralized in the administration 
office under the supervision of the superintendent of schools, who shall be 
responsible for developing and administering the purchasing program of the 
school district.  Purchases or commitments of district funds that are not 
authorized by this policy will be the responsibility of the person making the 
commitment. 

 
 
 



Page 2 of 16 

B. Methods of Purchasing 
 

The type of purchase procedures required depends on the cost of the item(s) 
being purchased.   
 

1. Purchases up to $10,000 (Micro-Purchases)  
 

Micro-purchase means an individual procurement transaction for supplies or 
services using simplified acquisition procedures, the annual aggregate amount 
of which does not exceed $10,000.  Micro-purchases may be made or awarded 
without soliciting competitive quotations, to the extent district staff determine 
that the cost of the purchase is reasonable.  For purposes of this policy 
“reasonable” means the purchase is comparable to market prices for the 
geographic area.  

 
To the extent practicable, the District distributes micro-purchases equitably 
among qualified suppliers. The District will follow its standard policy on 
purchasing, which can be found earlier in this subsection.   
 

2. Purchases between $10,000 and $250,000 (Simplified 
Acquisition Procedures)  

 
Simplified acquisitions are purchases that, in the aggregate amount, are more 
than $10,000 and less than $250,000 annually.  For simplified acquisitions, 
price or rate quotes shall be obtained in advance from a reasonable number 
of qualified sources as detailed in the district’s standard policies on purchasing 
and on bid letting and contracts, which can be found earlier in this subsection.  
 

3. Purchases Over $250,000 
 

a) Sealed Bids (Formal Advertising)         
 

For purchases over $250,000, the district will generally follow the bidding 
process outlined in the board’s policy on Bidding for Construction, Remodeling, 
Repair or Site Improvement.  If sealed bids are not accepted for a purchase 
of over $250,000, the district will retain an explanation for that decision.  
 

b) Contract/Price Analysis  
 

The District performs a cost or price analysis in connection with every 
procurement action in excess of $250,000, including contract modifications. 
The district will make an independent estimate of costs prior to receiving bids 
or proposals.    
 



Page 3 of 16 

4. Noncompetitive Proposals (Sole Sourcing) 
 

a) Procurement by noncompetitive proposals is 
procurement through solicitation of a proposal from 
only one source and may be used only when one or 
more of the following circumstances apply: 

 
1) The procurement transaction can only be fulfilled 

by a single source; 
 

2) The public exigency or emergency for the 
requirement will not permit a delay resulting from 
providing public notice of a competitive solicitation; 

 
3) The federal awarding agency or pass-through 

entity expressly authorizes written approval of 
noncompetitive proposals in response to a written 
request from the District; or 

 
4) After solicitation of a number of sources, 

competition is determined inadequate. 
 

b) Noncompetitive proposals may only be solicited with the 
approval of the superintendent or the board.  Sufficient 
and appropriate documentation that justifies the sole 
sourcing decision must be maintained by the 
superintendent or designee.  

 
c) A cost or price analysis will be performed for 

noncompetitive proposals when the price exceeds 
$250,000. 

  
5. Competitive Proposals.   

 
a) The technique of competitive proposals is normally 

conducted with more than one source submitting an 
offer, and either a fixed price or cost-reimbursement type 
contract is awarded. It is generally used when conditions 
are not appropriate for the use of sealed bids. If this 
method is used, the following requirements apply: 



Page 4 of 16 

1) Requests for proposals must be publicized and 
identify all evaluation factors and their relative 
importance. Any response to publicized requests 
for proposals must be considered; 

 
2) Proposals must be solicited from an adequate 

number of qualified sources; and 
 

3) Contracts must be awarded to the responsible firm 
whose proposal is most advantageous to the 
program, with price and other factors considered. 

 
b) The District may use competitive proposal procedures for 

qualifications-based procurement of 
architectural/engineering (A/E) professional services 
whereby competitors' qualifications are evaluated and 
the most qualified competitor is selected, subject to 
negotiation of fair and reasonable compensation. The 
method, where price is not used as a selection factor, can 
only be used to procure A/E professional services. The 
method may not be used to purchase other services 
provided by A/E firms are a potential source to perform 
the proposed effort. 

 
c) The District may select a proposal that offers the best 

value and that is based upon the proposer’s 
responsiveness to the proposal, experience, reputation, 
staff qualifications, ability and capacity to carry on the 
work, price, honesty, integrity, skills, business judgment, 
financial stability, past performance, and other relevant 
factors.  The evaluation may be conducted by the school 
board, a designated committee, or another designee of 
the school board. 

 
C. Use of Purchase (Debit & Credit) Cards 

 
District use of purchase cards is subject to the policy on purchase cards which 
can be found elsewhere in this subsection.  
 

D. Federal Procurement System Standards 
 

The district’s procurement transactions will be conducted in a manner 
providing full and open competition consistent with 2 C.F.R §200.319.   



Page 5 of 16 

 
The District will maintain and follow general procurement standards consistent 
with 2 C.F.R.  §200.318.  
 

E. Debarment and Suspension   
 

The District awards contracts only to responsible contractors possessing the 
ability to perform successfully under the terms and conditions of a proposed 
procurement.  Consideration will be given to such matters as contractor 
integrity, public policy compliance, proper classification of employees (see the 
Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. 201, chapter 8), record of past 
performance, and financial and technical resources when conducting a 
procurement transaction.  

 
The District may not subcontract with or award subgrants to any person or 
company who is debarred or suspended.  For all contracts over $25,000 the 
District verifies that the vendor with whom the District intends to do business 
with is not excluded or disqualified.  2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix II(1) and 2 
C.F.R. §§ 180.220 and 180.300. 
   
The District will verify debarment or suspension by revising the excluded 
parties list on SAM.gov, collecting a certification through the bidding process, 
and/or by including a debarment and suspension provision in the bid and 
contract documents. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall be 
responsible for such verification. 
 

F. Settlements of Issues Arising Out of Procurements 
 
The District alone is responsible, in accordance with good administrative 
practice and sound business judgment, for the settlement of all contractual 
and administrative issues arising out of procurements.  These issues include, 
but are not limited to, source evaluation, protests, disputes, and claims.  
These standards do not relieve the District of any contractual responsibilities 
under its contracts.  Violations of law will be referred to the local, state, or 
federal authority having proper jurisdiction. 
 
III. Conflict of Interest and Code of Conduct  
 

A. Board and staff member conflicts of interest are governed by 
the district’s conflict of interest policies.   

 
B. Purchases covered by this policy are subject to the following 

additional provisions. 
 



Page 6 of 16 

1. Employees, officers, and agents engaged in the selection, 
award, and/or administration of district contracts which are 
prohibited from engaging in such actions if a real or apparent 
conflict of interest is present.  

 
2. Such a conflict of interest would arise when the employee, 

officer, or agent, any member of his or her immediate family, 
his or her partner, or an organization which employs or is about 
to employ any of the parties indicated herein, has a financial or 
other interest in or a tangible personal benefit from a firm 
considered for a contract.  

 
3. The board may determine at its discretion that a financial 

interest is not substantial enough to give rise to a conflict of 
interest. 

 
C. Favors and Gifts 

 
An employee, officer, agent, and board member of the District may neither 
solicit nor accept gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value from 
contractors or parties to subcontracts, except that this provision does not 
prohibit the receipt of unsolicited items of nominal value.  For purposes of this 
policy, “nominal value” means a fair market value of $25 or less. 
 

D. Enforcement 
 
Disciplinary Actions including, but not limited to, counseling, oral reprimand, 
written reprimand, suspensions without pay, or termination of employment, 
will be applied for violations of such standards by officers, employees, board 
members, or agents of the District. 
 
IV. Property Management Systems 
 

A. Property Classifications 
 

1. Equipment means tangible personal property (including 
information technology systems) having a useful life of more 
than one year and a per-unit acquisition cost that equals or 
exceeds the lesser of the capitalization level established by the 
District for financial statement purposes, or $10,000.  

 
2. Supplies means all tangible personal property other than those 

described in §200.33 Equipment.  A computing device is a 
supply if the acquisition cost is less than the lesser of the 



Page 7 of 16 

capitalization level established by the District for financial 
statement purposes or $10,000, regardless of the length of its 
useful life.  2 C.F.R. §200.94.  

 
3. Computing Devices means machines that acquire, store, 

analyze, process, and publish data and other information 
electronically, including accessories (or “peripherals”) for 
printing, transmitting and receiving, or storing electronic 
information.  2 C.F.R. §200.20.  

 
4. Capital Assets means tangible or intangible assets used in 

operations having a useful life of more than one year which are 
capitalized in accordance with GAAP.  Capital assets include:  

 
a) Land, buildings (facilities), equipment, and intellectual 

property (including software) whether acquired by 
purchase, construction, manufacture, lease-purchase, 
exchange, or through capital leases; and  

 
b) Additions, improvements, modifications, replacements, 

rearrangements, reinstallations, renovations or 
alterations to capital assets that materially increase their 
value or useful life (not ordinary repairs and 
maintenance).  2 C.F.R. §200.12.  

 
B. Inventory Procedure 

 
Newly purchased property shall be received and inspected by the staff 
member who ordered it to ensure that that it matches the purchase order, 
invoice, or contract and that it is in acceptable condition. 

 
Equipment, Computing Devices, and Capital Assets must be tagged with an 
identification number, manufacturer, model, name of individual who tagged 
the item, and date tagged). 
 

C. Inventory Records 
 

For equipment, computing devices, and capital assets purchased with federal 
funds, the following information is maintained in the property management 
system: 
 

1. Serial number; 
2. District identification number; 
3. Manufacturer; 



Page 8 of 16 

4. Model; 
5. Date tagged and individual who tagged it; 
6. Source of funding for the property; 
7. Who holds title; 
8. Acquisition date and cost of the property;  
9. Percentage of federal participation in the project costs for the 

federal award under which the property was acquired;  
10. Location, use and condition of the property; and 
11. Any ultimate disposition data including the date of disposal and 

sale price of the property.   
 
The inventory list shall be adjusted by the superintendent of schools or his/her 
designee for property that is sold, lost, stolen, cannot be repaired, or that 
cannot be located. 
 

D. Physical Inventory 
 

1. A physical inventory of the property must be taken and the 
results reconciled with the property records at least once every 
two years.   

 
2. The Superintendent or his/her designee will ensure that the 

physical inventory is performed.  The physical inventory will 
generally occur during the months of June or July, but may be 
conducted during other time periods with the approval of the 
superintendent.  

 
E. Maintenance  

 
In accordance with 2 C.F.R. 313(d)(4), the District maintains adequate 
maintenance procedures to ensure that property is kept in good condition.  
 

F. Lost or Stolen Items 
 
The District maintains a control system that ensures adequate safeguards are 
in place to prevent loss, damage, or theft of the property.  The District will 
notify the Federal agency or pass-through entity of any loss, damage, or theft 
of equipment that will have an impact on the program.    
 

G. Use of Equipment 
 
Equipment must be used in the program or project for which it was acquired 
as long as needed, whether or not the project or program continues to be 
supported by the federal award, and the District will not encumber the 



Page 9 of 16 

property for any non-federal program use without prior approval of the federal 
awarding agency and the pass-through entity.   
 

H. Disposal of Equipment 
 
When it is determined that equipment acquired under a federal award is no 
longer needed for the original project or program or for other activities 
currently or previously supported by a federal awarding agency, the 
Superintendent or his/her designee will contact the awarding agency (or pass-
through for a state-administered grant) for disposition instructions.   

 
If the item has a current fair market value of $10,000 or less, it may be 
retained, sold, or otherwise disposed of with no further obligation to the 
federal awarding agency or pass-through entity.  The Superintendent or 
his/her designee will utilize sales procedures which ensure the highest possible 
return on the disposal of the equipment.  
 

I. Equipment Retention  
 
When included in the terms and conditions of the Federal award, the Federal 
agency may permit the recipient to retain equipment, or authorize a pass-
through entity to permit the recipient to retain equipment, with no further 
obligation to the Federal Government unless prohibited by Federal statute or 
regulation.  
 

J. Equipment and Capital Expenditures 
 
All equipment and capital expenditures shall comply with the rules and 
requirements of 2 CFR 200.439. 
 

K. Depreciation 
 
All depreciation shall comply with the rules and requirements of 2 CFR 
200.436. 
 

L. Reporting and Recording Federal Property Interest 
 
The district will comply with federal interest reporting and submit 
annual reports, if required, regarding a real property interest due to 
a renovation, major remodeling, construction, or real property 
project funded by federal grant funds.   

 
V. Financial Management 

 



Page 10 of 16 

A. Identification   
 

The District will identify, in its accounts, all federal awards received and 
expended and the federal programs under which they were received.  Federal 
program and award identification include, as applicable, the CFDA title and 
number, federal award identification number and year, name of the federal 
agency, and, if applicable, name of the pass-through entity. 
 

B. Financial Reporting  
 

The District will make an accurate, current, and complete disclosure of the 
financial results of each federal award or program in accordance with the 
financial reporting requirements set forth in the Education Department 
General Administrative Regulations (EDGAR).    

 
C.  Accounting Records   

 
The District maintains records which adequately identify the source and 
application of funds provided for federally-assisted activities.  These records 
must contain information pertaining to grant or subgrant awards, 
authorizations, obligations, unobligated balances, assets, expenditures, 
income and interest and be supported by source documentation. 

 
D. Internal Controls   

 
The Superintendent or his/her designee must maintain effective control and 
accountability for all funds, real and personal property, and other assets 
through board review and approval of claims, an annual audit of the district’s 
finances pursuant to the applicable Nebraska Department of Education and 
federal rules and regulations, and comparison of expenditures and outlays to 
budgeted amounts.  The District adequately safeguards all such property and 
assures that it is used solely for authorized purposes.  The District takes 
reasonable cybersecurity and other measures to safeguard information 
including protected personally identifiable information.   
 

E. Budget Control   
 

Actual expenditures or outlays will be compared with budgeted amounts for 
each federal award at least annually and more often as required by law or 
deemed prudent by the board or administrative staff.   
 

F. Payment Methods 
 



Page 11 of 16 

The District will comply with applicable methods and procedures for payment 
that minimize the time elapsing between the transfer of funds and 
disbursement by the District, in accordance with the Cash Management 
Improvement Act at 31 CFR Part 205.  Generally, the District receives 
payment from the Nebraska Department of Education on a reimbursement 
basis.  2 CFR § 200.305. However, if the District receives an advance in federal 
grant funds, the District will remit interest earned on the advanced payment 
quarterly to the federal agency.  The District may retain interest amounts up 
to $500 per year for administrative expenses.  2 CFR § 200.305(b)(9). 
 
Consistent with state and federal requirements, the District will maintain 
source documentation supporting the federal expenditures (invoices, time 
sheets, payroll stubs, etc.) and will make such documentation available for 
the Nebraska Department of Education to review upon request.  
 

G. Allowability of Costs 
 

Expenditures must be aligned with approved budgeted items.  Any changes or 
variations from the state-approved budget and grant application need prior 
approval.   
 
When determining how the District will spend its grant funds, the 
Superintendent or his/her designee will review the proposed cost to determine 
whether it is an allowable use of federal grant funds before obligating and 
spending those funds on the proposed good or service.  All costs supported by 
federal education funds must meet the standards outlined in EDGAR, 2 CFR 
Part 3474 and 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart E.  The Superintendent or his/her 
designee must consider these factors when making an allowability 
determination. 

 
The Superintendent or his/her designee will consider Part 200’s cost guidelines 
when federal grant funds are expended.  The Superintendent or his/her 
designee will also consider whether all state - and District-level requirements 
and policies regarding expenditures have been followed. 
 

H. Use of Program Income – Deduction, Addition, or Cost Sharing 
or Matching 

 
The default method for the use of program income for the District is the 
deduction method.  2 C.F.R. § 200.307(e).  Under the deduction method, 
program income is deducted from total allowable costs to determine the net 
allowable costs.  Program income will only be used for current costs unless 
the District is otherwise directed by the federal awarding agency or pass-
through entity.  2 C.F.R. § 200.307(e)(1).  The District may also request prior 

Commented [1]: 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart E 



Page 12 of 16 

approval from the federal awarding agency to use the addition method.  Under 
the addition method, program income may be added to the Federal award by 
the Federal agency and the non-Federal entity.  The program income must 
then be used for the purposes and under the conditions of the Federal award.  
2 C.F.R. § 200.307(e)(2). The District may also request prior approval from 
the federal awarding agency to use the cost sharing or matching method.         

 
While the deduction method is the default method, the District always refers 
to the grant award notice prior to determining the appropriate use of program 
income.     
 

I. Cost Sharing or Matching 
 
For all Federal awards, any shared costs or matching funds and all 
contributions, including cash and third-party in-kind contributions, must be 
accepted as part of the non-Federal entity's cost sharing or matching when 
such contributions meet all of the following criteria:  
 

(1)  Are verifiable from the non-Federal entity's records;  
(2)  Are not included as contributions for any other Federal award;  
(3)  Are necessary and reasonable for accomplishment of project or 

program objectives;  
(4)  Are allowable under subpart E (Cost Principles) of this part;  
(5)  Are not paid by the Federal Government under another Federal 

award, except where the Federal statute authorizing a program 
specifically provides that Federal funds made available for such 
program can be applied to matching or cost sharing requirements 
of other Federal programs;  

(6)  Are provided for in the approved budget when required by the 
Federal awarding agency; and  

(7)  Conform to other provisions of this part, as applicable. 
 

J. Documentation of Personnel Expenses 
 
Records that reflect charges to federal awards for salaries and wages will 
comply with the rules and requirements of 2 CFR 200.430. 
 
VI. Written Compensation Policies 
 

A. Time and Effort Standards 
 
All employees who are paid in full or in part with federal funds must keep 
specific documents to demonstrate the amount of time they spent on grant 
activities.  This includes an employee whose salary is paid with state or local 



Page 13 of 16 

funds but is used to meet a required “match” in a federal program.  These 
documents, known as time and effort records, are maintained in order to 
charge the costs of personnel compensation to federal grants.  Charges to 
federal awards for salaries and wages must be based on records that 
accurately reflect the work performed.  These records must:  
 

(1) Be supported by a system of internal controls which provides 
reasonable assurance that the charges are accurate, allowable, 
and properly allocated;  

(2) Be incorporated into official records;  
(3) Reasonably reflect total activity for which the employee is 

compensated, not exceeding 100% of compensated activities;  
(4) Encompass both federally assisted and all other activities 

compensated by the District on an integrated basis;  
(5) Comply with the established accounting policies and practices of 

the District and  
(6) Support the distribution of the employee’s salary or wages among 

specific activities or costs objectives. 
 

B. Time and Effort Procedures 
 
Time and effort procedures will follow and comply with 2 CFR 200.430(i). 
 

C. Fringe Benefits 
 
Except as provided otherwise by federal law, the costs of fringe benefits will 
be allowable provided that the benefits are reasonable and required by law, a 
district-employee agreement, or another policy of the District. 
 

D. Leave   
 
The cost of fringe benefits in the form of regular compensation paid to 
employees during periods of authorized absences from the job, such as for 
annual leave, family-related leave, sick leave, holidays, court leave, military 
leave, administrative leave, and other similar benefits, are allowable if they 
are provided under established written District leave policies. 
 

E. Unexpected or Extraordinary Circumstances 
 
In the event of a pandemic or other unexpected or extraordinary 
circumstance, the District may close school or individual buildings.  In such 
case, the District may compensate federally funded or other employees during 
such closure to ensure the return of staff to employment after the closure as 
allowed by state or federal law.  



Page 14 of 16 

 
F. Documentation for Personnel Expenses 

 
Records that reflect charges to federal awards for salaries and wages will 
comply with the rules and requirements of 2 CFR 200.430. 

 
VII. Other Contract Matters. 
 

A. Required Terms 
 
The non-Federal entity's contracts must contain the applicable provisions 
required by section 200.326 and described in Appendix II to Part 200—
Contract Provisions for non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal Awards. 
 

B. Contracting with Certain Vendors 
 
Pursuant to the standards contained in 2 C.F.R.  § 200.321, the District will 
take all necessary affirmative steps to assure that minority businesses, 
women's business enterprises, veteran-owned businesses, and labor surplus 
area firms are used when possible consistent with state law. 
 
Buy American.  The District participates in the National School Lunch 
Program and School Breakfast Program and is required to use the nonprofit 
food service funds, to the maximum extent practicable, to buy domestic 
commodities or products for Program meals.  A “domestic commodity or 
product” is defined as one that is either produced in the U.S. or is processed 
in the U.S. substantially using agricultural commodities that are produced in 
the U.S. as provided in 7 CFR 210.21(d). 
The District may deviate from this general requirement only if: 

● The product is not produced or manufactured in the U.S. in sufficient 
and reasonably available quantities of a satisfactory quality; or 

● Competitive bids reveal the costs of a U.S. product are significantly 
higher than the non-domestic product. 

 
C. Record Keeping  

 
1. Record Retention 

 
a) The District maintains all records that fully show (1) the 

amount of funds under the grant or subgrant; (2) how 
the subgrantee uses those funds; (3) the total cost of 
each project; (4) the share of the total cost of each 
project provided from other sources; (5) other records to 
facilitate an effective audit; and (6) other records to show 



Page 15 of 16 

compliance with federal program requirements. 34 C.F.R. 
§§ 76.730-.731 and §§ 75.730-.731.  The District also 
maintains records of significant project experiences and 
results.  34 C.F.R. § 75.732.  These records and accounts 
must be retained and made available for programmatic 
or financial audit.   

 
b) The U.S. Department of Education is authorized to 

recover any federal funds misspent within 5 years before 
the receipt of a program determination letter.  34 C.F.R. 
§ 81.31(c).  Schedule 10 (Local School Districts) and 
Schedule 24 (Local Agencies General Records) of the 
Nebraska Records Management Division as approved by 
the Nebraska Secretary of State/State Records 
Administrator requires the District to maintain records 
regarding federal awards for a minimum of six (6) years.  
Consequently, the District shall retain records for a 
minimum of six (6) years from the date on which the final 
Financial Status Report is submitted, unless otherwise 
notified in writing to extend the retention period by the 
awarding agency, cognizant agency for audit, oversight 
agency for audit, or cognizant agency for indirect costs.  
However, if any litigation, claim, or audit is started before 
the expiration of the record retention period, the records 
will be retained until all litigation, claims, or audit findings 
involving the records have been resolved and final action 
taken.  2 C.F.R. § 200.333. 

 
c) Records will be destroyed in compliance with Schedule 

10, Schedule 24, and State law.  This includes the 
completion of a Records Disposition Report. 

 
2. Maintenance of Procurement Records  

 
a) The District must maintain records sufficient to detail the 

history of all procurements.  These records will include, 
but are not necessarily limited to the following: rationale 
for the method of procurement, selection of contract 
type, contractor selection or rejection, the basis for the 
contract price (including a cost or price analysis), and 
verification that the contractor is not suspended or 
debarred.   

 



Page 16 of 16 

b) Retention of procurement records shall be in accordance 
with applicable law and Board policy. 

D. Privacy 
 
The District has protections in place to ensure that the personal information 
of both students and employees is protected.  These include the use of 
passwords that are changed on a regular basis; staff training on the 
requirements of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and 
State confidentiality requirements; and training on identifying whether an 
individual requesting access to records has the right to the documentation. 
  
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  



3023 
Record Management and Retention 

 
   
The school district will comply with all federal record retention requirements, 
the Nebraska Records Management Act, and with Schedules 10 and 24 of the 
Nebraska Secretary of State’s Records Management Division.  These 
requirements apply to both physical and digital records.  When permitted by 
Schedule 10 and Schedule 24 of the Nebraska Secretary of State’s Office, 
records will be transferred to durable electronic media for long-term storage. 
 
Special Rules Related to Electronic Forms of Communication. 
Electronically stored information such as e-mail, instant messaging, and other 
electronic communication are important to the district’s overall operation. E-
mail and other forms of electronic communication which is subject to retention 
under the Nebraska Records Management Act may be moved to a storage 
method other that their original format.  Each individual who creates or 
receives electronic communications that belong to or pertains to the operation 
of the district is responsible for determining whether and in what format those 
records must be maintained.  Duplicate records may be destroyed at any time 
prior to the approved retention period. Staff members who are uncertain about 
whether a record should be retained should consult with their supervising 
administrator. 
 
Option 1 - use if the district uses subscription Google Apps but has not 
activated Vault: Due to the nature and volume of forms of electronic 
communication related to the operation of the district, transitory or multiple 
copies of electronic communication will be retained with metadata intact for 
30 days.  After this time, the electronically stored information with metadata 
intact shall be subject to overwriting or deletion from the district’s electronic 
files and records, except as otherwise required by these polices or state and 
federal law. 
 
Option 2 – use if the district has a Subscription to Google Apps with Vault 
activated: The district will archive all Google Apps data with metadata intact, 
except for instant messaging which users determine to be transitory.  Only 
the domain administrator or other designated individual will be able to retrieve 
electronic communication and other electronically stored information which 
has been vaulted. 
 
Option 3 – use if the district uses Office 365: Office 365 allows your system 
administrator to tailor complete data retention policies for data and 
communications inclusive of the Office 365 sphere.  You will need to check 
with your system administrator to see how he or she has set the retention for 



electronically stored information.  If the system administrator has selected the 
minimum retention options, you can adopt Option 1 above and if the system 
administrator has selected complete retention, you can adopt the following: 
The district will archive all Office 365 data with metadata intact, except for 
instant messaging which users determine to be transitory.  Only the domain 
administrator will be able to retrieve electronic communication which has been 
deleted. 
 
Option 4 – use if the district does not use a hosted e-mail service: The district’s 
data storage capacity is limited.  Therefore, electronic communication will only 
be retained on District resources in its original form with its metadata intact 
for a period of 60 days from the date the electronic communication is created.  
 
School-affiliated Social Media Posts.  Communication on school-affiliated 
social media accounts are considered short-term communications pursuant to 
the Records Management Act.  As such, they will be retained in their original 
form on the vendor’s system and will not be deleted by the user for at least 6 
months.  Individuals who are uncertain as to whether a specific social media 
account is “school-affiliated” should refer to the Board’s policy on Staff and 
District Social Media Use contained elsewhere in these policies.   
 
Special Rules Related to Security Camera Footage.  Video footage from 
security cameras is generally considered working papers under the Records 
Management Act, and will be overwritten consistent with the district’s audio 
and video recording policy.  Video footage which captures an event of 
educational or behavioral significance and contains personally-identifiable 
information will be maintained by the school district pursuant to its policy on 
student records.   
 
Student Records.  The retention of student records is also governed by the 
board’s policy on student records.  
 
Records Regarding Pending or Threatened Litigation.  When litigation 
against the district or its employees is filed or threatened, the district will take 
all reasonable action to preserve all documents and records that pertain to the 
issue.  When the district is made aware of pending or threatened litigation, a 
litigation hold directive will be issued by the superintendent or his/her 
designee.  The directive will be given to all persons suspected of having 
records that may pertain to the potential issues in the litigation.  The litigation 
hold directive overrides any records retention schedule that may otherwise 
call for the disposition or destruction of the records until the litigation hold has 
been lifted. 
 



Federal Award Records.  The district will retain federal award records as 
required by 2 C.F.R. § 200.334.  This includes retaining all federal award 
records for three years from the date of submission of their final financial 
report. For awards that are renewed quarterly or annually, the district will 
retain records for three years from the date of submission of their quarterly 
or annual financial report, respectively.  Records to be retained include but 
are not limited to, financial records, supporting documentation, and statistical 
records. 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 



 

Page 1 of 1 

3026 
Handbooks  

 
The school district’s handbooks for students and staff are intended to convey 
information and explain school regulations and procedures that are necessary 
for the school to run smoothly and efficiently.  The district’s handbooks are an 
extension of these policies and have the force and effect of board policy when 
approved by the board of education.  Although the board may approve the 
handbooks annually, the administration has the authority to change the 
contents of any handbook without board approval so long as the changes are 
consistent with board policy.   
 
The administration may provide only the amendment to the individuals 
affected by the change without providing them with the full handbook unless 
required by law. 
 
None of the district’s handbooks creates a “contract” between the school 
district, staff members, parents or students.   
 
If any information contained in any handbook conflicts with board policy or 
state statute, the policy or statute will govern.   
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



3036 
Purchasing (Credit) Card Program 

 
The board approves the use of a purchasing card (credit card) program for the 
purchase of goods and services for and on behalf of the school district.  The 
board will determine the type of purchasing card or cards to be used in the 
program and may contract with a third-party provider as provided by law.   
 
Authorized Purchases.  Authorized users have standing authority to use the 
purchasing card to charge actual, necessary, and reasonable travel expenses 
and [insert other standing authorized expenditures].  Otherwise, the 
purchasing card may only be used to purchase goods and services approved 
by the board or the superintendent or designee.  The maximum amount that 
may be charged in a single day is $[insert amount]. 
 
Unauthorized Purchases.  In no event shall the purchasing card be used for 
personal purchases, purchases that are not school related, alcohol purchases, 
or purchases that are not allowed by law.  Such unauthorized use shall result 
in discipline, up to and including the end of employment.  Individuals who 
make unauthorized purchases shall reimburse the district for the expense 
within ten days of the purchase or the discovery of the unauthorized purchase, 
whichever occurs first. 
 
Authorized Users.  Individuals holding the following titles may be assigned 
an individual purchasing card:  ___________________________________.  
The board may take action at any meeting to authorize additional users or to 
revoke or suspend user privileges.  Such action shall be recorded in the 
minutes.  The school may also maintain a purchasing card in the name of the 
school district.  School district employees may purchase school related goods 
and services with the school district credit card only with authorization from 
the superintendent.   
 
Documentation.  Employees making a purchasing card purchase must 
submit an itemized receipt and a purchasing card receipt to the school district.  
The itemized receipt must include the name of the business, contact 
information, the date, a description of each item sufficient to give the board 
reasonable notice of the item purchased, and the price.  A non-itemized 
credit card receipt alone is not sufficient.  Designated school personnel 
shall maintain the documentation for at least 7 years or as otherwise required 
by Schedule 10 – Local School Districts or Schedule 24 – Local Agencies 
(General Records) maintained by the Nebraska Records Management Division.  
Employees must maintain copies of any documentation submitted to the 
school district. 
 



Suspension or Termination of Privileges.  The board or the superintendent 
(or his or her designee) (1) shall temporarily or permanently suspend the 
purchasing card privileges of any individual that does not submit an itemized 
receipt for each purchasing card purchase, and (2) may temporarily or 
permanently suspend the purchasing card privileges of any individual for any 
other reason.  The individual’s purchasing card account must be immediately 
closed and he or she must return the purchasing card to the superintendent 
or board.  Purchases that are not accompanied by the required documentation 
shall be considered unauthorized, and the individual making the purchase 
must reimburse the district within 10 days of the purchase or the discovery of 
the non-itemized purchase, whichever occurs first.   
 
Reward Points or Rebates.  Any reward points, rebates, or other benefits 
received from the third-party purchasing card company are and shall remain 
the property of the school district.   
 
Purchase Review Procedures.  The superintendent, or his or her designee, 
and _________ will conduct independent reviews of credit card expenses, or 
a sample thereof, on a monthly basis.  Any unlawful or unauthorized 
expenditure or other discrepancy will be brought to the attention of the 
offending employee, if any, and the board.  The superintendent or his or her 
designee will provide the board at each regular meeting with the 
documentation submitted pursuant to this policy or a summary of that 
documentation with a description of each item sufficient to give the board 
reasonable notice of the items purchased.  Any unlawful or unauthorized 
purchase must be addressed as provided in this policy or as otherwise allowed 
by law.   
 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 

 



 
Page 1 of 12 

 

3043 
Design-Build Contracts 

 
This policy is adopted pursuant to the Political Subdivisions Construction 
Alternatives Act (NEB. REV. STAT. § 13-2901 through § 13-2914). 
 

I. Definitions.  For purposes of this policy: 
 

A. Act means the Nebraska Political Subdivisions Construction Alternatives 
Act. 
 

B. Board means the District’s Board of Education. 
 

C. Department means the Nebraska Department of Education. 
 

D. Design-Build Contract (D-B Contract) means a contract which is 
subject to qualification-based selection between the District and a 
Design-Builder to furnish (a) architectural, engineering, and related 
design services for a project pursuant to the Act and (b) labor, materials, 
supplies, equipment, and construction services for a project pursuant to 
the Act. 
 

E. Design-Builder means the legal entity which proposes to enter into a 
D-B Contract which is subject to qualification-based selection pursuant 
to the Act. 
 

F. District means __________ Public Schools. 
 

G. Letter of Interest means a statement indicating interest to enter into 
a D-B Contract for a project pursuant to the Act. 
 

H. NEARA means the Nebraska Engineers and Architects Regulation Act. 
 

I. Performance-Criteria Developer (PCD) means any person licensed 
or any organization issued a certificate of authorization to practice 
architecture or engineering pursuant to the NEARA who is selected by 
the District to assist the District in the development of Project 
Performance Criteria, Requests for Proposals, evaluation of Proposals, 
evaluation of the construction under a D-B Contract to determine 
adherence to the Project Performance Criteria, and any additional 
services requested by the District to represent its interests in relation to 
a project. 

 

J. Project Performance Criteria means the performance requirements 
of the project suitable to allow the Design-Builder to make a proposal.  
Performance requirements include the following, if required by the 
project: capacity, durability, standards, ingress and egress 
requirements, description of the site, surveys, soil and environmental 
information concerning the site, interior space requirements, material 
quality standards, design and construction schedules, site development 



 
Page 2 of 12 

 

requirements, provisions for utilities, storm water retention and 
disposal, parking requirements, applicable governmental code 
requirements, and other criteria for the intended use of the project. 

 

K. Proposal means an offer in response to a Request for Proposals (RFP) 
by a Design-Builder to enter into a D-B Contract for a project pursuant 
to the Act. 
 

L. Qualification-based selection process means a process of selecting 
a design-builder based first on the qualifications of the design-builder 
and then on the design-builder's proposed approach to the design and 
construction of the project; 

 

M. Request for letters of interest means the documentation or 
publication by which the District solicits letters of interest; 
 

N. Superintendent means the District’s Superintendent of Schools, or his 
or her designee. 
 

II. Resolution to Select Design-Build.  The Board shall adopt a 
resolution by a two-thirds affirmative vote selecting the design-build contract 
delivery system prior to proceeding with any of the steps described below. 

 

A. For a project, in whole or in part, for water, wastewater, utility, or sewer 
construction, the resolution shall include a statement that the District 
has made a determination that the design-build contract delivery 
system is in the public interest based, at a minimum, on one of the 
following criteria: (a) Savings in cost or time or (b) requirement of 
specialized or complex construction methods suitable for the design-
build contract delivery system. 

 

III. Selecting and Hiring a Performance-Criteria Developer (PCD) 
 

A. Selecting the Most Qualified PCD for Contract Negotiations.  The 
required procedures for selecting the most qualified PCD for contract 
negotiations differ depending on the magnitude of the District’s estimate 
of the project’s basic construction cost, as described in this section 3.1. 
 

1. Project Cost $896,000 and Below.  For a project whose basic 
construction cost is estimated by the District to be $896,000 or less, 
the District will use the following procedures for identifying the most 
qualified PCD: 

 

a. The Superintendent will solicit statements of qualification from 
potential PCDs.  Such solicitation shall include a general 
description of the project and shall indicate how interested 
individuals or firms can apply for consideration by the District.  The 
Superintendent may, but is not required to, give public notice of 
such solicitation. 

 



 
Page 3 of 12 

 

b. Based on the statements of qualifications and any other relevant 
information that the Superintendent receives, the Superintendent 
shall make a finding identifying the applicant most qualified to 
serve as the PCD for the project based on the applicant’s 
capabilities to perform, adequacy of personnel, past record and 
performance, experience, and such other factors as may be 
determined by the Superintendent to be applicable to the District’s 
particular requirements for the project.  

 

c. Following such finding, the Superintendent shall recommend to 
the Board that it negotiate a contract with the applicant so 
identified. 

 

2. Project Cost in Excess of $896,000.  For a project whose basic 
construction cost is estimated by the District to exceed $896,000, 
the District will use the following procedures for identifying the most 
qualified PCD: 

 

a. The District will encourage individuals or firms who desire to 
provide professional services to the District as its PCD for the 
project to submit a statement of qualifications.  At least fifteen 
(15) days prior to the deadline to respond, the District will publish 
notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the District that it 
is seeking a PCD for a design-build project.  The notice shall 
include the following: 
 

i. A general description of the project; 
 

ii. How interested firms can apply for consideration by the 
District; and 

 

iii. The date by which individuals or firms must submit their 
statements of qualifications; and 

 
iv. A statement that any individual or firm applying for 

consideration by the District must obtain a copy of the District’s 
Design-Build Contract Policy from the Superintendent. 

 

b. To apply to be the District’s PCD, applicants must submit a current 
statement of qualifications to the District.  The statement of 
qualifications must include evidence that the applicant is licensed 
or certified to practice architecture or engineering pursuant to the 
NEARA.  Applicants must update any information provided to the 
District to reflect any changed conditions of the applicant.    
 

c. Applicants shall first be certified by the Superintendent as 
qualified to act as a PCD for the District.  In order to certify an 



 
Page 4 of 12 

 

applicant, the Superintendent shall make a finding that a PCD is 
fully qualified to render the required service.  Factors to be 
considered in making this finding shall include capabilities to 
perform, adequacy of personnel, past record and performance, 
and experience; and may also include consideration of recent, 
current, and projected workloads; equipment and facilities; 
promptness; the quality of work previously done by applicant; 
suitability to the particular task; willingness to meet time and 
budget requirements; and such other qualities as are found 
necessary to consider in order to determine whether or not, if 
awarded the contract, the applicant could perform it in accordance 
with its terms. 

 

d. The Board will evaluate each qualified applicant’s statement of 
qualifications and any other relevant the District has received.  
The Board will conduct discussions with, and may require public 
presentations by, at least three applicants regarding their 
qualifications, approach to the project, and ability to furnish the 
required service. 

 

e. The Board will select, in order of preference, at least three 
applicants deemed to be most highly qualified to perform the 
required services after considering the factors identified above. 

 

B. Negotiating a Contract with the PCD.  The Board shall negotiate a 
contract with the most qualified applicant (identified via the procedures 
above) for professional services at compensation that the Board 
determines is fair and reasonable.  In making such determination, the 
Board shall conduct a detailed analysis of the cost of the professional 
services required in addition to considering their scope and complexity.  
For all lump-sum or cost-plus-a-fixed-fee professional service contracts, 
the Board shall require the applicant receiving the award to execute a 
certificate stating that wage rates and other factual unit costs supporting 
the compensation are accurate, complete, and current at the time of 
contracting. Any professional service contract under which such a 
certificate is required shall contain a provision that the original contract 
price and any additions thereto shall be adjusted to exclude any 
significant sums by which Board determines the contract price had been 
increased due to inaccurate, incomplete, or noncurrent wage rates and 
other factual unit costs.  All such contract adjustments shall be made 
within one year following the end of the contract. 
 

1. Prohibition Against Contingent Fees.  The contract between the 
District and the PCD must contain a prohibition against contingent 
fees as follows: “The PCD warrants that it has not employed or 
retained any company or person, other than a bona fide employee 



 
Page 5 of 12 

 

working solely for the PCD, to solicit or secure this agreement and 
that the PCD has not paid or agreed to pay any person, company, 
corporation, individual, or firm, other than a bona fide employee 
working solely for the PCD, any fee, commission, percentage, gift, or 
any other consideration contingent upon or resulting from the award 
or the making of this agreement.”  Upon violation of such provision, 
the District shall have the right to terminate the agreement without 
liability and, at its discretion, to deduct from the contract price, or 
otherwise recover, the full amount of such fee, commission, 
percentage, or consideration. 

 

C. Effect of Unsuccessful Negotiations 
 

1. If the Board is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with the 
applicant to be the most qualified at a price the Board determines to 
be fair and reasonable, negotiations with that applicant shall be 
formally terminated. The Board shall then undertake negotiations 
with the second most qualified applicant.  If the Board fails to reach 
an agreement with the second most qualified firm, the Board shall 
terminate negotiations with such applicant.  The Board shall then 
undertake negotiations with the third most qualified applicant. 
 

2. If the Board is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with any of 
the selected applicants, the Board shall either select additional 
applicants in order of their competence and qualification and continue 
negotiations in accordance with this policy until an agreement is 
reached or review the agreement under negotiation to determine the 
possible cause for failure to achieve a negotiated agreement. 

 

D. Board-Designated Committee.  The Board may may designate a 
committee to carry out any or all of the Board’s duties under this PCD 
selection and hiring section of this policy, provided that the Board must 
approve any agreement with an applicant prior to its execution.  Any 
such committee must have among its membership at least one person 
who is licensed to practice architecture or engineering pursuant to the 
NEARA. 
 

E. Open Meetings Act.  The public shall not be excluded from the 
meetings or proceedings under this section in accordance with the Open 
Meetings Act. 
 

F. The PCD is ineligible to be included as a provider of any services in a 
Proposal for the project on which it has acted as PCD. 
 

G. The PCD is prohibited from being employed by or having any financial 
or other interest in a Design-Builder that will submit a proposal. 
 



 
Page 6 of 12 

 

IV. Pre-Qualifying Design-Builders 
 

A. Letters of Interest.  The District shall prepare a request for Letters of 
Interest, which request shall: 
 

1. Describe the project in sufficient detail to permit a Design-Builder to 
submit a letter of interest. 
 

2. Be published in a newspaper of general circulation within the District 
at least thirty (30) days prior to the deadline for receiving letters of 
interest; and  
 

3. Be sent by first-class mail to any Design-Builder upon request. 
 

B. Letters of interest shall be reviewed by the District in consultation with 
the PCD.  The District and the PCD will evaluate prospective Design-
Builders based on the information submitted to the District in response 
to the request for letters of interest.  

 

C. The District shall select at least three prospective Design-Builders, 
except that if only two Design-Builders have submitted letters of 
interest, the District shall select at least two prospective Design-
Builders.  Such selected Design-Builders shall be considered prequalified 
and eligible to receive and respond to the RFP.    
 

D. The District and PCD shall use the following standards when selecting 
which prospective Design-Builders to prequalify: capabilities to perform, 
adequacy of personnel, past record and performance, and experience; 
and may also include consideration of recent, current, and projected 
workloads; equipment and facilities; promptness; the quality of work 
previously done; suitability to the particular task; willingness to meet 
time and budget requirements; and such other qualities as are found 
necessary to consider in order to determine whether or not, if awarded 
the contract, the Design-Builder could perform it in accordance with its 
terms. 

 

V. Preparing Requests for Proposals (RFP).  The District, with the 
assistance of the PCD, will prepare the RFP, which shall contain: 
 

A. The identity of the District for which the project will be built and the 
District that will execute the design-build contract; 
 

B. A copy of this Design-Build Contact Policy and all other policies related 
to the D-B Contract; 
 

C. The proposed terms and conditions of the D-B Contract, including any 
terms and conditions which are subject to further negotiation.  The 
proposed general terms and conditions shall be consistent with 
nationally recognized model general terms and conditions which are 
standard in the design and construction industry in Nebraska.  The 



 
Page 7 of 12 

 

proposed terms and conditions may set forth an initial determination of 
the manner by which the Design-Builder selects any subcontractor and 
may require that any work subcontracted be awarded by competitive 
bidding; 
 

D. A project statement which contains information about the scope and 
nature of the project; 
 

E. Project Performance Criteria; 
 

F. Budget parameters for the project; 
 

G. Any bonds and insurance required by law or as may be additionally 
required by the District; 
 

H. The criteria for evaluation of Proposals and the relative weight of each 
criterion; 
 

I. A requirement that the Design-Builder provide a written statement of 
the Design-Builder's proposed approach to the design and construction 
of the project, which may include graphic materials illustrating the 
proposed approach to design and construction but shall not include price 
proposals; 
 

J. A requirement that the Design-Builder agree to the following conditions: 
 

1. An architect or engineer licensed to practice in Nebraska will 
participate substantially in those aspects of the offering which involve 
architectural or engineering services; 
 

2. At the time of the design-build offering, the Design-Builder will 
furnish to the Board a written statement identifying the architect or 
engineer who will perform the architectural or engineering work for 
the design-build project; 

 

3. The architect or engineer engaged by the Design-Builder to perform 
the architectural or engineering work with respect to the design-build 
project will have direct supervision of such work and may not be 
removed by the Design-Builder prior to the completion of the project 
without the written consent of the Board; 

 

4. A Design-Builder offering design-build services with its own 
employees who are design professionals licensed to practice in 
Nebraska will (a) comply with the NEARA by procuring a certificate 
of authorization to practice architecture or engineering and (b) 
submit proof of sufficient professional liability insurance; and 

 
5. The rendering of architectural or engineering services by a licensed 

architect or engineer employed by the Design-Builder will conform to 
the NEARA and rules and regulations adopted under the NEARA; and 



 
Page 8 of 12 

 

 

K. Other information which the District chooses to require. 
 

VI. Notice of RFP.  At least thirty (30) days prior to the deadline for 
receiving and opening proposals, the District shall cause a Notice of RFP to 
be: 
 

A. Published in a newspaper of general circulation within the District; 
 

B. Filed with the Department; and 
 

C. Sent directly to the prequalified Design-Builders only. 
 

VII. Preparing and Submitting Proposals 
 

A. Prequalified Design-Builders shall prepare and submit Proposals as 
required by the RFP. 
 

B. All Proposals shall be sealed.  Proposals shall not be opened until 
expiration of the time established for making Proposals as set forth in 
the RFP. 

 

C. Proposals may be withdrawn at any time prior to acceptance. 
 

D. The District has the right to reject any and all Proposals except for the 
purpose of evading the law.  The District may thereafter solicit new 
Proposals using the same or a different Project Performance Criteria. 
 

VIII. Evaluating Proposals 
 

A. The District may only proceed to negotiate and enter into a D-B Contract 
if there are at least two proposals from prequalified Design-Builders.e 
 

B. The Board shall designate members of a selection committee, which 
shall include at least five persons.  Members of the selection committee 
must include: 
 

1. One or more members of the Board; 
2. One or more members of the District’s administration or staff; 
3. The PCD; 
4. Any person having special expertise relevant to selection of a Design-

Builder or construction manager under the Act; and 
5. A resident of the District other than an individual included in 

subdivisions (1) through (4) of this subsection. 
 

A member of the selection committee designated under subdivision (4) 
or (5) of this subsection shall not be employed by or have a financial or 
other interest in a Design-Builder who has a Proposal being evaluated 
and shall not be employed by the District or the PCD. 
 

C. The District shall refer the Proposals for recommendation to the 
selection committee. 
 



 
Page 9 of 12 

 

D. The selection committee and the District shall evaluate Proposals taking 
into consideration the criteria enumerated in subsections (1) through 
(7) of this subsection with the maximum percentage of total points for 
evaluation which may be assigned to each criterion set forth following 
the criterion.  The following criteria shall be evaluated, when applicable: 
 

1. The financial resources of the design-builder to complete the project 
(up to ten percent); 
 

2. The ability of the proposed personnel of the design-builder to perform 
(up to thirty percent); 

 

3. The character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience, and 
efficiency of the design-builder (up to thirty percent); 

 

4. The quality of performance on previous projects (up to thirty 
percent); 

 

5. The ability of the design-builder to perform within the time specified 
(up to thirty percent); 

 

6. The previous and existing compliance of the design-builder with laws 
relating to the contract (up to ten percent); and 

 

7. Such other information as may be secured having a bearing on the 
selection (up to twenty percent). 

 
NOTE TO BE DELETED:  The percentages listed above must be modified 
so that they add up to 100%.  This can be done directly in the policy, 
at the time the school board designates the Design-Build method for 
a specific project, or at a later time but before the RFP is published 
and sent out. 
 

E. The records of the selection committee in evaluating proposals and 
making recommendations shall be considered public records for 
purposes of NEB. REV. STAT. § 84-712.01. 

e 

F. The District shall then evaluate and rank each Proposal on the basis of 
best meeting the criteria in the RFP and taking into consideration the 
recommendation of the selection committee. 
 

IX. Negotiating a Design-Build Contract 
 

A. The District may attempt to negotiate a D-B Contract with the highest 
ranked Design-Builder selected by the District and may enter into a 
Design-Build contract after negotiations. 
 

B. The negotiations shall include a final determination of the manner by 
which the Design-Builder selects a subcontractor 
 



 
Page 10 of 12 

 

C. If the District is unable to negotiate a satisfactory D-B Contract with the 
highest ranked Design-Builder, the District may terminate negotiations 
with that Design-Builder.  The District may then undertake negotiations 
with the second highest ranked Design-Builder and may enter into a D-
B Contract after negotiations. 
 

D. If the District is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with the 
second highest ranked Design-Builder, the District may undertake 
negotiations with the third highest ranked Design-Builder, if any, and 
may enter into a D-B Contract after negotiations. 
 

E. If the District is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with any of 
the ranked Design-Builders, the District may either revise the RFP and 
solicit new proposals or cancel the Design-Build process under the Act. 
 

F. If the District is able to negotiate a satisfactory D-B Contract with a 
Design-Builder, the District shall file a copy of all D-B Contract 
documents with the Department within thirty (30) days after their full 
execution.  Within thirty (30) days after completion of the project, the 
Design-Builder shall file a copy of all contract modifications and change 
orders with the Department. 
 

X. Formal Protests Relating to the Solicitation or Execution of D-B 
Contracts 

 

A. Definitions.  For this section on “Formal Protests Related to the 
Solicitation of Execution of D-B Contracts” the following definitions 
apply: 
 

1. Interested party shall mean an actual or prospective Design-
Builder whose direct economic interest would be affected by the 
award of a contract by the District to another party or by the failure 
of the District to award a contract to such actual or prospective 
Design-Builder. 
 

2. Protest shall mean a written objection by an interested party on any 
phase of the bidding procurement process, including specification, 
preparation, performance criteria development, RFP, pre-
qualification, ranking, contract negotiations, and award. 

 

B. Right to Protest.  An interested party may protest to the 
Superintendent.  The protest shall be submitted in writing on company 
letterhead within five working days after the event giving rise to the 
protest.  Protests based on alleged apparent improprieties in a 
solicitation or other request for Proposals must be filed before Proposal 
opening or the deadline for receipt of proposals.  In all other cases, the 
protest must be filed within five working days following the selection of 
the Design-Builder.  To expedite handling of protests, the envelope 



 
Page 11 of 12 

 

containing the protest should be clearly labeled "Protest".  The written 
protest shall include as a minimum the following: 
 

1. The name and address of the interested party; 
 

2. Appropriate identification of the relevant solicitation, and if a Proposal 
has been opened, its number, and date of opening; 

 
3. A detailed statement of reasons for the protest; 
 

4. Supporting, exhibits, evidence, or documents to substantiate any 
claims unless not available within the filing time, in which case the 
expected availability date shall be indicated; and a list of all persons 
who have knowledge of facts relevant to the protest; and 

 

5. The action(s) the protestor desires the District to take to resolve the 
protest. 

 

The Superintendent will immediately decide upon receipt of the protest 
whether or not the award of a contract shall be delayed, or if the protest 
is timely received after the award, whether the performance of the 
contract should be suspended.  The District shall not proceed further 
with the solicitation or with the award of the contract and shall suspend 
performance under the contract, if awarded, unless the Superintendent 
makes a written determination that the protest is clearly without merit 
or that award of the contract without delay is necessary to protect the 
substantial interests of the District. 
 

C. Authority to Resolve Protests.  Prior to the commencement of an 
administrative review by the Board concerning any protest, the 
Superintendent shall attempt to resolve any protest filed by an 
interested party concerning any solicitation.  If the protest is not 
resolved by mutual agreement, the Superintendent shall create and 
deliver a Decision to the protestor within a reasonable time after the 
written protest was received.  The Decision shall include a written 
summary of the Superintendent’s investigation and a recommendation 
regarding the outcome of the protest.  The Decision shall (1) state the 
reasons for the action taken, and (2) inform the interested party of their 
right to the administrative review by the Board.  A copy of the Decision 
shall be mailed or otherwise furnished immediately to the interested 
party and any other party intervening protester and all other Design-
Builders.  If not satisfied with the decision of the Superintendent, any 
interested party protester may appeal to the Board, but the decision 
shall be final unless the interested party protester files a timely appeal 
with the Board. 
 



 
Page 12 of 12 

 

D. Board Appeal Procedures. Any interested party protester, within five 
working days of receipt of a decision of the Superintendent, may file 
with the Superintendent a written notice of appeal for an administrative 
review before the Board.  The Notice of Appeal must clearly state the 
action protested and the basis of appeal.  The Board will conduct an 
administrative review at its next regularly scheduled meeting or at a 
special meeting.  The Board shall consider the Decision of the 
Superintendent and shall make the final decision on the protest. The 
Board’s decision shall be final. 
 

XI. Refinements and Changes.  A D-B Contract may be conditioned upon 
later refinements in scope and price and may permit the District in agreement 
with the Design-Builder to make changes in the project without invalidating 
the D-B Contract.  Later refinements shall not, however, exceed the scope of 
the project statement contained in the RFP. 
 

XII. Adherence to Performance Criteria.  Throughout the project, the 
PCD shall remain engaged on the project and shall be responsible for 
monitoring the Design-Builder’s adherence to the Performance Criteria in the 
Design-Builder’s performance of the D-B Contract.  Upon PCD’s observation 
that the Design-Builder’s performance of the D-B Contract has or is reasonably 
likely to materially diverge from the Performance Criteria, the PCD shall 
promptly notify the District of such observation and the basis for the same. 
 

XIII. Projects Excluded.  The District shall not use a Design-Build Contract 
for any construction project excluded by NEB. REV. STAT. § 13-2914 or any 
other applicable law. 
 
Adopted on: _______________ 
Revised on: _______________ 
Reviewed on: ______________ 
 



Page 1 of 3 
 

3047  
Data Breach Response 

 
I. Preparation 
 
A data breach is an instance in which personal information as defined by state 
law or personally identifiable information as defined by federal law is released 
or accessed in an unauthorized manner.  The district will implement and 
maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that are appropriate to 
the nature and sensitivity of the personal information handled by the district.  
In order to ensure compliance with state and federal law; in the event of a 
breach the following preparatory steps shall be taken. 
 

A. Data Governance 
 
The superintendent, or their designee, will create an annually updated 
data directory that will include: 
  

1. Computing devices purchased by the district, 
 
2. Software that is installed on district devices,  

 
3. Approved vendors/contractors that have access to personal 

information or personally identifiable information, 
 

4. Staff members with access to district devices, 
 

5. Staff members with active usernames and passwords for 
any district software. 

 
B. New Devices and Software 
 

Any new software or device that is used in a district building for 
district purposes will be submitted to the superintendent or their 
designee for inclusion in the directory. 

 
II. Incident Response Plan 
 

A. Assessment and Investigation 
 

1. If the District becomes aware of a data breach it will make 
every reasonable effort to remedy the cause of the breach 
as soon as possible.  
 



Page 2 of 3 
 

2. The District will contact its cyber or relevant data breach 
insurance provider in the event of a suspected breach. 

 
3. The District will conduct a good faith, reasonable, and 

prompt investigation to determine the likelihood that 
personal information has been or will be used for an 
unauthorized purpose.   

 
4. This investigation will include, but not be limited to, an 

assessment of what software, hardware, and physical 
documents were accessed; which District personnel had 
access to the compromised data; and what specific data 
was compromised. 

 
B. Notification of Effected Individuals 

 
1. If the investigation determines that the use of information 

about a Nebraska resident for an unauthorized purpose has 
occurred or is reasonably likely to occur, the district shall 
give notice to the affected Nebraska resident.  
 

2. Notice shall be made as soon as possible and without 
unreasonable delay, consistent with the legitimate needs of 
law enforcement and consistent with any measures 
necessary to determine the scope of the breach and to 
restore the reasonable integrity of the computerized data 
system.  

 
C. Notification of Law Enforcement and Outside Organizations 

 
1. Should notice of the breach be required to any individual, 

notice of the breach will be simultaneously sent to the 
Nebraska Attorney General’s office.   

 
2. The Superintendent will determine if the Family Policy 

Compliance Office will be notified of the breach.   
 
3. The Superintendent will determine if the Privacy Technical 

Assistance Center will be notified of the breach. 
 
 
 



Page 3 of 3 
 

Adopted on: _______________ 
Revised on: _______________ 
Reviewed on: ______________ 
 



3057 
Title IX Policy 

 
As required by Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, it is the policy 
of the school district that no person shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded 
from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subject to discrimination 
under any of the school district’s programs or activities, or in regards to 
admission or employment.  Any person may report sex discrimination, 
including sexual harassment.  This report may be made by any means to the 
district’s Title IX Coordinator, who can be contacted at [Office Address], [Email 
Address], [Telephone Number].  Any other inquiries regarding the application 
of this policy should be referred to the Title IX Coordinator.  
 
Definitions.  As used in this policy, the following terms are defined as follows: 

● Complainant means an individual who is alleged to be the victim of 
conduct that could constitute sexual harassment.  

● Formal complaint means a document or electronic submission filed 
by a complainant or signed by the Title IX Coordinator alleging sexual 
harassment and requesting that the district investigate the allegation 
of sexual harassment.  At the time of filing a formal complaint with the 
district, a complainant must be participating in or attempting to 
participate in the district’s education program or activity.  

● Respondent means an individual who has been reported to be the 
perpetrator of conduct that could constitute sexual harassment. 

● Consent for purposes of this policy means the willingness in fact for 
conduct to occur.  An individual may, as a result of age, incapacity, 
disability, lack of information, or other circumstances be incapable of 
providing consent to some or all sexual conduct or activity.  Neither 
verbal nor physical resistance is required to establish that an individual 
did not consent.  District officials will consider the totality of the 
circumstances in determining whether there was consent for any 
specific conduct.  Consent may be revoked or withdrawn at any time. 

● Sexual harassment means conduct on the basis of sex where (1) An 
employee of the district conditions the provision of an aid, benefit, or 
service of the district on an individual’s participation in unwelcome 
sexual conduct; (2) An individual experiences unwelcome conduct 
determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive, and 
objectively offensive that it effectively denies the person equal access 
to the district’s education program or activity; (3) An individual 
experiences a sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence, or 



stalking as further defined below. Any report of conduct not meeting 
these definitions will not require the grievance procedure described in 
this policy.  

● Sexual assault, as defined in 20 U.S.C. § 1092(f)(6)(A)(v), which 
means an offense classified as a forcible or nonforcible sex offense 
under the uniform crime reporting system of the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation: 

o Sex Offenses, Forcible—Any sexual act directed against another 
person, without the consent of the victim including instances 
where the victim is incapable of giving consent. 

▪ Rape—(Except Statutory Rape) The carnal knowledge of a 
person, without the consent of the victim, including 
instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent 
because of his/her age or because of his/her temporary or 
permanent mental or physical incapacity. 

▪ Sodomy—Oral or anal sexual intercourse with another 
person, without the consent of the victim, including 
instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent 
because of his/her age or because of his/her temporary or 
permanent mental or physical incapacity 

▪ Sexual Assault With An Object—To use an object or 
instrument to unlawfully penetrate, however slightly, the 
genital or anal opening of the body of another person, 
without the consent of the victim, including instances where 
the victim is incapable of giving consent because of his/her 
age or because of his/her temporary or permanent mental 
or physical incapacity 

▪ Fondling—The touching of the private body parts of 
another person for the purpose of sexual gratification, 
without the consent of the victim, including instances where 
the victim is incapable of giving consent because of his/her 
age or because of his/her temporary or permanent mental 
or physical incapacity 

o Sex Offenses, Non-forcible—(Except Prostitution Offenses) 
Unlawful, non-forcible sexual intercourse. 

▪ Incest—Non-Forcible sexual intercourse between persons 
who are related to each other within the degrees wherein 
marriage is prohibited by law 



▪ Statutory Rape—Non-Forcible sexual intercourse with a 
person who is under the statutory age of consent 

● Dating violence, as defined in 34 U.S.C. § 12291(a)(10), which means 
violence committed by a person— 

o who is or has been in a social relationship of a romantic or intimate 
nature with the victim; and 

o where the existence of such a relationship shall be determined 
based on a consideration of the following factors: 

▪ The length of the relationship. 

▪ The type of relationship. 

▪ The frequency of interaction between the persons involved 
in the relationship. 

● Domestic violence, as defined in 34 U.S.C. § 12291(a)(8), which 
includes felony or misdemeanor crimes of violence committed by a 
current or former spouse or intimate partner of the victim, by a person 
with whom the victim shares a child in common, by a person who is 
cohabitating with or has cohabitated with the victim as a spouse or 
intimate partner, by a person similarly situated to a spouse of the victim 
under the domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction receiving 
grant monies, or by any other person against an adult or youth victim 
who is protected from that person’s acts under the domestic or family 
violence laws of the jurisdiction. 

● Stalking, as defined in 34 U.S.C. § 12291(a)(30), which means 
engaging in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would 
cause a reasonable person to— 

o fear for his or her safety or the safety of others; or 

o suffer substantial emotional distress. 

● Supportive measures are non-disciplinary, non-punitive 
individualized services offered without fee that do not unreasonably 
burden the parties.  Supportive measures may include counseling, 
extensions of deadlines or other course-related adjustments, 
modifications of work or class schedules, campus escort services, 
mutual restrictions on contact between the parties, changes in work or 
housing locations, leaves of absence, increased security and monitoring 
of certain areas of the campus, and other similar measures.  



Reporting Sexual Harassment.  Any person who witnesses an act of 
unlawful sexual harassment is encouraged to report it to the district’s Title IX 
Coordinator.  district personnel will not retaliate against any individual based 
on any report of suspected sexual harassment.  Any district employee who 
receives a report of sexual harassment or has actual knowledge of sexual 
harassment must convey that information to the Title IX Coordinator as soon 
as reasonably practicable, but in no case later than the end of the following 
school day. 
 
Response to Sexual Harassment 
 
General Obligations.  When the district has actual knowledge of sexual 
harassment in its education program or activity against a person in the United 
States, the district will respond promptly in a manner that is not deliberately 
indifferent.  For the purposes of this policy “education program or activity” 
includes locations, events, or circumstances over which the district exercised 
substantial control over both the respondent and the context in which the 
sexual harassment occurs.  The district's ability to impose discipline for off-
campus misconduct does not necessarily constitute “substantial control” over 
the respondent and the context.  The district’s response to an allegation of 
sex harassment will treat complainants and respondents equitably.   
 
Limitations on Discipline.  No respondent will have disciplinary sanctions 
imposed upon him/her until the conclusion of the formal grievance process 
described below.   
 
Emergency Removal.  Disciplinary sanctions do not include removal on an 
emergency basis where the respondent is an immediate threat to the health 
or safety of another as a result of allegations of sexual harassment.  The 
district also may place any employee on administrative leave during the 
pendency of the grievance process below. 
 
Grievance Process for Formal Complaints of Sexual Harassment 
 
General Obligations.  All Title IX team members and individuals carrying out 
district obligations will comply with the regulatory requirements of objective 
evaluations, avoiding conflict of interest or bias, training, and protection of 
legally privileged information. 
 
Presumption. It is presumed that the respondent is not responsible for the 
alleged conduct until a determination regarding responsibility is made at the 
conclusion of the grievance process. 
 
Grievance Procedure 



 
Time Frames.  The district will resolve grievances in a time frame that is 
reasonably prompt. Good cause for delay may include considerations such as 
the absence of a party, a party’s advisor, or a witness; concurrent law 
enforcement activity; or the need for language assistance or accommodation 
of disabilities.   
 
Range of Possible Sanctions and Remedies. At the conclusion of the 
grievance process, the district may impose disciplinary sanctions and 
remedies in conformance with this and the district's student discipline policy, 
and other state and federal laws. Depending upon the circumstances, these 
policies provide for disciplinary sanctions and remedies up to and including 
expulsion and/or immediate discharge from employment. 
 
Separation of Roles. The decision-maker cannot be the same person as the 
Title IX Coordinator or the investigator(s). 
 
Notice of Allegations.  Upon receipt of a formal complaint, the district will 
provide notice of this policy and the allegations to all parties.  The notice will 
include sufficient details known by the district at that time to provide sufficient 
time to prepare a response before any initial interview. Sufficient details, if 
known by the district, include the identities of the parties involved in the 
incident, the conduct allegedly constituting sexual harassment, and the date 
and location of the alleged incident. The district will provide notice of additional 
allegations revealed during an investigation to the parties.  
 
Dismissal of Formal Complaint.  The district must dismiss a formal 
complaint if the conduct alleged in the formal complaint, would not constitute 
sexual harassment even if proven; did not occur in the district’s education 
program or activity; or if the conduct alleged did not occur against a person 
in the United States. 
 
The district may dismiss the formal complaint if, at any time during the 
investigation or hearing, the complainant notifies the Title IX Coordinator in 
writing that the complainant would like to withdraw the formal complaint or 
any allegations therein; the respondent is no longer enrolled in or employed 
by the district; or specific circumstances prevent the district from gathering 
evidence sufficient to reach a determination as to the formal complaint or 
allegations therein. 
 
Upon a dismissal, the district will promptly send written notice of the dismissal 
and an explanation of that action simultaneously to the parties. 
 
Dismissal of a formal complaint under this policy does not preclude the district 



from taking action under another provision of the district’s code of conduct or 
pursuant to another district policy. 
 
Investigation of Formal Complaint.  When investigating a formal complaint 
and throughout the grievance process, the district will designate and authorize 
one or more persons (which need not be district employees) as investigator(s) 
to conduct the district’s investigation of a formal complaint.  The district may 
consolidate formal complaints where the allegations of sexual harassment 
arise out of the same facts or circumstances. 
 
The district will bear the burden of gathering evidence sufficient to reach a 
determination regarding responsibility.  All parties will have an equal 
opportunity to present witnesses, including fact and expert witnesses, and 
other inculpatory and exculpatory evidence.  The district may not restrict the 
ability of either party to discuss the allegations under investigation or to gather 
and present relevant evidence.  
 
All parties will have the same opportunity to be accompanied by the advisor 
of their choice in any meeting or grievance proceeding.  This policy does not 
relieve the advisor of choice of any other applicable legal obligations or 
limitations.  The district may establish restrictions regarding the extent to 
which the advisor may participate in the proceedings, as long as the 
restrictions apply equally to both parties.   
 
The district will provide written notice of the date, time, location, participants, 
and purpose of all investigative interviews or other meetings, with sufficient 
time for the party to prepare to participate.   
 
All parties will have an equal opportunity to inspect and review evidence 
obtained as part of the investigation if that evidence is directly related to the 
allegations raised in a formal complaint.  The parties will have no less than 10 
calendar days to review the evidence and submit a response.  The 
investigative report will fairly summarize the relevant evidence and the 
investigator will send the finalized report to all parties and their advisors.  
 
Determination Regarding Responsibility.  Before the district reaches a 
determination regarding responsibility, each party may submit written, 
relevant questions of any party or witness.  The decision-maker will provide 
each party with the answers, and allow for additional, limited follow-up 
questions from each party.  Questions and evidence about the complainant’s 
sexual predisposition are never relevant.  Questions about the complainant's 
prior sexual behavior are only relevant if those questions and evidence are 
offered (1) to prove that someone other than the respondent committed the 
conduct alleged by the complainant, or (2) are offered to prove consent and 



concern specific incidents of the complainant’s prior sexual behavior with 
respect to the respondent.  If the decision-maker decides to exclude a 
question because it is not relevant, he/she will explain the basis for that 
decision.  
 
The decision-maker will issue a written determination regarding responsibility 
no sooner than ten days after the parties receive the final investigative report.  
The decision-maker will apply the preponderance of the evidence standard.  
The written determination will include: 
 

● Identification of the allegations potentially constituting sexual 
harassment; 

 
● A description of the procedural steps taken from the receipt of the 

formal complaint through the determination, including any notifications 
to the parties, interviews with parties and witnesses, site visits, and 
methods used to gather other evidence; 

 
● Findings of fact supporting the determination; 

 
● Conclusions regarding the application of the district’s code of conduct 

to the facts; 
 

● A statement of, and rationale for, the result as to each allegation, 
including a determination regarding responsibility, any disciplinary 
sanctions the district imposes on the respondent, and whether 
remedies designed to restore or preserve equal access to the district’s 
education program or activity will be provided by the district to the 
complainant; and 

 
● The district’s procedures and permissible bases for the complainant and 

respondent to appeal. 
 
The district will provide the written determination to the parties 
simultaneously.  If neither party timely appeals, the determination becomes 
final.  If a party appeals, the determination will become final on the date that 
the district provides the parties with the written determination of the result of 
the appeal. 
 
Appeals.  The district will offer both parties the opportunity to appeal from a 
determination regarding responsibility, and from the district’s dismissal of a 
formal complaint or any allegations therein, on the grounds identified below. 
 
Time for Appeal.  Appeals may only be initiated by submitting a written 



Notice of Appeal to the Office of the Superintendent of Schools no later than 
5:00 pm on the fifth calendar day after the written determination is issued. 
The Notice of Appeal must include (a) the name of the party or parties making 
the appeal, (b) the determination, dismissal, or portion thereof being 
appealed, and (c) a concise statement of the specific grounds upon which the 
appeal is based.  A party’s failure to timely submit a Notice of Appeal will be 
deemed a waiver of the party’s right to appeal.  
 
Grounds for Appeal. Appeals are limited to the following grounds: 
 

● Procedural irregularity that affected the outcome of the matter; 
 

● New evidence that was not reasonably available at the time the 
determination or dismissal was made that could affect the outcome of 
the matter; and 

 
● The Title IX Coordinator, investigator(s), or decision-maker had a 

conflict of interest or bias for or against complainants or respondents 
generally or the individual complainant or respondent that affected the 
outcome of the matter. 

 
The district will notify other parties in writing when an appeal is filed; 
implement appeal procedures equally for all parties; and ensure that the 
decision-maker for the appeal is not the same person as the decision-maker, 
the investigator(s), or the Title IX Coordinator.  
 
The district will give both parties a reasonable, equal opportunity to submit a 
written statement that supports or challenges the outcome; issue a written 
decision describing the result of the appeal and the rationale for the result; 
and provide the written decision simultaneously to both parties. 
 
Informal Resolution.  The district may informally resolve allegations without 
completing the grievance procedure with the written consent of all parties.  
The process may not be used when allegations involve an employee harassing 
a student.  As part of this process, the district will provide to the parties in 
writing a notice stating: 
 

● the allegations; 
 

● the requirements of the informal resolution process including the 
circumstances under which it precludes the parties from resuming a 
formal complaint arising from the same allegations; 
 

● that at any time prior to agreeing to a resolution, any party has the 



right to withdraw from the informal resolution process and resume the 
grievance process with respect to the formal complaint; and 
 

● any consequences resulting from participating in the informal 
resolution process, including the records that will be maintained or 
could be shared. 

 
Recordkeeping. The district will maintain the following records for a period 
of seven years: 
 

● Each sexual harassment investigation including any determination 
regarding responsibility, any disciplinary sanctions imposed, and any 
remedies provided; 

 
● Any appeal and its result; 

 
● Any informal resolution and its result; and 

 
● All materials used to train Title IX Coordinators, investigators, decision-

makers, and any person who facilitates an informal resolution process.  
The district will make these training materials publicly available on its 
website, or if the district does not maintain a website, then the district 
will make these materials available upon request for inspection by 
members of the public. 

 
The district will also create records documenting any actions, including any 
supportive measures, taken in response to a report or formal complaint of 
sexual harassment.  In each instance, the district will document the basis for 
its conclusion that its response was not deliberately indifferent, and document 
that it has taken measures designed to restore or preserve equal access to 
the district’s education program or activity.  If the district does not provide a 
complainant with supportive measures, then the district will document the 
reasons why such a response was not clearly unreasonable in light of the 
known circumstances.  The documentation of certain bases or measures does 
not limit the district in the future from providing additional explanations or 
detailing additional measures taken.  The district will maintain these records 
for a period of seven years.  
 
Retaliation Prohibited.  Neither the district nor any other person may 
intimidate, threaten, coerce, or discriminate against any individual for the 
purpose of interfering with any right or privilege secured by Title IX, 34 C.F.R. 
part 106, or this policy, or because the individual has made a report or 
complaint, testified, assisted, or participated or refused to participate in any 
manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this policy.  The 



district will keep confidential the identity of any individual who has made a 
report or complaint of sex discrimination, including any individual who has 
made a report or filed a formal complaint of sexual harassment, any 
complainant, any individual who has been reported to be the perpetrator of 
sex discrimination, any respondent, and any witness, except as may be 
permitted by the FERPA statute, 20 U.S.C. § 1232g, or FERPA regulations, 34 
C.F.R. part 99, or as required by law, or to carry out the purposes of 34 C.F.R. 
part 106, including the conduct of any investigation, hearing, or judicial 
proceeding arising thereunder. Complaints alleging retaliation may be filed 
according to shall be addressed pursuant to Board Policy 2006 (Complaint 
Procedure). 
 
The exercise of rights protected under the First Amendment does not 
constitute retaliation prohibited by this section.  Charging an individual with a 
code of conduct violation for making a materially false statement in bad faith 
in the course of a grievance proceeding under this part does not constitute 
retaliation prohibited under this section, provided that a determination 
regarding responsibility alone is not sufficient to conclude that any party made 
a materially false statement in bad faith. 
 
Notification of Policy.  The district will notify applicants for admission and 
employment, students, parents or legal guardians of students, employees, 
and all unions or professional organizations holding collective bargaining or 
professional agreements with the district of the existence of this policy.  The 
requirement to not discriminate, as stated in Title IX and 34 C.F.R. part 106, 
in the district’s education program(s) or activities extends to admission and 
employment, and inquiries about the application of Title IX and 34 C.F.R. part 
106 to the district may be referred to the district’s Title IX Coordinator, the 
Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights of the United States Department of 
Education, or both. 
 
Publication of Policy.  The district will prominently display on its website, if 
any, and in each handbook that it makes available to applicants for admission 
and employment, students, parents or legal guardians of students, 
employees, and all unions or professional organizations holding collective 
bargaining or professional agreements with the district, the name or title, 
office address, electronic mail address, and telephone number of the employee 
or employees designated as the Title IX Coordinator(s). 
 
Application Outside the United States.  The requirements of this policy 
apply only to sex discrimination occurring against a person in the United 
States. 

 



Scope of Policy.  Nothing herein shall be construed to be more demanding 
or more constraining upon the district than the requirements of Title IX (20 
U.S.C. § 1681) and 34 C.F.R. part 106.  To the extent that the district is in 
compliance with Title IX and 34 C.F.R. part 106, then all of the district’s 
obligations under this policy shall be deemed to be fulfilled and discharged. 
 
 
Adopted on: _______________ 
Revised on: _______________ 
Reviewed on: ______________ 
 



3057 
Title IX Policy 

 
As required by Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, it is the policy 
of the district that no person shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from 
participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subject to discrimination 
under any of the district’s programs or activities, or in regards to admission 
or employment.  Any person may report sex discrimination, including sexual 
harassment.  This report must be made by any means to the district’s Title IX 
Coordinator whose contact information can be found on the district’s website 
and in the district’s student and staff handbooks.  Any other inquiries 
regarding the application of this policy should be referred to the Title IX 
Coordinator.  
 
 
Adopted on: _______________ 
Revised on: _______________ 
Reviewed on: ______________ 
 



Page 1 of 5 

4051 
Staff and District Social Media Use 

 
Social media is an important tool for communicating, keeping up-to-
date with current developments in education, and for conducting 
research to enhance management, teaching, and learning skills. The 
district also uses social media accounts to provide information to district 
stakeholders.  This policy is intended to ensure (1) appropriate use of 
social media by staff and (2) appropriate control of social media 
accounts belonging to or affiliated with the district.  Staff should also 
refer to the district’s policy on Staff Computer and Internet Usage.   
   
I. Personal Versus School-Affiliated Social Media Use 
 

A. Personal Social Media Use 
 

1. The school district will not require staff members or 
applicants for employment to provide the district with 
their username and password to personal social media 
accounts.   
 

2. The district will not require staff to add anyone to the 
list of contacts associated with the staff member’s 
personal social media accounts or require a staff 
member to change the settings on his or her personal 
social media accounts so that others can or cannot 
view their accounts.  
 

3. Staff members whose personal social media use 
interferes with the orderly operation of the school or 
who use social media in ways that are not protected 
by the First Amendment may be subject to discipline 
by the district.  
 

4. Staff members who wish to begin using or to continue 
using the school district name, programs, mascot, 
image or likeness as part of any social media profile 
must notify their supervising administrator of the use, 
and must secure the administrator’s permission to do 
so.   

 
B. School-Affiliated Social Media Use 

 



Page 2 of 5 

1. Any social media account which purports to be “the 
official” account of the school district (e.g., “Bulldog 
Wrestling”), or any of its programs, classes or entities 
will be considered to be an account that is used 
exclusively for the school district’s business purpose.  
Staff members may not use “official” accounts for 
personal use. 
 

2. Staff are required to provide their supervising 
administrator with the username and password to 
school-affiliated social media accounts. 
 

3. Staff may be required to interact with specified 
individuals on school-affiliated social media accounts.   
 

4. When staff use school-affiliated social media accounts 
to comment on school-related matters, they do not do 
so as private citizens and are therefore not entitled to 
First Amendment protections.  They are also not 
allowed to make any press releases or other official 
communications on behalf of the district without prior 
administrative approval.  In other words, staff do not 
speak “for the district” directly or indirectly unless 
specifically authorized and directed to do so. 
 

II. Staff Expectations in Use of Social Media – Applicable to 
Both Personal and School-Affiliated Use 

 
A. General Use and Conditions 

 
Staff must comply with all board policies, contract provisions, and 
applicable rules of professional conduct in their social media 
usage.  They must comply with the board’s policy on professional 
boundaries between staff and students at all times and in both 
physical and digital environments. 
 
Staff must obtain the consent of their building principal or the 
superintendent prior to posting any student-related information in 
order to make sure that the publication does not violate the 
Federal Education Records Privacy Act or any other laws.  Staff 
must also comply with all applicable state and federal record 
retention requirements, even with regard to personal social media 
usage.   
 



Page 3 of 5 

Staff must comply with all applicable laws prohibiting the use or 
disclosure of impermissible content, such as copyright laws, 
accountability and disclosure laws, and any other law governing 
the use of resources of a political subdivision.  Questions about 
appropriate content should be referred to the staff member’s 
supervising administrator. 

 
B. Acceptable Use 

 
 

1. Staff may use social media for school-related 
communication with fellow educators, parents, and 
patrons.  Student communication must be consistent 
with the district’s professional boundaries policies and 
expectations. 

 
2. Teachers should integrate the use of electronic 

resources, which may include social media, into the 
classroom.  As the quality and integrity of content on 
social media is not guaranteed, teachers must 
examine the source of the information and provide 
guidance to students on evaluating the quality of 
information they may encounter.  This includes 
spotting AI-generated content, fakes, spoofs, and 
discerning the quality and reliability of content. 

 
C. Unacceptable Use 

 
1. Staff shall never access obscene or pornographic 

material while at school, on school-owned device or 
on school-affiliated social media accounts. 

 
2. Staff shall not engage in any illegal activities, 

including the downloading and reproduction of 
copyrighted materials.  

 
3. Staff shall not access social media networking sites 

such as Facebook, X, Instagram, Snapchat, and 
TikTok on school-owned devices or during school time 
unless permitted by district policy or preapproved by 
the staff member’s immediate supervisor.  This 
prohibition extends to using chat rooms, message 
boards, or instant messaging in social media 



Page 4 of 5 

applications and includes posting on social networking 
sites using personal electronic devices.   

 
III. School-Affiliated Digital Content 

 
A. General Use and Conditions for School-Affiliated 

Accounts 
 

Staff must obtain the permission of their supervising 
administration prior to creating,  publishing, or using any school-
affiliated web pages, blogs, microblogs, social media pages or 
handles, or any other digital content which represents itself to be 
school-related, or which could be reasonably understood to be 
school-related.  This includes any content which identifies the 
school district by name in the account name or which uses the 
school’s mascot name or image.   
 
Staff must provide administrators with the username and 
password for all school-affiliated accounts and must only publish 
content appropriate for the school setting.  Staff may not provide 
the username and password to school-affiliated accounts to any 
unauthorized individual, including students and volunteers.   

 
B. Moderation of Third Party Content 

 
The purpose of school-related social media accounts is to 
disseminate information. No school-related or school-affiliated 
social media account covered by this policy shall permit comments 
by the public unless otherwise approved by the superintendent.  
All comment functions for applications such as Facebook and 
Instagram must be turned to “off” without this approval. 
 
In the event the superintendent permits content created by 
anyone other than the administrator of the account to appear on 
the account’s pages, such as comments made by students, 
parents, and patrons, the account administrator must monitor the 
content to ensure it complies with this policy.  Posts, comments, 
or any other content made on the account’s pages or tags or links 
to official school accounts on another account may be removed 
when the content meets any of the following conditions: 
 

1. Is obscene, lewd, lascivious, true threat, or appeals to 
prurient interests; 
 



Page 5 of 5 

2. Contains information relating to a student matter or 
personnel matter which is protected under or 
prohibited by state or federal law; 
 

3. Contains fighting words or content that is threatening, 
harassing, or discriminatory; 
 

4. Advocates, promotes, or encourages the use of drugs, 
alcohol, or other prohibited substances; 
 

5. Incites or is reasonably anticipated to incite violence, 
illegal activity, or a material and substantial disruption 
to school operations or activities; or 
 

6. Contains any other threat to the safety of students 
and staff. 

 
The district may restrict access to its official accounts for violations 
of these rules, such as deleting comments or prohibiting 
comments.  Accounts that are not official school accounts are 
those owned and operated by board members and employees for 
their personal use, even if they discuss school matters. 
 
Every official school account administrator must keep a copy of 
any removed content or banned/blocked individual account and 
must provide a copy to the superintendent along with written 
notification for the reason the post has been removed.  All 
questions about the appropriateness of removal must be directed 
to the superintendent. 

 
 

Adopted on: _______________ 
Revised on: _______________ 
Reviewed on: ______________ 
 



4057 
Superintendent Evaluation 

 
The board shall observe and evaluate the superintendent based upon actual 
classroom observations for an entire instructional period at least twice during 
his first year of employment and at least once each year thereafter.  Additional 
evaluations may be conducted at the discretion of the board.  For the purposes 
of this policy, “actual classroom observation” shall mean observing the 
superintendent performing activities that are typical of his or her position.  An 
“entire instructional period” for administrators cannot be defined in terms of 
an instructional period and shall be satisfied by the actual observation of some 
aspect of the superintendent’s work during the semester for no less than 40 
minutes. 
  
Purpose.  The purposes of the formal job evaluation are: 
 

1. To provide a means of rational, structured communication 
between the board and superintendent to create a more 
constructive and effective working relationship. 

2. To provide a basis for commending, rewarding, and reinforcing 
good work, as well as identifying areas where the superintendent 
needs to improve. 

3. To clarify the superintendent’s role and inform the superintendent 
of the board’s expectations. 

 
Dates.  Unless otherwise provided for in the superintendent’s employment 
contract, the first year evaluations should take place (1) at or prior to the 
October board meeting, and (2) at or prior to the January board meeting.  
Annual evaluations shall generally take place during the month before the date 
in the superintendent’s employment contract by which the board must notify 
the superintendent of its intention to consider the nonrenewal or amendment 
of the contract.  In the absence of such a contract provision, the annual 
evaluation should take place at or prior to the March board meeting.  The 
Superintendent shall remind the Board members in writing at least 45 days 
before the date of each upcoming evaluation and shall make his evaluation an 
agenda item for the board meeting. 
 
Evaluation Document.  The superintendent shall submit a recommended 
evaluation document to the board.  The board shall meet and discuss the 
proposed document with the superintendent.  The board may amend and 
adopt the proposed evaluation document.  The board may amend the 
document or adopt a new document without amending this policy.  The 
superintendent shall submit the evaluation document to the Nebraska 
Department of Education.   



 
Evaluation Procedures.  Each board member shall have the opportunity to 
complete a draft evaluation document.  The board president shall compile the 
individual draft evaluations into a single and final evaluation, provide a copy 
to the superintendent, and discuss it with him or her.  If the superintendent’s 
evaluation is conducted at a board meeting, the superintendent’s evaluation 
may be conducted in closed session if it is necessary to prevent needless injury 
to the superintendent’s reputation and if he or she has not requested it be 
done in open session. 
 
Deficiencies.  If deficiencies are noted in the superintendent’s work 
performance, the board shall provide the superintendent at the time of the 
observation with a list of deficiencies and a list of suggestions for improvement 
and assistance in overcoming the deficiencies.  The board shall also provide 
the superintendent with follow-up evaluations and assistance when 
deficiencies remain, a timeline for improvement, and sufficient time to 
improve.  In the alternative, the board may rely upon the superintendent’s 
education, training, and expertise and require him or her to submit a “list of 
suggestions for improvement” or plan of improvement for the board’s 
consideration. 
 
Personnel File.  The evaluation shall be signed by the board president (or 
other member of the board) and the superintendent.  The superintendent shall 
place a copy of the evaluation in his or her personnel file.  The superintendent 
may provide a written response to the evaluation to the board.  A copy of the 
response shall also be placed in the superintendent’s personnel file.  The board 
may meet with the superintendent to discuss the written response. 
 
Policy Limitation.  The evaluation procedures are included in this policy as 
a result of the board’s statutory obligation to evaluate the superintendent and 
do not give the superintendent any rights not provided by statute.  The board’s 
failure to comply with any procedures provided in this policy but not required 
by law shall not prohibit the board from taking any action regarding the 
superintendent’s employment, up to and including the nonrenewal, 
amendment, or cancellation of the employment contract. 
 
 
Adopted on: _______________ 
Revised on: _______________ 
Reviewed on: ______________ 
 



4059 
Behavioral and Mental Health Training  

 
All public school employees who interact with students and any other 
appropriate personnel are required to complete behavioral and mental health 
training with a focus on suicide awareness and prevention training every year.  
The training may include, but need not be limited to, topics such as 
identification of early warning signs and symptoms of behavioral and mental 
health issues in students, appropriate and effective responses for educators 
to student behavioral and mental health issues, trauma-informed care, and 
procedures for making students and parents and guardians aware of services 
and supports for behavioral and mental health issues.    
 
The superintendent will determine the appropriate personnel required to 
receive the training.  The training materials for this training must be included 
in the Nebraska Department of Education’s list of approved training materials. 
The length of the training shall be a reasonable amount as determined by the 
school board.   

 
These employees must complete the training designated by the school district 
or superintendent no later than October 31 of each school year or within 30 
days of their initial employment, whichever is later.  Failure to complete this 
training may subject the employee to employment-related discipline.   
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 



 

Page 1 of 4 

5001 
Compulsory Attendance and Excessive Absenteeism 

 
Required Attendance  
 
Every person residing in the school district who has legal or actual charge or 
control of any child who is of mandatory attendance age shall cause that child 
to attend a public or private school regularly unless the child has graduated 
from high school or has been allowed to disenroll pursuant to this policy. 
 
Mandatory Attendance Age 
 
All children who are or will turn six years old before January 1 of the current 
school year are of mandatory attendance age.  Children who have not turned 
eighteen years of age are of mandatory attendance age.   
 
Exceptions 
 
This policy does not apply when attendance is made impossible or 
impracticable by severe weather conditions or by the mental or physical illness 
of the student or a child whom the student is parenting.  
 
A child who will not reach age 7 before January 1 of the current school year 
may be excused from mandatory attendance if the child’s parent or guardian 
completes an affidavit affirming that alternative educational arrangements 
have been made for the child.  A copy of the required affidavit is attached to 
this policy. 
 
Discontinuing Enrollment – 5 Year Old Students 
 
The person seeking to discontinue the enrollment of a student who will not 
reach six years of age prior to January 1 of the current school year shall submit 
a signed, written request to the superintendent using the form which is 
attached to this policy.  The school district may request written verification or 
documentation that the person signing the form has legal or actual charge or 
control of the student.  The school district shall discontinue the enrollment of 
any student who satisfies these requirements.  Any student whose enrollment 
is discontinued under this subsection shall not be eligible to reenroll in this 
school district until the beginning of the following school year unless otherwise 
required by law.    
 
 



 

Page 2 of 4 

 
 
Discontinuing Enrollment – 16 and 17 Year Old Students 
 
Only children who are at least 16 years of age may be disenrolled from the 
district.  The person seeking to discontinue the child’s enrollment shall submit 
a signed, written request and submit it to the superintendent using the form 
which is attached to this policy.  The district will follow the procedures outlined 
on the attached form in considering requests to disenroll. 
 
Only children disenrolling to attend a exe mpt school may be exempt from this 
policy.  The person with legal or actual charge or control of the child must 
provide the superintendent with a copy of the signed request submitted to the 
State Department of Education for attending exempt schools.  The 
superintendent may confirm the validity of the submission with the State 
Department of Education. 
 
Attendance Officer 
 
Each building principal is designated as an attendance officer for the district.  
Each building principal, at his or her discretion, may delegate these 
responsibilities to any other qualified individual.  The attendance officer is 
responsible for enforcing the provisions of state law relating to compulsory 
attendance.  This responsibility includes but is not limited to filing a report 
with the county attorney of the county in which a student resides. 
Compensation for the duties of attendance officer is included in the salary for 
the superintendent or designee. 
 
Excused Absences 
 
The following absences will be considered excused if they are confirmed by 
communication to the school from the student's parent/guardian: 
 

1. Physical or mental illness of the student (a physician’s verification is 
required after four (4) consecutive days of absence for illness)  
 

2. Severe weather 
 

3. Medical appointments for the student 
 

4. Death or serious illness of the student’s family member  
 

Commented [1]: This sample list is very liberal in what the 
school considers "excused."  Schools that adopt this sample 
list will have very few students who accrue many "unexcused" 
absences.  Boards may eliminate any of these categories of 
excused absence except for illness documented by a 
physician, suspension/expulsion and severe weather.  Boards 
may also add additional requirements before an absence will 
be excused (e.g. require funeral card to verify family funeral, 
etc.) 



 

Page 3 of 4 

5. Attending a funeral, wedding or graduation  
 

6. Appearance at court or for other legal matters 
  

7. Observance of religious holidays of the student's own faith 
  
8. College planning visits 

  
9. Personal or family vacations 

 
Excessive Absenteeism  
 
When a student receives 5 unexcused absences or the hourly equivalent in 
any semester, the Attendance Officer  may send written notification of the 
student’s total absences to the student’s parent or guardian.  When a student 
receives 10 unexcused absences or the hourly equivalent in any school year, 
the Attendance Officer will send written notification of the student’s total 
absences to the student’s parent or guardian and offer to meet with the 
student’s parents or guardians to discuss any barriers to the student’s 
attendance.  When a student receives 15 unexcused absences or the hourly 
equivalent in any school year, the Attendance Officer will send written 
notification of the student’s total absences to the student’s parent or guardian 
and shall schedule a meeting with relevant stakeholders to discuss and 
address any barriers to the student’s attendance, unless the Attendance 
Officer determines that such a meeting would not be productive in facilitating 
the student’s regular attendance. 
 
When a student is absent more than twenty days per year or the hourly 
equivalent and any portion of the absences is unexcused, the Attendance 
Officer may file a report with the county attorney of the county in which the 
student resides.  For example, if the student accumulates 23 days of excused 
absences due to documented illness and is tardy one time, the Attendance 
Officer may file a report with the appropriate county attorney. 
 
Making Up Absences (Optional – Remove or revise based on your 
District’s practices.) 
 
When a student receives [X] unexcused absences or the hourly equivalent in 
any semester, the student shall be required to make up those absences 
through attendance in [insert program].  Absences shall be made up at a rate 
of [insert rate.]   
 

Commented [2]: The board may select any number of 
unexcused absences to trigger the notification and meeting 
requirements. 



 

Page 4 of 4 

Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  



Page 1 of 4 

5015 
Protection of Pupil Rights 

 
The Board of Education respects the rights of parents and their children, and 
has adopted this policy in consultation with parents to comply with the federal 
Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (PPRA). 
 
1. Surveys 

a. Surveys Created by a Third Party 
i. This section applies to every survey: 

(1) that is created by a person or entity other than a 
district staff member or student; 

(2) regardless of whether the student answering the 
questions can be identified; and   

(3) regardless of the subject matter of the questions 
ii. Parents have the right to inspect any survey created by a 

third party before that survey is distributed to their student.  
b. Surveys Requesting Particular Sensitive Information 

i. Sensitive information shall include: 
(1) Political affiliations or beliefs of the student or the 

student’s parent(s); 
(2) Mental or psychological problems of the student or the 

student’s family; 
(3) Sexual behavior or attitudes;  
(4) Illegal, anti-social, self-incriminating, or demeaning 

behavior; 
(5) Critical appraisals of other individuals with whom 

respondents have close family relationships;  
(6) Legally recognized privileged or analogous 

relationships, such as those of lawyers; physicians, 
and ministers;  

(7) Religious practices, affiliations, or beliefs of the 
student or student’s parent(s); or  

(8) Income (other than that required by law to determine 
eligibility for participation in a program or for receiving 
financial assistance under such program), without 
prior written consent of the parent or eligible student.  

ii. No student shall be required to submit to a survey, analysis, 
or evaluation that requests sensitive information. 

iii. If a survey requesting sensitive information is funded, in 
whole or in part, by a program administered by the U.S. 
Department of Education, the school district must obtain the 



Page 2 of 4 

written consent of a student’s parent(s) before the student 
participates in the survey. 

iv. School officials and staff members shall not request, nor 
disclose, the identity of any student who completes any 
survey (created by any person or entity, including the 
district) containing any sensitive information.   

v. Parents have the right to inspect any survey which requests 
sensitive information before that survey is distributed to 
their student.  

c. Survey Inspection Requests 
i. School officials shall inform parents of their right to inspect 

surveys requesting sensitive information before the surveys 
are distributed to any student. 

ii. All survey inspection requests must be in writing to the 
building principal and delivered to the building principal prior 
to the date on which the survey is scheduled to be 
administered to the students. 

iii. The principal shall respond to survey inspection requests 
without delay. 

d.  The district will also comply with any survey requirements found 
in the district’s policy on Parent Involvement in Education Practices. 

 
2. Invasive Physical Examinations  

a. The term “invasive physical examination” means: 
i. any medical examination that involves the exposure of 

private body parts; or  
ii. any act during such examination that includes incision, 

insertion, or injection into the body; and 
iii. does not include a hearing, vision, or scoliosis screening. 

b. Parents may refuse to allow their student to participate in any 
non-emergency, invasive physical examination or screening that 
is: 
i. required as a condition of attendance; 
ii. administered by the school and scheduled by the school in 

advance; and 
iii. not necessary to protect the immediate health and safety of 

the student, or of other students. 
c. This policy does not apply to any physical examination or 

screening that: 
i. is permitted or required by an applicable state law, including 

physical examinations or screenings that are permitted 
without parental notification; 



Page 3 of 4 

ii. is administered to a student in accordance with the 
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. §1400 
et seq.) 

iii. is otherwise authorized by Board policy. 
 

3. Collection of Personal Information from Students for Marketing 
a. The term “personal information” means individually identifiable 

information including: 
i. student’s and parent(s)’ first and last name; 
ii. home or other physical address; 
iii. telephone number; and/or 
iv. social security number. 

b. No school official or staff member shall administer or distribute to 
students a survey or other instrument for the purpose of collecting 
personal information for marketing or for selling that information. 

c. This policy does not apply to the collection, disclosure or use of 
personal information for the exclusive purpose of providing 
educational services to students, such as the following: 
i. post-secondary education recruitment; 
ii. military recruitment; 
iii. tests and assessments to provide cognitive, evaluative, 

diagnostic or achievement information about students; 
and/or 

iv. student recognition programs. 
 
4. Inspection of Instructional Material 

a. Definition 
i. The term “instructional materials” means instructional 

content that is provided to a student regardless of its 
format, printed or representational materials, audio-visual 
materials, and materials in electronic or digital formats 
(such as materials accessible through the Internet).   

ii. The term does not include academic tests or academic 
assessments. 

b. Parents may inspect, upon their request, any instructional 
material used as part of their child’s education curriculum. 

c. Curriculum inspection requests must be made to the building 
principal in writing. 

d. Building principals shall respond to inspection requests within a 
reasonable amount of time. 

 
5. Notification of Rights and Procedures 

a. The superintendent shall notify parents of: 



Page 4 of 4 

i. this policy and its availability upon request from the office 
of the district; 

ii. how to opt their child out of participation in activities as 
provided for in this policy; 

iii. the approximate dates during the school year when a survey 
requesting personal information is scheduled or expected to 
be scheduled; and 

iv. how to request access to any survey or other material 
described in this policy. 

b. This notification shall be given to parents as least annually, at the 
beginning of the school year and within a reasonable period after 
any substantive change in this policy. 

 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 



       5016 
 Student Records 
 
The school district shall manage student records and reports as is necessary 
for effective administration and in compliance with law.  In general "student 
records" shall not include transitory communications such as email, text 
messages, handwritten communication between school and home, and the 
like, and these items will not generally be maintained by the district.  “Student 
records” also shall not include any records created and maintained by the 
district’s law enforcement unit for a law enforcement purpose.  
 
[OPTION 1] For purposes of the district’s compliance with state and federal 
law, and subject to the limitations in the paragraph above, the district 
“maintains” only those student records which are reduced to paper or physical 
format and placed within a student’s file in the district’s central offices or in 
the file pertaining to the student’s special education or Section 504 services.  
Records which can be printed in paper form must be printed in order to be 
“maintained.”  Other records such as video recordings, which constitute 
student records, must be reduced to a physical medium in order to be 
“maintained.”  For example, a video must be put on a compact disk or other 
compatible hardware and placed within the student’s file to be “maintained.” 
 
[OPTION 2] For purposes of the district’s compliance with state and federal 
law, and subject to the limitations in the paragraph above, the district 
“maintains” student records which are printed and kept in the student’s 
physical file or which school district staff have intentionally saved within the 
official school district digital student information system that specifically 
identifies the student for whom those records are maintained.  The school 
district may also use learning management systems, which deliver and 
manage instructional content. The school district maintains student records 
within its student information system but not in its learning management 
system.  The official school district student information system 
is____________ [INSERT YOUR SYSTEM, E.G. POWERSCHOOL, INFINITE 
CAMPUS, ETC.]    
 
 
[OPTION 3] For purposes of the district’s compliance with state and federal 
law, and subject to the limitations in the paragraph above, the district 
“maintains” as “student records” all records, files, and documents which are 
located in any format and within any storage unit of the district, whether in 
hard copy, digital, or otherwise.   
 
Each building principal will assign responsibilities for the preparation and 
maintenance of records and will ensure compliance with the applicable federal 



and state laws, regulations, and record retention schedules regarding their 
storage and use in the building.  No “student record” or record required to be 
retained by the Nebraska Secretary of State’s Record Retention Schedules 
applicable to the district will be destroyed unless it is first saved in a 
retrievable, digital format.  This includes only records required to be kept by 
the applicable Retention Schedules and “student records” as defined by state 
and federal law, and this policy does not prohibit the district from following its 
record expungement procedures for all other records. 
 
Students or their parents, guardians, teachers, counselors, or school 
administrators shall have access to the school's files or records maintained 
concerning themselves or their students. For purposes of this policy, 
“teachers” include paraeducators and volunteers who are providing 
educational services to a student on behalf of the School District.  A school 
official may access, maintain, and use education records containing personally 
identifiable information (PII) when he or she has a legitimate educational 
interest in such.  “School official” includes any agent, volunteer, or contractor 
performing an institutional service or function for which the school would 
otherwise use its own employees and who is under the school district’s direct 
control with respect to their access to, maintenance of, and use of PII from 
student records.  For example, a school official may include, but would not be 
limited to, a teacher or other educator, administrator, supervisor, instructor, 
or support staff member (including health or medical staff and law 
enforcement unit personnel); school board member; volunteer; contractor or 
consultant who, while not employed by the school, performs an institutional 
service or function for which the school would otherwise use its own 
employees and who is under the direct control of the school with respect to 
the use and maintenance of PII from education records, such as an attorney,  
representative of the district’s insurance providers, auditor, medical 
consultant, therapist, or a third-party website operator who has contracted 
with the school district or its agent to offer online programs for the benefit of 
students and/or the district; members of law enforcement acting on behalf of 
the school district; a parent or student volunteering to serve on an official 
committee, such as a disciplinary or grievance committee; or a parent, 
student, or other volunteer assisting another school official in performing his 
or her tasks.  A school official typically has a “legitimate educational interest” 
if the official needs to review an education record in order to fulfill a school-
related professional, contractual, statutory, or regulatory responsibility. 
 
All disciplinary material shall be removed and destroyed upon the pupil's 
graduation or after the pupil's continuous absence from the school for a period 
of three years, and after authorization is given by the State Records Board 
pursuant to state law.  Upon request, the school district will disclose education 
records without consent to officials of another school district in which a student 



seeks or intends to enroll.  
 
Outside agencies such as physicians, probation officers, psychologists, child 
guidance clinics, and other agencies concerned with child welfare who are 
working directly with a child may have access to information pertaining to that 
child with written parental consent or upon issuance of a valid court order.   
 
The school district shall share student data, records, and information with 
school districts, educational service units, learning communities, and the State 
Department of Education to the fullest extent practicable unless otherwise 
prohibited by law.  This includes sharing information with the Department of 
Education necessary to comply with the requirement of state law that all third-
year high school students take a college entrance exam.  Any redisclosure of 
information related to the administration of this exam shall be governed by 
the agreement between the Nebraska Department of Education and the third-
party testing company. 
 
Each year, the school district will notify parents and guardians of their rights 
under this policy and the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act.  
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  



Page 1 of 5 
 

5018 
Parent Involvement in Education Practices 

 
For purposes of this policy, “parent” includes a parent, guardian, or 
educational decisionmaker (a person designated or ordered by a court to make 
educational decisions on behalf of a student). 
 
The school district recognizes the importance of parental involvement in the 
education of their children.  To the extent practicable, the school district will 
make a reasonable effort to make any learning materials, including original 
materials, available for inspection by a parent upon request. 
 
The school district will take the following steps to ensure that the rights of 
parents to participate in the education of their children are preserved. 
 
1. Parents will be provided access to textbooks, tests, activities 

information; digital materials; websites or applications used for 
learning; training materials for teachers, administrators, and staff; 
procedures for the review and approval of training materials, learning 
materials, and activities; and other curriculum materials (“curricular 
materials”) as follows: 

 
a. A parental request to review specific curricular materials (written, 

visual, or audio) should be made to the principal of the building 
where the curricular materials are used.   

b. The building principal will assess the request and determine the 
allowable volume and time frame of the review to prevent 
disruption to the efficient operations of the district.  

c. The purpose of this provision is to allow reasonable access to the 
extent practicable.  Individuals who make requests (a) for the 
purpose of adding staff burden; (b) at an unreasonable frequency 
or volume; or (c) for purposes inconsistent with the efficient 
operations of the district may be denied access to materials.  

d. A parental request to review specific standardized and criterion- 
referenced tests used in the district should be made in writing to 
the building principal.  Copies of the most recent tests used in the 
district will be available for parent review.  Parents wishing to 
review statewide assessments will be provided with sample 
questions and a copy of a practice test, but will not be provided 
with copies of the actual assessment due to testing security.  In 
the case of other secure tests such as the ACT, parents must 
contact the publisher to obtain copies of the test. 



Page 2 of 5 
 

 
2. Parents will be permitted, within district procedures, to attend and 

observe courses, assemblies, counseling sessions, and other 
instructional activities. 

 
a. Parents are invited to make appointments with the building 

principal to visit classes, assemblies, and other instructional 
activities.  The principal shall give permission after determining 
that parental observation would not disrupt the activity.  
Observations that last more than 60 minutes or occur on 
consecutive days are typically disruptive and will not be permitted 
absent unusual circumstances, in the sole discretion of the 
building principal.  

 
b. Parents may contact the building principal to request permission 

to attend counseling sessions in which their child is involved.   
 
3. Parents may request that their children be excused from testing (except 

as provided below), classroom instruction, learning materials, activities, 
guest speaker events, and other school experiences (“school events”) 
that parents find objectionable. 

 
a. Parents must submit this request in writing to the building 

principal for consideration. 
 

b. Building principals may excuse a student from any school events 
at the parent's written request if, in the principal’s professional 
judgment, excusal from the activity would not result in diminution 
of the student’s educational experience.   

 
c. When the building principal determines it appropriate, alternative 

experiences may be provided for the student by the school. 
 
4. Parents will be informed through the student handbook and district 

policies of the manner that the district will provide access to records of 
students. 

 
5. Parents will be informed of the standardized and criterion-referenced 

district testing program.  Parents may request additional information 
from the building principal. 

 



Page 3 of 5 
 

6. Parents will be informed of the circumstances under which they may 
opt-out of state and federal assessments.  

 
a. In accordance with federal law, at the beginning of the school 

year, the District shall provide notice of the right to request a copy 
of this policy to parents of students attending schools receiving 
Title I funds. The District will provide a copy of this policy to a 
requesting parent in a timely manner. 
 

b. State Assessments 
 

State and federal law simultaneously require students to take 
state assessments, with few exceptions, but also permit parents 
to request to opt their students out of these assessments.  
Approval of opt out requests is contrary to the mandatory testing 
laws, so the District cannot “approve” the request.  Parents who 
do not present their child for testing will result in the child 
receiving the lowest score possible on the assessment. 
 

c. National Assessment of Educational Progress 
 
As a condition of receiving federal funds, the District participates 
in the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP).  To 
help ensure that the District has a representative sample of 
students taking the NAEP, which will allow the District to assess 
the quality and effectiveness of its programming on a national 
level, the District strongly encourages all eligible students to 
participate. However, student participation in NAEP is voluntary. 
 
The District shall provide parents of eligible students with 
reasonable notice prior to the exam being administered.  Parents 
wishing to opt their students out of the NAEP assessment must 
notify the district in writing at least three days prior to the exam 
date to ensure that the District can coordinate supervision and 
alternative activities for students who have opted out. 

 
7. Parents will be notified of their right to remove their children from 

surveys prior to district participation in surveys. 
 

a. The principal must approve all surveys intended to gather 
information from students before they are administered to 
students.   



Page 4 of 5 
 

 
b. Students’ participation in surveys is voluntary.  Parents may 

restrict their child from participating in any survey. 
 
c. If the school administers (1) a survey requesting that students 

provide sexual information, mental health information, medical 
information, information on health-risk behaviors, religious 
information, information of political affiliation, or any other 
information that the school board deems to be sensitive in nature 
or (2) a non-anonymous survey requesting students provide 
information relating to drug, vape, alcohol, or tobacco use, the 
school district shall, at least fifteen days prior to the 
administration of the survey, notify parents, guardians, and 
educational decisionmakers of students that are to receive such 
survey.  The notice will be made through the school's electronic 
notification system or by physical mail to the address on file for 
the student.  The notice will describe the nature and types of 
questions included in the survey, the purposes and age-
appropriateness of the survey, how information collected by the 
survey will be used, who will have access to such information, the 
steps that will be taken to protect student privacy, and whether 
and how any findings or results of such survey will be disclosed. 
 

d. Parents have the right to: (1) request that a copy of the survey 
be sent through the school's electronic notification system or 
physical mail to the address on file for the student, (2) review the 
survey in person at the school, and (3) exempt their child from 
participating in the survey. 

 
e. Unless required by federal or state law or regulation, school 

personnel administering any survey shall not disclose personally 
identifiable information of a child. 

 
f. No survey requesting sexual information of a student shall be 

administered to any student in kindergarten through grade six. 
 
g. The district will also comply with any survey requirements found 

in the district’s policy on Protection of Pupil Rights.  
 
8.  The district will make this policy accessible by a prominently displayed 
link on its public website.  Any amended policy will be made accessible within 
a reasonable time of its amendment. 
 



Page 5 of 5 
 

 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  
 



5031 
Student Appearance 

 
General Regulations.  The District prohibits student attire or 
appearance that: 
 

• Causes or is likely to cause a material and substantial disruption 
to the District’s programs and activities. 

• Promotes, depicts, or refers to violence, drugs, alcohol, vulgarity, 
obscenity, illegal activity, hate speech, bullying speech, or 
harassing speech. 

• Includes words, gestures, or images that contain or imply sexual 
content or innuendo. 

• Otherwise undermines the District’s mission to inculcate the 
habits, manners, and values fundamental to civility, community, 
and the educational environment. 

 
The District reserves the right to request immediate attire changes from 
students. The District will require students to adhere to uniform 
standards and/or wear district approved or issued uniforms in order to 
participate in activities. 
 
Altering a student’s appearance or removing or altering a student’s 
attire without consent from their parent/guardian/caregiver is not 
allowed.  Additionally, students’ hair should not be permanently or 
temporarily altered by school personnel.  
 
Cultural and Religious Attire.  Students are allowed to wear religious 
attire, adornments, and other attire associated with race, national origin 
or religion, or tribal regalia.  Additionally, students are permitted to wear 
natural and protective hairstyles including but are not limited to braids, 
locks, twists, tight coils or curls, cornrows, Bantu knots, afros, weaves, 
wigs, or head wraps. 
 
Any person who is a member of an indigenous tribe of the United States 
or another country may wear tribal regalia in any public or private 
location where the person is otherwise authorized to be on school 
grounds or at any school function.   
 
Health and Safety Considerations.  Students may be required to 
wear protective clothing or equipment or otherwise modify their attire 
or secure their hair to ensure the safety of themselves and others.  In 
such cases, a good faith effort to reasonably accommodate students will 
be made to ensure safety without compromising religious beliefs, 



grooming practices, or requiring students to permanently alter their 
appearance.  The least restrictive means appropriate to address the 
identified health or safety concern shall be used.   
 
Health and Safety Accommodation Process. If a health and safety 
standard accommodation is necessary, the District will:  
 

1. Engage in a good-faith effort to reasonably accommodate the 
student and  

2. Notify the student's parent or guardian of such an attempt to 
accommodate the student's appearance or any attire, tribal 
regalia, hairstyles, adornment, or other characteristic associated 
with race, national origin, or religion 

3. Attempt to obtain consent from a student's parent or guardian 
prior to altering a student's appearance or removing or altering a 
student's attire, tribal regalia, hairstyle, adornment, or other 
characteristic associated with race, national origin, or religion. 

 
Recordkeeping.   The District will record efforts made to accommodate 
a student’s appearance, attire, hairstyle, adornment, or other 
characteristics associated with race, religion, sex, disability, or national 
origin. Each record must include: the student’s name; federally 
identified demographic characteristics; date of the occurrence; the 
health and safety standard relating to the accommodation; the nature 
of the accommodation requested; staff involved; communication with 
parents/guardians/caregivers, and; the outcome of the effort. 
 
Enforcement.  Violations of this policy shall be addressed in a manner 
consistent with the board’s policies regarding student discipline.  
  
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  
 



6025 
Student Cell Phone and Other Electronic Devices  

 
[THIS POLICY CONTAINS SEVERAL OPTIONS.  THERE ARE MORE 
PERMISSIVE OPTIONS AND MORE RESTRICTIVE OPTIONS.  YOU 
SHOULD SELECT AND MAKE ANY NECESSARY CHANGES TO ONLY ONE 
OPTION AND DELETE THE REST] 

 
(USE AT SCHOOL OPTION) 

 
Students may use cell phones or other electronic devices while at school, so 
long as they do so safely, responsibly and respectfully and comply with all 
other school rules while using these devices.   
 
By bringing their cell phones and other electronic communication devices to 
school, students consent to the search of said devices by school staff when 
permitted by law. 
 
Students may not have cell phones or electronic devices on while they are in 
locker rooms, restrooms, or any other area in which others may have a 
reasonable expectation of privacy.   
 
The taking, disseminating, transferring, or sharing of obscene, pornographic, 
lewd, or otherwise illegal images or photographs, whether by electronic data 
transfer or otherwise (including things like texting, sexting, emailing, etc.) 
may constitute a crime under state and/or federal law.  Any person engaged 
in these activities while on school grounds, in a school vehicle or at a school 
activity will be subject to the disciplinary procedures of the student code of 
conduct. 
   
While on school property, at a school activity, or in a school vehicle, students 
may not use their cell phones or electronic devices to bully, harass, or 
intimidate any other person as governed by the student code of conduct.   
 
Students shall be personally and solely responsible for the security of their 
electronic devices.  The district is not responsible for theft, loss or damage of 
any electronic device, including any calls or downloads.   
 
Students who violate this policy may have their cell phones or electronic 
devices confiscated immediately.  The administration will return confiscated 
devices to the parent or guardian of the offending student, after meeting with 
the parent or guardian to discuss the rule violation.  Students who violate this 
policy may, at the discretion of the school’s administration, be subject to 
additional discipline, up to and including suspension or expulsion.  



(ONLY BEFORE/AFTER SCHOOL AND DURING PASSING AND LUNCH 
OPTION) 
 
Students are prohibited from using cellular phones or other electronic devices 
while at school, except as provided in this policy or as deemed appropriate by 
a student’s education team. 
 
Students may use cell phones or other electronic devices on school sidewalks 
and in the common areas of the school before and after school, during passing 
periods, and during lunch so long as they do not create a distraction or a 
disruption and comply with all other policies and handbook provisions.   
 
By bringing their cell phones and other electronic communication devices to 
school, students consent to the search of said devices by school staff when 
the staff determines that such a search is reasonable or necessary.   
 
Students may not have cell phones or electronic devices while they are in 
locker rooms, classrooms, or restrooms.  During school hours student cell 
phones or electronic devices must remain in lockers, backpacks, or be locked 
in a personal vehicle.  Students may use cell phones or other technology in 
classrooms only with the express permission of the classroom teacher. 
 
Students are strictly prohibited from sending, sharing, viewing, or possessing 
pictures, text messages, emails or other material of a sexual nature in 
electronic or any other form on a computer, cell phone, or other electronic 
device while at school.  Students who possess prohibited material on their cell 
phone or other electronic device while at school shall be subject to disciplinary 
consequences as articulated by the student handbook. 
 
Students may not use cell phones or electronic communication devices while 
riding in school vehicles, including listening to music, unless they have 
permission to do so from the driver or other adult responsible for their 
supervision.   
 
Students shall be personally and solely responsible for the security of their cell 
phones and pagers.  The district is not responsible for theft, loss or damage 
of a cell phone or any calls made on a cell phone. 
 
Students who violate this policy or other school rules will have their cell phones 
or electronic devices confiscated immediately.  The administration will return 
confiscated devices to the parent or guardian of the offending student, after 
discussing the rule violation with the student and parent or guardian.  
Students who violate this policy may, at the discretion of the school’s 



administration, be subject to additional discipline, up to and including 
suspension or expulsion.  
 

(YONDR BAG OR OTHER STORAGE SYSTEM OPTION) 
 
Students may use cellular phones or other electronic devices while at school, 
so long as they do so safely, responsibly and respectfully and comply with all 
other school rules while using these devices.   
 
By bringing their cell phones and other electronic communication devices to 
school, students consent to the search of said devices by school staff when 
permitted by law. 
 
Students may not have cell phones or electronic devices on while they are in 
locker rooms, restrooms, or any other area in which others may have a 
reasonable expectation of privacy.   
 
Students may not use cellular phones in any classroom unless deemed 
appropriate by a student’s education team.  [INSERT YOUR STORAGE SYSTEM 
HERE; FOR EXAMPLE: The District will provide each student with a Yondr bag, 
and students must lock their cellular phone in the Yondr bag upon entering a 
classroom.  The student may unlock the bag upon exiting the classroom at the 
end of the class period.] 
 
The taking, disseminating, transferring, or sharing of obscene, pornographic, 
lewd, or otherwise illegal images or photographs, whether by electronic data 
transfer or otherwise (including things like texting, sexting, e-mailing, etc.) 
may constitute a crime under state and/or federal law.  Any person engaged 
in these activities while on school grounds, in a school vehicle or at a school 
activity will be subject to the disciplinary procedures of the student code of 
conduct. 
   
While on school property, at a school activity, or in a school vehicle, students 
may not use their cell phones or electronic devices to bully, harass, or 
intimidate any other person as governed by the student code of conduct.   
 
Students shall be personally and solely responsible for the security of their 
electronic devices.  The district is not responsible for theft, loss or damage of 
any electronic device, including or any calls or downloads.   
 
Students who violate this policy may have their cell phones or electronic 
devices confiscated immediately.  The administration will return confiscated 
devices to the parent or guardian of the offending student, after meeting with 
the parent or guardian to discuss the rule violation.  Students who violate this 



policy may, at the discretion of the school’s administration, be subject to 
additional discipline, up to and including suspension or expulsion. 
 

(COMPLETE BAN OPTION) 
 
Students may NOT use cellular phones or other electronic devices while at 
school during school hours.   
 
Any student who is found to be in possession of any cellular phone, or other 
electronic device (AirPods, personally-owned tablet, gaming device, etc.) 
during school hours is in violation of this policy and the student code of 
conduct.   
 
Staff who discover students in possession of a cellular phone or electronic 
device while at school during the school day will immediately confiscate the 
device and turn it into the administration.    
 
In addition to the disciplinary consequences imposed, a parent or legal 
guardian of the offending student must pick up the confiscated devices from 
the office in person. The administration will return the device to the parent or 
guardian, after meeting with the parent or guardian to discuss the rule 
violation.  
 
Students who repeatedly violate this policy may, at the discretion of the 
school’s administration, be subject to additional discipline, up to and including 
expulsion. 
 
 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: _______________________ 



6034 
Concussion Awareness  

 
The Nebraska Unicameral has found that concussions are one of the “most 
commonly reported injuries in children and adolescents who participate in 
sports and recreational activities and that the risk of catastrophic injury or 
death is significant when a concussion or brain injury is not properly evaluated 
and managed.”  
 
The School District will:  
 

a. Require all coaches and trainers to complete a training course approved 
by the Chief Medical Officer on how to recognize the symptoms of a 
concussion or brain injury and how to seek proper medical treatment for 
a concussion or brain injury. 

 
b. On an annual basis provide concussion and brain injury information to 

students and their parents or guardians prior to such students initiating 
practice or competition.  This information will include: 

1 The signs and symptoms of a concussion; 
2 The risks posed by sustaining a concussion; and 
3 The actions a student should take in response to sustaining a 

concussion, including the notification of his or her coaches. 
 

A student who participates on a school athletic team must be removed from a 
practice or game when he/she is reasonably suspected of having sustained a 
concussion or brain injury in such practice or game after observation by a 
coach or a licensed health care professional who is professionally affiliated 
with or contracted by the school. The student will not be permitted to 
participate in any school supervised team athletic activities involving physical 
exertion, including practices or games, until the student: 
 

a. has been evaluated by a licensed health care professional; 
 

b. has received written and signed clearance to resume participation in 
athletic activities from the licensed health care professional; and 
 

c. has submitted the written and signed clearance to resume 
participation in athletic activities to the school accompanied by 
written permission to resume participation from the student’s parent 
or guardian. 

 



If a student is reasonably suspected after observation of having sustained a 
concussion or brain injury and is removed from an athletic activity, the parent 
or guardian of the student will be notified by the school of: 
 

a. the date and approximate time of the injury suffered by the student, 
 

b. the signs and symptoms of a concussion or brain injury that were 
observed, and 
 

c. any actions taken to treat the student. 
 
The school district will not provide for the presence of a licensed health care 
professional at any practice or game. 
 
School officials shall deem the signature of an individual who represents that 
he/she is a licensed health care professional on a written clearance to resume 
participation that is provided to the school to be conclusive and reliable 
evidence that the individual who signed the clearance is a licensed health care 
professional. The school will not take any additional or independent steps to 
verify the individual’s qualifications. 
 
Students who have sustained a concussion and returned to school may need 
informal or formal accommodations, modifications of curriculum, and 
monitoring by medical or academic staff until the student is fully recovered.  
The school's "return to learn protocol" shall follow the model provided by the 
Nebraska Department of Education. Nothing in this policy or the referenced 
protocol shall entitle a student who has sustained a concussion to an 
individualized plan under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, although staff 
will refer students who have sustained a concussion for evaluation under 
Section 504 as appropriate.   
 

 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  



 

 
Page 1 of 1 

 6044 
 Participation and Assignment of Athletic Teams  
 
Designation of Athletic Team or Sport.  The terms male, female, and coed 
are defined as provided by state law.  All athletic and sports teams of the 
district are hereby designated as male, female, or coed as follows: 
 

Sport/Team Designation 
Football Male 
Volleyball Female 
Cross Country Male and Female Teams 
Golf Male and Female Teams 
Basketball Male and Female Teams 
Wrestling Male and Female Teams 
Track Male and Female Teams 
Track and Unified Track Male, Female, and Coed Teams 
Bowling and Unified Bowling Male, Female, and Coed Teams 
Baseball Male 
Softball Female 
[INSERT ALL OF YOUR SPORTS]  

 
Participation on Assigned Teams.  Males shall not participate on teams 
designated for females.  Females may only participate on male teams when 
there is no female team offered or available for such sport.  Males and females 
may participate on coed teams and in coed events as long as their participation 
is consistent with the eligibility and other rules of that team or event. 
 
Determination of Student Sex.  To determine eligibility, a student and the 
student’s parent or guardian shall provide the district with confirmation of the 
student’s sex on a document signed by a doctor or signed under authority of 
a doctor. 
 
Conduct of Visitors and the Public.  Visitors and members of the public 
attending district interscholastic team activities are expected to comply with 
all district policies and practices, including sportsmanship rules. 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 



6045 
Behavioral Intervention 

General Approach. The district utilizes a tiered system of support to foster 
a positive school climate and culture, encourage appropriate student behavior, 
and provide the necessary supports for academic and behavioral success. 
  
Interaction with Student Discipline Policy.  This policy does not replace 
the Student Discipline policy or limit the District’s authority under the Student 
Discipline Act when behaviors warrant action under that policy or Act. 
 
Classroom Removal.  Students may be removed from the classroom if the 
student poses a threat to their own safety, the safety of others, or the 
environment or if the student’s behavior is disruptive to the learning 
environment.  When appropriate, prior to removal staff should consider the 
use of de-escalation techniques, behavior redirection, or other Tier 1 or Tier 2 
or comparable interventions.  
  
When classroom removal is appropriate, the District will consider whether the 
student requires additional support to transition back to the classroom and 
continue to monitor the student’s behavior to adjust interventions and 
supports as needed.  
 
Required Training.  The School District, independently or through the 
educational service unit, will develop and provide behavioral awareness and 
intervention training to employees with behavioral management 
responsibilities.  Each employee with behavior management responsibilities 
must complete the behavioral awareness and intervention training during the 
2026-27 school year or during the first year of employment with the district. 
The length of such training will be at least X hours. 
 
Behavioral Awareness Point of Contact (BAPC). Each school building 
must designate one or more school employees as a BAPC.  Each BAPC must 
have knowledge of community services providers and other resources 
available for students and families.  Each BAPC must coordinate access to 
support services for students. 
 
The BAPC will be identified on the district website and in the school directory. 
 
Adopted on: _______________ 
Revised on: _______________ 
Reviewed on: ______________ 
 
 



     ALICAP Inspection Report 
 
Member School District:  Overton Public Schools 
Date of Inspection:  May 1, 2025 
NASB Loss Prevention Consultant:  Ken Navratil 
Key person(s) met with: Mark Aten, Superintendent 
Phone Number:  308-987-2424  
Email:  mark.aten@overtoneagles.org 
 

“Experience Modifier” and worker injury history: 
 
Your 2024-2025 “Experience Modifier” is 0.79.  Last year it was 0.76.  Excellent safety record!! 
 

Cyber Security Coverage: 
 
ALICAP reminds members to continue to work with your IT Director and/or ESU to implement the 5 
critical controls necessary to qualify for Cyber Security coverage.  Your district has not qualified for 
coverage yet.  Keep working at it. 
 

If you need more information contact: 
 Daniel Shonka 
 402-884-3751  Ext. 2 
 daniel.shonka@prmne.com 

 

Safety Committees:   
 
There are two sets of regulations that guide your safety committees.  We recommend that your safety 
committees have separate agendas for each meeting. 

(1) The Nebraska Department of Education Rule 10 requires school districts to have a “Safety and 
Security Committee.”  This committee is composed of administrators, teachers, staff, parents, and 
students.  The committee is required to meet at least once a year.  The focus of this committee is 
to develop a “Safety and Security Plan” for their school district to properly respond to a crisis or 
emergency.  Rule 10 also requires a school district to bring in an outside person to conduct an 
annual safety review and submit a written report to the superintendent.  Keep documentation of 
the meetings of the meetings for at least seven years. 

(2) The state and federal worker safety laws are codified in Nebraska Statute 48-443.  This law 
requires school districts to have a “Workplace Safety Committee” that has representation from 
each work department and meets quarterly.  The focus of this committee is on the day-to-day 
safety of the workers and students.  Keep documentation of the meetings for at least three years. 

 

Safety Trainings:  
 
We recommend utilizing the “SafeSchools” online safety training videos from ALICAP.  We recommend 
including “Slips, Trips, and Falls” and “Lifting:  Back and Shoulder Injuries” to your rotation of safety 
trainings.  We also recommend the 8 new trainings on “Cyber Security.”  The “Phishing Training” is 
especially beneficial for schools. 



 
Monthly ‘Risk Alerts’ from ALICAP are forwarded to all school employees. 
 
All school employees that have contact with students have taken the Nebraska Department of Education 
required suicide awareness/prevention training.  (The SafeSchools online safety training now meets this 
requirement.) 
 
Each certificated school employee participates in a minimum of one hour of self-study review of seizure 
disorder materials at least once every two years.  (The Safeschools online safety training meets this 
requirement.) 
 
Employee and student orientation efforts address sexual abuse, sexual harassment, and appropriate 
communication via social media for staff and students. 
 
All coaches and extra-duty sponsors have taken the ‘concussion protocol’ and ‘heat acclimation’ training 
prior to the start of the fall sports season. 
 
Job descriptions are reviewed annually and define ‘lifting requirements’ where appropriate. 
 
The school district conducts and documents all required drills: 

(1) Fire drills are conducted once a month with one additional drill the first 30 days of school; 
(2) Tornado drills are conducted during the first two weeks of school and once in March; and 
(3) Bus evacuation drills are conducted once during the first month of school and once in January. 

 
The school building fire alarm system is connected to the local fire department. 
 
Local law enforcement and fire department are familiar with the school building(s). 
 
The school district has adopted the “I Love You Guys” standard response protocol recommended by the 
Nebraska Department of Education. 
 
We recommend that school personnel conduct WEEKLY inspections of the playground(s) and document 
each inspection.   
 
We recommend that school administrators and maintenance personnel conduct regular monthly 
inspections of the buildings and grounds.  Document each inspection. 
 
We recommend that all coaches and extra-duty sponsors know where the main water shut-off valve is. 
 
Cables and belts supporting the basketball baskets in the gym should be inspected every year.  (The 
warranty is probably guaranteed for 10 years.) 
 
Does your district still utilize MSDS Sheets?  If you do, are they placed in a common known location, 
assessable in an emergency situation and organized in a manner which allows for quick reference?  Has 
your district considered the ‘Safety Data Sheets’ program, where these previous MSDS documents can be 
housed online?  It is FREE to all ALICAP members.  If interested, call Megan Boldt at 1-800-422-4572. 
 
Is your school district participating in ‘High Risk Activities?’  See handout. 
 



Exterior Grounds: 
 

(1) Football Field/Athletic Field 
a.  The football field/athletic field appears in good condition. 
b. Metal frame bleachers appear in good condition. 
c. Press box appears in good condition. 

(2) Playground(s) 
a. The playground equipment appears in good condition 
b. The concrete pad (for basketball) appears in good condition 
c. The fencing around the playground appears in good condition 
d. No hazards were noted in the play area 
e. A program for weekly inspection of the playground site should be in place 

(3) Sidewalks 
a. We recommend that each year you replace portions of sidewalks that are deteriorating in 

order to stay ahead of any problem areas. 
 
 
General Interior of the School Building: 
 
The school building has a controlled entry system (buzz-in with camera ID). 
 
The school building has multiple surveillance cameras and recording equipment. 
 
**New classroom doors for 18 high school classrooms.  Excellent!! 
 
The fire alarm system is inspected twice a year and is connected to the local fire department. 
 
All fire extinguishers are inspected annually by a qualified person and monthly operational checks are 
performed by in-house personnel (tags are initialed and dated). 
 
All exit lights appear to be in working condition. 
 
Emergency lights appear to be in working condition and should be tested monthly (fire code). 
 
The classrooms are well-organized.  Seating arrangements allow for all students to exit easily. 
 
Fire routes and the route to the tornado shelter(s) are posted in the classrooms and offices. 
 
Tornado shelters are identified with proper signage.  In two of the tornado shelters you may want to 
create a temporary bathroom (curtains/partition and bottled water). 
 
There were no electrical cords on the classroom floors or in the offices that would be considered a 
tripping hazard. 
 
The exits and hallways were not blocked or obstructed. 
 
The hallway rugs near Door #8 are old and ‘curling up’ and are a tripping hazard. 
 



Art classroom – The kiln is in a separate room and properly vented (fire code).  
 
Gym and Weight Room – OK – You may want to consider posting several signs that say “No Lifting 
Without a Spotter.” 
 
Band/Vocal Music room – OK   
 
Family and Consumer Science – OK. 
 
In the high school Science classroom, there is an eye-wash station, fire extinguisher, fire blanket, and first 
aid kit.  There is an easily located gas shut-off valve.  The electrical outlets are properly grounded.  The 
corrosive acids are stored in an approved lockable composite material cabinet and identified with proper 
signage.  Flammable chemicals are stored in a lockable metal cabinet and identified with proper signage. 
 
In the Woods/Metals/FFA work area, the power tools are properly grounded, the electrical cords are not 
frayed, and the manufacturer’s guards are in place.  The ventilation system above the welders is a hole in 
the wall with an exhaust fan – this is not a good system.  There is a fire extinguisher.  There are no 
‘home-made’ power tools being used by students/staff. 
 

Mechanical/Storage/Kitchen: 
 
The boiler system has been inspected and the current inspection certificate is posted in the boiler room.  
The boiler system has an emergency shut-off.  There is a fire extinguisher in the boiler room.   
 
There is easy access to the main water shut-off valve and the main electrical shut-off panels. 
 
The storage rooms are well organized.  Try to add more ‘shelving’ whenever possible to keep things off 
the floor.  Items on the floor become tripping hazards. 
 
The kitchen is a large, well-organized area.  There is an approved hood system and hood extinguishing 
system that is inspected annually.  I did not see any standing water or tripping hazards.  The food storage 
area is well-organized. 
 

Recommendations: 
1. You have installed 18 new classroom doors in the high school.  Excellent!!  A much needed 

improvement. 
2. Your district has not achieved ‘Qualified’ status for cyber security renewal.  Work with Daniel 

Shonka (daniel.shoka@prmne.com or 402-884-3751 Ext. 2)   
3. If your district still utilizes the MSDS sheets, you should consider the ‘Safety Data Sheets’ 

program, where these previous MSDS documents can be housed online.  It is FREE to all ALICAP 
members.  If interested, call Megan Boldt at 1-800-422-4572. 

4. We recommend utilizing the “SafeSchools” online safety training videos.  We recommend 
including “Slips, Trips, and Falls” and “Lifting:  Back and Shoulder Injuries” to your rotation of 
safety trainings for the entire staff.  We also recommend the new training videos on cyber 
security. 

5. The ventilation system in the welding area is very old.  It is a hole in the wall with a small exhaust 
fan.  A new system should be in your future plans. 



6. The hallway rugs near Door #8 are old and ‘curling up’ causing a tripping hazard.  You should 
consider replacing these old rugs. 

7. The popcorn popper in the concession stand is starting to get a grease buildup and should be 
cleaned this summer. 

8. Two of the tornado shelters do not have bathroom facilities.  You may want to consider creating 
temporary bathrooms (curtain/partition) in these two shelters. 

9. We recommend that all coaches and extra-duty sponsors know where the main water shut-off 
valve is located.  If they detect a water leak, they will know how to stop it and save a lot of 
damage from happening. 

10. The playground looks in good condition.  You should document weekly inspections of the 
playground. 

11. We recommend that each year you replace deteriorating concrete sidewalks – stay ahead of any 
problems. 

12. We recommend that you add shelving to your storage areas whenever possible to keep things off 
the floor.  Items on the floor become tripping hazards. 

 
 
Reminders: 

(1) ALICAP’s website/portal/platform has your district’s Coverage Memo, Auto ID Cards, SafeSchools 
Training Status, Claims counts/dollars all in one site. 

(2) ALICAP is providing a Work Comp Claims Nurse’s Line.  If any employee gets hurt at work, he or 
she (along with their supervisor) can call the nurse’s line for assistance.  The phone number is 1-
855-364-9865. 

 
Phone Numbers: 
 
 Megan Boldt   402-422-4572 (office)  402-450-1487 (cell) 
 Sherri Shonka   877-649-4612 (office)  402-630=2460 (cell) 
 Maurice Anderson      402-955-9903 (cell) 
 Jay Martin (Dept. of Ed.) 402-471-2295 (office)  402-471-2944 (cell) 
 
 
Because it is solely your responsibility to make safety and health inspections and take whatever actions may be necessary to prevent losses, enforce safety 
procedures, detect and eliminate hazardous conditions and comply with any federal, state or local law, annual NDE Rule 10 review or any other rule or 
regulation concerning safety or health, we must advise you that by conduction of surveys and issuing recommendation or reports, ALICAP does not undertake 
to render services or assume a duty to you or for your benefit or to any third person or for that person’s benefit.  ALICAP’s surveys, recommendations and 
reports are made solely for the purpose of aiding us in reducing our losses and are not intended to detect or point out all the hazardous conditions on your 
property or in your operations.  There may be hazardous conditions on your property or in your operations which have not been either detected or pointed 
out to you.  You must not rely solely on ALICAP’s surveys, recommendations or reports to discover any hazardous conditions as it is your responsibility to do 
so. 

 
 
 





Overton Public School
2025-2026 Budget Information
Valuation and Levy Estimates

15.000%
2024-2025 Tax Request 2025 2024-2025 Levy Tax Request Increase 12.000%

3,668,177.00$                        418,122,150.00$                          0.877298 25,000.00$                     10.000%
8.000%

2024 Valuation
418,122,150.00$                          

2024-2025 Tax Request 2025 Estimated Valuation 2024-2025 Levy Valuation % Change Commission 1.0% Commission Dollar Request Increase Total Tax Asking
3,668,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.7704964 15.00% 1.00% 36,681.77$           36,681.77$                            3,704,858.77$         
3,693,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.7757477 15.00% 1.00% 36,931.77$           61,931.77$                            3,730,108.77$         
3,718,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.7809989 15.00% 1.00% 37,181.77$           87,181.77$                            3,755,358.77$         
3,743,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.7862501 15.00% 1.00% 37,431.77$           112,431.77$                          3,780,608.77$         
3,768,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.7915013 15.00% 1.00% 37,681.77$           137,681.77$                          3,805,858.77$         
3,793,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.7967526 15.00% 1.00% 37,931.77$           162,931.77$                          3,831,108.77$         
3,818,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.8020038 15.00% 1.00% 38,181.77$           188,181.77$                          3,856,358.77$         
3,843,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.8072550 15.00% 1.00% 38,431.77$           213,431.77$                          3,881,608.77$         
3,868,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.8125062 15.00% 1.00% 38,681.77$           238,681.77$                          3,906,858.77$         
3,893,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.8177574 15.00% 1.00% 38,931.77$           263,931.77$                          3,932,108.77$         
3,918,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.8230087 15.00% 1.00% 39,181.77$           289,181.77$                          3,957,358.77$         
3,943,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.8282599 15.00% 1.00% 39,431.77$           314,431.77$                          3,982,608.77$         
3,968,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.8335111 15.00% 1.00% 39,681.77$           339,681.77$                          4,007,858.77$         
3,993,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.8387623 15.00% 1.00% 39,931.77$           364,931.77$                          4,033,108.77$         
4,018,177.00$                        480,840,472.50$                          0.8440136 15.00% 1.00% 40,181.77$           390,181.77$                          4,058,358.77$         

2024 Valuation
418,122,150.00$                          12.00%

2024-2025 Tax Request 2025 Estimated Valuation 2024-2025 Levy Valuation % Change Commission 1.0% Commission Dollar Request Increase
3,668,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.791135 12.00% 1.00% 36,681.77$           36,681.77$                            3,704,858.77$         
3,693,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.796527 12.00% 1.00% 36,931.77$           61,931.77$                            3,730,108.77$         
3,718,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.801919 12.00% 1.00% 37,181.77$           87,181.77$                            3,755,358.77$         
3,743,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.807310 12.00% 1.00% 37,431.77$           112,431.77$                          3,780,608.77$         
3,768,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.812702 12.00% 1.00% 37,681.77$           137,681.77$                          3,805,858.77$         
3,793,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.818094 12.00% 1.00% 37,931.77$           162,931.77$                          3,831,108.77$         
3,818,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.823486 12.00% 1.00% 38,181.77$           188,181.77$                          3,856,358.77$         
3,843,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.828878 12.00% 1.00% 38,431.77$           213,431.77$                          3,881,608.77$         
3,868,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.834270 12.00% 1.00% 38,681.77$           238,681.77$                          3,906,858.77$         
3,893,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.839662 12.00% 1.00% 38,931.77$           263,931.77$                          3,932,108.77$         
3,918,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.845054 12.00% 1.00% 39,181.77$           289,181.77$                          3,957,358.77$         
3,943,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.850445 12.00% 1.00% 39,431.77$           314,431.77$                          3,982,608.77$         
3,968,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.855837 12.00% 1.00% 39,681.77$           339,681.77$                          4,007,858.77$         
3,993,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.861229 12.00% 1.00% 39,931.77$           364,931.77$                          4,033,108.77$         
4,018,177.00$                        468,296,808.00$                          0.866621 12.00% 1.00% 40,181.77$           390,181.77$                          4,058,358.77$         

2024 Valuation
418,122,150.00$                          10.00%

2024-2025 Tax Request 2025 Estimated Valuation 2024-2025 Levy Valuation % Change Commission 1.0% Commission Dollar Request Increase
3,668,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.805519 10.00% 1.00% 36,681.77$           36,681.77$                            3,704,858.77$         
3,693,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.811009 10.00% 1.00% 36,931.77$           61,931.77$                            3,730,108.77$         
3,718,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.816499 10.00% 1.00% 37,181.77$           87,181.77$                            3,755,358.77$         
3,743,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.821989 10.00% 1.00% 37,431.77$           112,431.77$                          3,780,608.77$         
3,768,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.827479 10.00% 1.00% 37,681.77$           137,681.77$                          3,805,858.77$         
3,793,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.832969 10.00% 1.00% 37,931.77$           162,931.77$                          3,831,108.77$         
3,818,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.838458 10.00% 1.00% 38,181.77$           188,181.77$                          3,856,358.77$         
3,843,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.843948 10.00% 1.00% 38,431.77$           213,431.77$                          3,881,608.77$         
3,868,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.849438 10.00% 1.00% 38,681.77$           238,681.77$                          3,906,858.77$         
3,893,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.854928 10.00% 1.00% 38,931.77$           263,931.77$                          3,932,108.77$         
3,918,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.860418 10.00% 1.00% 39,181.77$           289,181.77$                          3,957,358.77$         
3,943,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.865908 10.00% 1.00% 39,431.77$           314,431.77$                          3,982,608.77$         
3,968,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.871398 10.00% 1.00% 39,681.77$           339,681.77$                          4,007,858.77$         
3,993,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.876888 10.00% 1.00% 39,931.77$           364,931.77$                          4,033,108.77$         
4,018,177.00$                        459,934,365.00$                          0.882378 10.00% 1.00% 40,181.77$           390,181.77$                          4,058,358.77$         

2024 Valuation
418,122,150.00$                          8.00%

2024-2025 Tax Request 2025 Estimated Valuation 2024-2025 Levy Valuation % Change Commission 1.0% Commission Dollar Request Increase
3,668,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.820436 8.00% 1.00% 36,681.77$           36,681.77$                            3,704,858.77$         
3,693,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.826028 8.00% 1.00% 36,931.77$           61,931.77$                            3,730,108.77$         
3,718,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.831619 8.00% 1.00% 37,181.77$           87,181.77$                            3,755,358.77$         
3,743,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.837211 8.00% 1.00% 37,431.77$           112,431.77$                          3,780,608.77$         
3,768,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.842802 8.00% 1.00% 37,681.77$           137,681.77$                          3,805,858.77$         
3,793,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.848394 8.00% 1.00% 37,931.77$           162,931.77$                          3,831,108.77$         
3,818,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.853986 8.00% 1.00% 38,181.77$           188,181.77$                          3,856,358.77$         
3,843,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.859577 8.00% 1.00% 38,431.77$           213,431.77$                          3,881,608.77$         
3,868,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.865169 8.00% 1.00% 38,681.77$           238,681.77$                          3,906,858.77$         
3,893,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.870760 8.00% 1.00% 38,931.77$           263,931.77$                          3,932,108.77$         
3,918,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.876352 8.00% 1.00% 39,181.77$           289,181.77$                          3,957,358.77$         
3,943,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.881943 8.00% 1.00% 39,431.77$           314,431.77$                          3,982,608.77$         
3,968,177.00$                        451,571,922.00$                          0.887535 8.00% 1.00% 39,681.77$           339,681.77$                          4,007,858.77$         



Overton Public School
Financial Information
Fund Securities

Accounts Funds Available FDIC Coverage Securities Coverage Date
Non-Interest Bearing 711,371.48$                250,000.00$         461,371.48$        711,371.48$            6/2/2025
Interest Bearing 6,599,535.69$             250,000.00$         6,349,535.69$     6,599,535.69$         
Total Funds 7,310,907.17$             500,000.00$         6,810,907.17$     7,310,907.17$         

Total Funds Available 7,310,907.17$             
Securities/Insurance 7,310,907.17$             

Collateralization -$                             

Interest Bearing Non-Interest Bearing

Account Name Account Number Funds Account Name Account Number Funds
Depreciation Fund 600443255 61,661.20$           Bond Fund 600443204 -$                                 
Clearing Account 600012733 18,544.19$           Booster Checking 600024880 13,888.67$                      

Reserve Fund 600443700 4,629,762.44$      Activity Fund 600025836 331,714.71$                    

MMA C.D. 2100007235 750,000.00$         Lunch Fund 600026360 39,657.66$                      

Building Fund 600731064 236,534.40$         General Fund 600029580 325,600.44$                    

Booster Club 600006539 2,546.94$             Site & Building 600029602 510.00$                           

Depreciation Fund #5 126887 171,534.57$         
Depreciation Fund #3 126888 296,573.73$         6,030,647.43$      General Fund
Depreciation Fund #4 126889 -$                      529,769.50$         Depreciation Fund
Building Fund 126886 120,076.81$         357,121.21$         Special Building Fund
Booster Club 600006498 5,561.05$           331,714.71$         Activity Fund
OHS C.D. 600006873 306,740.36$       39,657.66$           Food Nutritional Fund



Official
2024-2025 % Change 7.308% 6.049% 6.665% 7.014% 6.147% 7.824% 7.234% 7.752% 6.896% 3.797%

Total September October November December January February March April May June
Payroll -$                      327,360.74$        319,816.61$        335,973.45$       324,671.66$       313,631.04$        326,945.73$        325,807.43$        317,691.29$        319,301.60$          323,894.86$        
Bill Roster -$                      13,837.33$          77,263.17$          52,013.05$         58,699.39$         52,811.81$          81,742.47$          43,642.07$          60,197.22$          75,926.54$            139,265.11$        
Adjustments -$                      -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                       -$                     
Total Expenditures -$                      341,198.07$        397,079.78$        387,986.50$       383,371.05$       366,442.85$        408,688.20$        369,449.50$        377,888.51$        395,228.14$          463,159.97$        
YTD Total -$                      341,198.07$        738,277.85$        1,126,264.35$    1,509,635.40$    1,876,078.25$     2,284,766.45$     2,654,215.95$     3,032,104.46$     3,427,332.60$       3,890,492.57$     
Total Receipts -$                      -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                       -$                     

Comparison
Payroll 27,622.50$          20,991.70$          28,796.72$         27,160.02$         19,134.20$          23,351.77$          25,022.88$          20,031.47$          11,595.69$            25,774.82$          
Bill Roster (4,385.84)$          (2,114.48)$           (538.33)$             1,410.96$           (9,434.04)$          33,802.47$          (11,767.84)$         19,064.60$          (8,636.48)$             (104,552.50)$       
Monthly Difference 23,236.66$          42,113.88$          70,372.27$         98,943.25$         108,643.41$        165,797.65$        179,052.69$        218,148.76$        221,107.97$          142,330.29$        
Difference YTD 23,236.66$          42,113.88$          70,372.27$         98,943.25$         108,643.41$        165,797.65$        179,052.69$        218,148.76$        221,107.97$          142,330.29$        
Total Receipts

2023-2024 % Change -0.126% -0.578% -0.30% 0.42% 0.52% 0.72% 1.01% 0.53% 1.40% 4.40%
Total September October November December January February March April May June

Payroll -$                      299,738.24$        298,824.91$        307,176.73$       297,511.64$       294,496.84$        303,593.96$        300,784.55$        297,659.82$        307,705.91$          298,120.04$        
Bill Roster -$                      18,223.17$          79,377.65$          52,551.38$         57,288.43$         62,245.85$          47,940.00$          55,409.91$          41,132.62$          84,563.02$            243,817.61$        
Adjustments -$                      -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                       -$                     
Total Expenditures -$                      317,961.41$        378,202.56$        359,728.11$       354,800.07$       356,742.69$        351,533.96$        356,194.46$        338,792.44$        392,268.93$          541,937.65$        
YTD Total -$                      317,961.41$        696,163.97$        1,055,892.08$    1,410,692.15$    1,767,434.84$     2,118,968.80$     2,475,163.26$     2,813,955.70$     3,206,224.63$       3,748,162.28$     
Total Receipts -$                      -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                       -$                     



Overton Public School
Board Financial Report

Month June Official
Year 2025 Three Year Comparison

Account 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 $  Change % Change

MMA - Reserve 4,244,561.44$      5,332,098.99$       5,686,502.80$           354,403.81$        6.65%

Depreciation Fund 490,398.47$         515,357.21$          529,769.50$              14,412.29$          2.80%

Bond Fund -$                      -$                      -$                          -$                     0.00%

Special Building Fund 233,962.13$         240,060.24$          357,121.21$              117,060.97$        48.76%

Food Nutritional Fund 52,378.00$           70,592.81$           36,189.15$                (34,403.66)$         -48.74%

Activities Fund 312,661.97$         321,398.54$          322,730.32$              1,331.78$            0.41%

Totals 5,333,962.01$      6,479,507.79$       6,932,312.98$           452,805.19$        6.99%

Total Reserve 4,734,959.91$      5,847,456.20$       6,216,272.30$           368,816.10$        6.31%



Overton Public School
Board Financial Report
Two Year Comparison

Updated: 6/2/2025

2023-2024 2024-2025
Date 1-Jun-24 Difference Date 6/2/2025
Depreciation 515,357.21$           14,412.29$           Depreciation 529,769.50$      
MMA/CD 4,839,384.96$        847,117.84$         MMA/CD 5,686,502.80$   
Checking 476,479.78$           (150,879.34)$        Checking 325,600.44$      

Total 5,831,221.95$        ` 710,650.79$         Total 6,541,872.74$   

Current Date 6/2/2025
MMA 4,629,762.44$   
MMA C.D. 750,000.00$      
OHS C.D. 306,740.36$      

Total 5,686,502.80$   
Special Building

600731064 236,534.40$         Current Date 6/2/2025
126886 120,076.81$         Depreciation 61,661.20$        
Checking Accto. 510.00$                Depreciation 171,534.57$      

Total 357,121.21$         Depreciation 296,573.73$      

Total 529,769.50$      



Overton Public School
6/2/2025 Certificate of Deposits

Security First Bank & FirsTier Bank
Fund Summary Amount

Depreciation Fund 469,588.91$                  

District MMA 1,099,559.55$               

Site & Building 118,909.91$                  

Total 1,688,058.37$               

Certificate Number Fund Account Name Time Interest Rate Last Maturity Maturity Date Current Amount
126886 Site & Building Building Fund 1 12 Months 5.5100% 10/19/2023 10/19/2025 118,909.91$                
126887 Depreciation Deprecation #5 12 Months 5.5100% 10/19/2023 10/19/2025 168,867.88$                
126888 Depreciation Deprecation #3 12 Months 5.5100% 10/19/2023 10/19/2025 300,721.03$                
126889 Depreciation Deprecation #4 12 Months 1.0000% 10/19/2020 10/19/2025 -$                             

2100007235 MMA MMA CD 10 Months 5.6600% 6/30/2023 4/30/2025 795,799.58$                
600006873 District MMA OHS CD 12 MONTHS 4.6200% 2/14/2023 2/14/2025 303,759.97$                

Total 1,688,058.37$             



ACTIVITY ACCOUNT 2024-2025
Date Disbursements Receipts Profit/Loss Ending Balance

Aug. 2024 24,165.08$      123,342.17$     99,177.09$             365,149.65$        
Sept. 18,677.19$      27,360.44$       8,683.25$               373,882.40$        
Oct. 37,120.16$      36,082.59$       (1,037.57)$              372,004.84$        
Nov. 28,418.05$      20,308.42$       (8,109.63)$              364,935.21$        
Dec. 31,183.92$      19,763.92$       (11,420.00)$            353,515.21$        
Jan. 15,951.61$      18,760.84$       2,809.23$               356,324.44$        
Feb. 17,851.60$      16,032.42$       (1,819.18)$              354,505.26$        
March 22,613.28$      10,061.87$       (12,551.41)$            341,953.85$        
April 24,030.02$      12,125.23$       (11,904.79)$            330,049.06$        
May 21,577.66$      14,248.92$       (7,328.74)$              322,730.32$        
June -$                 -$                  -$                        -$                    
July -$                 -$                  -$                        -$                    
Aug-23 -$                 -$                  -$                        -$                    
Fiscal Year 217,423.49$    174,744.65$     (42,678.84)$            
School Year 241,588.57$    298,086.82$     56,498.25$             







Overton Public Schools Invoice Listing - Summary Page: 1 

05/30/2025 1 :24 PM User ID: DKJ 

Vendor ID Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Check Date Checking Account ID Check Number CC: Invoice Amount 

CORDJEN CORDES, JENNIFER 5-20-25 OM-Preschool Supplies 05/20/2025 05/20/2025 1 30609 476.21 

EILEMEL EILERS, MELISSA 5-6-25 OM-Elementary Supplies 05/06/2025 05/06/2025 1 30584 10.67 

OVERTON1 OVERTON 1 STOP Stmnt 1165 DM-Gas 05/21/2025 05/22/2025 1 30611 358.00 

PIONVIL PIONEER VILLAGE 5-7-25 DM-Third Grade Field Trip 05/06/2025 05/06/2025 1 30585 48.75 

USBANK US BANK Acct 8922 4/25 DM- Transportation 05/22/2025 05/22/2025 1 30610 150.60 

Report Total: 1,044.23 



9/1/2009

779

780

781

782

783

784

785

786

787

788

789

790

791

792

793

794

795

796

797

798

799

A B C D E F G H I

Food Program 2024-2025
Date Lunch Meals Breakfast Meals Summer Food Disbursements Receipts Profit/Loss Days Served Balance

Aug-24 2969 711 0 17,970.83$          28,637.63$       10,666.80$       17 77,416.83$         

Sept. 2919 747 0 27,360.44$          18,677.69$       (8,682.75)$        18 70,360.44$         

Oct. 3570 729 0 21,683.23$          8,510.00$         (13,173.23)$      21 57,022.75$         

Nov. 2593 545 0 21,239.06$          26,055.34$       4,816.28$         15 61,239.06$         

Dec. 2358 553 0 17,854.02$          13,264.39$       (4,589.63)$        15 58,299.40$         

Jan. 3182 654 0 16,197.82$          14,180.80$       (2,017.02)$        19 55,282.38$         

Feb. 2766 550 0 21,899.52$          17,649.36$       (4,250.16)$        14 51,032.22$         

March 2961 654 0 16,937.00$          14,594.75$       (2,342.25)$        18 48,689.07$         

April 3155 671 0 21,618.05$          15,689.24$       (5,928.81)$        19 42,760.26$         

May 2086 478 0 21,269.15$          14,698.59$       (6,570.56)$        14 36,189.15$         

June 0 0 0 -$                     -$                 -$                  0 -$                   

July 0 0 0 -$                     -$                 -$                  0 -$                   

Aug-20 0 0 -$                     -$                 -$                  0 -$                   

Fiscal Year 0 0 186,058.29$        143,320.16$     (32,071.33)$      0 -$                   

School Year 204,029.12$        171,957.79$     (32,071.33)$      0 -$                   

Totals 28559 6292 0 170.00

All Meals 34851







2024-2025
Free Lunch Reduced Lunch Full Pay Lunch Free Breakfast Reduced Breakfast Full Pay Breakfast Totals

July 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
June 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
May 702 304 1080 274 93 111 2564
April 1056 461 1638 368 138 165 3826
March 950 436 1575 364 116 174 3615
February 905 439 1422 286 116 148 3316
January 987 545 1650 334 167 153 3836
December 699 446 1213 250 170 133 2911
November 748 494 1351 235 193 117 3138  
October 1004 714 1852 323 265 141 4299
September 851 591 1477 278 236 233 3666
August 989 571 1409 293 199 219 3680
Totals 8891 5001 14667 3005 1693 1594 34851

2023-2024 Summer
Free Lunch Reduced Lunch Full Pay Lunch Free Breakfast Reduced Breakfast Full Pay Breakfast Totals

July 1088 0 1050 0 0 2138
June 1290 0 0 1490 0 0 2780
May 836 242 912 255 82 111 2438
April 1446 492 1725 570 213 420 4866
March 1265 421 1560 518 185 390 4339
February 1308 420 1610 514 196 374 4422
January 1378 420 1596 517 184 352 4447
December 1185 347 1450 465 156 290 3893
November 1224 50 1455 486 218 401 3834
October 1657 478 1903 731 268 472 5509
September 1451 533 1881 790 249 569 5473
August 1251 384 1440 470 153 264 3962
Totals 13001 3545 14620 5061 1822 3532 40745

Comparison
Month Free Lunch Reduced Lunch Full Pay Lunch Free Breakfast Reduced Breakfast Full Pay Breakfast
July
June
May
April 0 0 0 0 0 0
March -315 0 0 -154 0 0
February -403 0 0 -228 0 0
January -391 0 0 -183 0 0
December -486 0 0 -215 0 0
November -476 0 0 -251 0 0
October -653 0 0 #REF! 0 0
September -600 58 -404 -512 -13 -336
August -262 187 -31 -177 46 -45
Totals -3586 245 -435 #REF! 33 -381

Category Meal Difference Reimbursement Rate Total
Free Lunch -3586 3.53$                                 (12,658.58)$          #REF!
Reduced Lunch 245 3.13$                                 766.85$                 #REF!
Free Breakfast #REF! 2.26$                                 #REF!
Reduced Breakfast 33 1.96$                                 64.68$                   
Full Pay Lunch -435 0.35$                                 (152.25)$                
Full Pay Breakfast -381 0.32$                                 (121.92)$                

#REF!









2025  

JANUARY 

LEGISLATIVE ISSUES CONFERENCE 
January 26-27, 2025 - Lincoln 

Learn More Now 

FEBRUARY 

SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER WEEK IN NEBRASKA 
January 26 to February 1, 2025 

PRESIDENT'S RETREAT 
February 16-17, 2025 - Kearney 

MARCH 

NAEP STATE CONVENTION 
March 19-20, 2025 - Kearney 

OPEN MEETINGS LAW WORKSHOPS 
March 25 - Gering 

March 26 - Kearney 
March 31 - Norfolk 

April 1 - Lincoln 

APRIL 

OPEN MEETINGS LAW WORKSHOPS 
April 1 - Lincoln 

JUNE 

NASB MEMBER GOLF OUTING 
June 11, 2025 - Kearney Country Club 

 

SCHOOL LEADERS & LAW CONFERENCE 
June 11-12, 2025 - Kearney 



JULY 

LEADERSHIP WORKSHOPS 
July 28 - Gering 

July 29 - Kearney 
July 30 - Omaha 

ALICAP SUMMER WORKSHOPS 
TBD 

AUGUST & SEPTEMBER 

AREA MEMBERSHIP MEETINGS  
August 19 - Valentine 

August 20 - Gering 
August 21 - Kearney 

August 26 - York 
August 27 - Norfolk 

September 3 - North Platte 
September 9 - Omaha 

September 10 - Nebraska City 
September 24 - Fremont 

 

OCTOBER 

LABOR RELATIONS CONFERENCE 
October 1-2, 2025 - Lincoln 

NOVEMBER 

2025 STATE EDUCATION CONFERENCE  
November 19-21, 2025 - Omaha 

DECEMBER 

NEW BOARD MEMBER WORKSHOP 
December 3, 2025 - Kearney 

 


	June Board Meeting Notice
	Agenda
	Agenda Comments
	Comments
	Minutes Pages 1-3
	May Board Meeting Minutes
	Bill Roster
	Minutes Matter Pending
	Hiland Dairy Foods
	KSB Board Policies Update
	2025 Board Policy Updates
	1002 Creation, Amendment and Distribution of Policies (2)
	2006 Complaint Procedure (1)
	3) The action or solution which the complainant seeks.
	d) Respond to the complainant. If the complaint involves discrimination or harassment, the response shall be in writing and shall be submitted within 180 calendar days after the administrator or coordinator receives the complaint.
	4. If either the complainant or the respondent is not satisfied with the decision, he or she may appeal the decision to the superintendent.  The superintendent may assign a qualified designee to hear any appeal.
	a) The appeal must be in writing.
	c) For complaints addressed through other applicable procedures that do not include a separate investigatory process, the superintendent will investigate as he or she deems appropriate.
	d) The superintendent will prepare a written decision and provide it to the complainant and any other person entitled by law to receive the appeal decision. For complaints involving discrimination or harassment, the superintendent shall submit the dec...
	5. The board’s role is to set policy, establish and implement a budget, and evaluate the superintendent.  The board does not manage the daily operations of the school district entrusted to its administration unless required by law or policy.  Because ...
	a) When the complaint is about a board policy, not implementation of the policy;
	b) When the complaint involves the budget or school expenditures that have been or must be approved by the board; or
	c) When the board is required by law, policy, or contract to hear a complaint or appeal.
	If a complaint involves those limited grounds and a party is not satisfied with the superintendent’s decision regarding the complaint or appeal, he or she may appeal the decision to the board.
	d) This appeal must be in writing.
	f) This policy allows, but does not require the board to receive statements from interested parties and witnesses relevant to the complaint or appeal. However, all matters involving discrimination or harassment allegations against the superintendent s...
	g) The board president will notify the complainant and any other person legally required to receive the decision in writing of the decision. If the complaint involves discrimination or harassment allegations against the Superintendent, the board presi...
	h) There is no appeal from any decision of the board unless authorized by law.
	6. Formal complaints about the superintendent shall be filed with the president of the board.  However, complaints about the superintendent do not include disagreement with the superintendent’s decision on appeal based on a complaint of discrimination...
	d) Respond to the complainant or appeal. If the complaint or appeal involves discrimination or harassment, the response shall be in writing and shall be submitted within 180 calendar days after the president received the complaint.
	e) Appoint or contract with other individuals qualified to assist the board through this process or any other applicable procedure used to address allegations against the superintendent.

	2008 Meetings (9)
	Meetings

	3003 Bidding for Construction, Remodeling, Repair, or Site Improvement
	I. Applicability of this policy.
	Construction and contracts undertaken with federal funds, whether those funds are derived directly from the federal government (e.g. award of a federal grant) or are derived by pass-through awards from the Nebraska Department of Education (e.g. specia...
	This policy applies to all other purchases and contracts made by the school district for construction, remodeling, repair and other site improvements.
	II. Projects with an Estimated Cost of Less than $109,000
	A. The school district will solicit quotes and/or estimates for all projects with an estimated cost of less than $109,000.
	B. Prior to solicitation of the quotes and/or estimates, the superintendent will determine whether the district will accept oral submissions.
	C. Quotes and/or estimates may be solicited by the superintendent or his/her designee without board action.
	D. The terms of any construction project undertaken pursuant to this policy will be memorialized in a written contract which has been  reviewed by the district’s legal counsel and approved by the board.
	E. The district may use a Nebraska state-wide cooperative purchasing program in lieu of obtaining quotes or bids under this policy to the extent such a bid or quote is not otherwise independently required by law.
	F. Nothing in this subsection prohibits or requires the use of the formal bidding procedures.  If the district is going to solicit formal bids for projects of less than $109,000 they must follow the formal procedures outlined in this policy.

	III. Formal Bidding for Major Purchases and Construction
	A. Pursuant to section 73-106 of the Nebraska statutes, the board will advertise for bids when the contemplated expenditure of the project exceeds $109,000 for the construction, remodeling or repair of a school-owned building or for site improvement.
	B. In projects that involve professional engineering or architecture, the board will have a registered professional engineer or architect prepare the plans, specifications, and estimates when the anticipated cost of the project exceeds $144,000.
	C. Advertising for Bids
	1. The superintendent or designee will arrange to advertise for bids under this section by publishing notice in any newspaper of general circulation within the school district at least 7 calendar days prior to the date on which bids are due.
	2. Nothing in this policy shall prevent the superintendent or designee from advertising in additional media outlets or for a longer period of time.
	D. Bid Documents
	1. The bid documents shall identify the day upon which the bids shall be returned, received or opened and shall identify the hour at which the bids will close or be received or opened.
	2. The invitation for bids will be sufficiently certain and specific, will include any specifications and pertinent attachments, and will define the items or services in order to allow the bidder to properly respond.
	3. The bid documents shall also provide that such bids shall be opened simultaneously in the presence of the bidders or their representatives.
	4. Bids received after the date and time specified in the bid documents shall be returned to the bidder unopened.
	5. If bids are being opened on more than one contract, the board, in its discretion, may award each contract as the bids are opened.
	6. Sealed bids will be opened in a place and at the specific time stated in the bid form.  Bidders shall be notified of the opening and invited to be present.
	7. The board shall have discretion in determining which bidders are responsible and responsive and shall award the contract to the lowest, responsible, and responsive bidder whose bid meets the bid specifications.
	E. Any or all bids may be rejected if there is a sound documented reason
	F. The terms of any construction project undertaken pursuant to this policy will be memorialized in a written contract which has been  reviewed by the district’s legal counsel and approved by the board.



	3004.1 Fiscal Management for Purchasing and Procurement Using Federal Funds (3)
	I. Applicability of Policy
	II.   Procurement System
	A. Responsibility for Purchasing
	B. Methods of Purchasing
	1. Purchases up to $10,000 (Micro-Purchases)
	2. Purchases between $10,000 and $250,000 (Simplified Acquisition Procedures)
	3. Purchases Over $250,000
	a) Sealed Bids (Formal Advertising)
	b) Contract/Price Analysis

	4. Noncompetitive Proposals (Sole Sourcing)
	a) Procurement by noncompetitive proposals is procurement through solicitation of a proposal from only one source and may be used only when one or more of the following circumstances apply:
	1) The procurement transaction can only be fulfilled by a single source;
	2) The public exigency or emergency for the requirement will not permit a delay resulting from providing public notice of a competitive solicitation;
	3) The federal awarding agency or pass-through entity expressly authorizes written approval of noncompetitive proposals in response to a written request from the District; or
	4) After solicitation of a number of sources, competition is determined inadequate.

	b) Noncompetitive proposals may only be solicited with the approval of the superintendent or the board.  Sufficient and appropriate documentation that justifies the sole sourcing decision must be maintained by the superintendent or designee.
	c) A cost or price analysis will be performed for noncompetitive proposals when the price exceeds $250,000.

	5. Competitive Proposals.
	a) The technique of competitive proposals is normally conducted with more than one source submitting an offer, and either a fixed price or cost-reimbursement type contract is awarded. It is generally used when conditions are not appropriate for the us...
	1) Requests for proposals must be publicized and identify all evaluation factors and their relative importance. Any response to publicized requests for proposals must be considered;
	2) Proposals must be solicited from an adequate number of qualified sources; and
	3) Contracts must be awarded to the responsible firm whose proposal is most advantageous to the program, with price and other factors considered.

	b) The District may use competitive proposal procedures for qualifications-based procurement of architectural/engineering (A/E) professional services whereby competitors' qualifications are evaluated and the most qualified competitor is selected, subj...
	c) The District may select a proposal that offers the best value and that is based upon the proposer’s responsiveness to the proposal, experience, reputation, staff qualifications, ability and capacity to carry on the work, price, honesty, integrity, ...


	C. Use of Purchase (Debit & Credit) Cards
	D. Federal Procurement System Standards
	E. Debarment and Suspension
	F. Settlements of Issues Arising Out of Procurements

	III. Conflict of Interest and Code of Conduct
	A. Board and staff member conflicts of interest are governed by the district’s conflict of interest policies.
	B. Purchases covered by this policy are subject to the following additional provisions.
	1. Employees, officers, and agents engaged in the selection, award, and/or administration of district contracts which are prohibited from engaging in such actions if a real or apparent conflict of interest is present.
	2. Such a conflict of interest would arise when the employee, officer, or agent, any member of his or her immediate family, his or her partner, or an organization which employs or is about to employ any of the parties indicated herein, has a financial...
	3. The board may determine at its discretion that a financial interest is not substantial enough to give rise to a conflict of interest.

	C. Favors and Gifts
	D. Enforcement

	IV. Property Management Systems
	A. Property Classifications
	1. Equipment means tangible personal property (including information technology systems) having a useful life of more than one year and a per-unit acquisition cost that equals or exceeds the lesser of the capitalization level established by the Distri...
	2. Supplies means all tangible personal property other than those described in §200.33 Equipment.  A computing device is a supply if the acquisition cost is less than the lesser of the capitalization level established by the District for financial sta...
	3. Computing Devices means machines that acquire, store, analyze, process, and publish data and other information electronically, including accessories (or “peripherals”) for printing, transmitting and receiving, or storing electronic information.  2 ...
	4. Capital Assets means tangible or intangible assets used in operations having a useful life of more than one year which are capitalized in accordance with GAAP.  Capital assets include:
	a) Land, buildings (facilities), equipment, and intellectual property (including software) whether acquired by purchase, construction, manufacture, lease-purchase, exchange, or through capital leases; and
	b) Additions, improvements, modifications, replacements, rearrangements, reinstallations, renovations or alterations to capital assets that materially increase their value or useful life (not ordinary repairs and maintenance).  2 C.F.R. §200.12.


	B. Inventory Procedure
	C. Inventory Records
	1. Serial number;
	2. District identification number;
	3. Manufacturer;
	4. Model;
	5. Date tagged and individual who tagged it;
	6. Source of funding for the property;
	7. Who holds title;
	8. Acquisition date and cost of the property;
	9. Percentage of federal participation in the project costs for the federal award under which the property was acquired;
	10. Location, use and condition of the property; and
	11. Any ultimate disposition data including the date of disposal and sale price of the property.

	D. Physical Inventory
	1. A physical inventory of the property must be taken and the results reconciled with the property records at least once every two years.
	2. The Superintendent or his/her designee will ensure that the physical inventory is performed.  The physical inventory will generally occur during the months of June or July, but may be conducted during other time periods with the approval of the sup...

	E. Maintenance
	F. Lost or Stolen Items
	G. Use of Equipment
	H. Disposal of Equipment
	I. Equipment Retention
	J. Equipment and Capital Expenditures
	K. Depreciation
	L. Reporting and Recording Federal Property Interest
	The district will comply with federal interest reporting and submit annual reports, if required, regarding a real property interest due to a renovation, major remodeling, construction, or real property project funded by federal grant funds.

	V. Financial Management
	A. Identification
	B. Financial Reporting
	C.  Accounting Records
	D. Internal Controls
	E. Budget Control
	F. Payment Methods
	G. Allowability of Costs
	H. Use of Program Income – Deduction, Addition, or Cost Sharing or Matching
	I. Cost Sharing or Matching
	J. Documentation of Personnel Expenses

	VI. Written Compensation Policies
	A. Time and Effort Standards
	B. Time and Effort Procedures
	C. Fringe Benefits
	D. Leave
	E. Unexpected or Extraordinary Circumstances
	F. Documentation for Personnel Expenses

	VII. Other Contract Matters.
	A. Required Terms
	B. Contracting with Certain Vendors
	C. Record Keeping
	1. Record Retention
	a) The District maintains all records that fully show (1) the amount of funds under the grant or subgrant; (2) how the subgrantee uses those funds; (3) the total cost of each project; (4) the share of the total cost of each project provided from other...
	b) The U.S. Department of Education is authorized to recover any federal funds misspent within 5 years before the receipt of a program determination letter.  34 C.F.R. § 81.31(c).  Schedule 10 (Local School Districts) and Schedule 24 (Local Agencies G...
	c) Records will be destroyed in compliance with Schedule 10, Schedule 24, and State law.  This includes the completion of a Records Disposition Report.

	2. Maintenance of Procurement Records
	a) The District must maintain records sufficient to detail the history of all procurements.  These records will include, but are not necessarily limited to the following: rationale for the method of procurement, selection of contract type, contractor ...
	b) Retention of procurement records shall be in accordance with applicable law and Board policy.


	D. Privacy


	3023 Record Management and Retention
	3026 Handbooks
	3036 Purchasing (Credit) Card Program (8)
	3043 Design-Build Contracts
	3047 Data Breach Response
	3057 Title IX - FULL
	3057 Title IX - SLIM
	4051 Staff and District Social Media Use
	4057 Superintendent Evaluation
	4059 Behavioral and Mental Health Training (1)
	5001 Compulsory Attendance and Excessive Absenteeism - TRADITIONAL APPROACH (1)
	5015 Protection of Pupil Rights
	5016 Student Records
	5018 Parent Involvement In Education Practices
	5031 Student Appearance
	6025 Student Cell Phone and Other Electronic Devices
	6034 Concussion Awareness
	6044 Participation and Assignment of Athletic Teams
	6045 Behavioral Intervention

	Alicap Inspection Report
	Fund Securities
	Payroll and Bill Roster
	Three Year Comparison
	Two Year Comparison
	CD Summary
	Activity Account Financial Summary
	Activity Fund Balance Report
	Activity Account Check Register
	Clearing Account Summary
	Food Program Meal and Financial Summary
	Food Program Finanical Report
	Food Program Check Register
	Quitclaim Deed 1017
	Quitclaim Deed 1336
	Village Ordinance 1326
	NASB Yearly Calendar



